

Volume 26, Number 2 (2007)

THE ALIGARH BULLETIN OF MATHEMATICS

THE ALIGARH BULLETIN OF MATHEMATICS

Editorial Board

Chief Editor Huzoor H. Khan huzoorhkhan@yahoo.com

Managing Editor Zafar Ahsan zafar.ahsan@rediffmail.com

S.S. Alam, Kharagpur, India alam@maths.iitkgp.ernet.in

Q.H. Ansari, Aligarh, India qhansari@kfupm.edu.sa

P.K.Banerji, Jodhpur, India banerjipk@yahoo.com

Afzal Beg, Aligarh, India abegamu@yahho.co.in

J. Bicak, Czech Republic bicak@mbox.troja.mff.cuni.cz

Huseyin Bor, Turkey bor@erciyes.edu.tr

M. Bresar, Slovania bresar@univ-mb.si

Luisa Carini, Italy lcarini@dipmat.unime.it

U.C. De, Kalyani, India uc de@yahoo.com

T.R. Gulati, Roorkee, India trgmaiitr@rediffmail.com

Claus Haetinger, Brazil chaet@univates.br

Mohd. Imdad, Aligarh, India mhimdad@yahoo.co.in

M.Z. Khan, Aligarh, India mz_alig@yahoo.com

Sunder Lal, Agra, India sunder_lal2@rediffmail.com

E. Malkowsky, Yogoslavia eberhard.malkowsky@math.uni-giessen.de Managing Editor M. Ashraf mashraf80@hotmail.com

Members

H. Marubayashi, Japan marubaya@naruto-u.ac.jp

Fazal Mehdi, Aligarh, India fazal_mehdi@rediffmail.com

Mursaleen, Aligarh, India mursaleen@gmail.com

S. Natesan, Guwahati, India natesan@iitg.ernet.in

P. Panigrahi, Kharagpur, India pratima@maths.iitkgp.ernet.in

R.P. Pant, Nainital, India pant_rp@rediffmail.com

S. Parvathi, Chennai, India sparvathi@hotmail.com

V. Popa, Romania vpopa@ub.ro

S.M. Tariq Rizvi, U.S.A. rizvi.1@osu.edu

Ekrem Savas, Turkey ekremsavas@yahoo.com

H.G. Sharma, Roorkee, India hgsfdma@iitr.ernet.in

Suthep Suantai, Thailand scnti005@chiangmai.ac.th

R.Tikekar, Vallabh Vidyanagar, India tikekar@gmail.com

Jen-Chih Yao, Taiwan yaojc@math.nsysu.edu.tw

S.M.A. Zaidi, Aligarh, India zaidimath@rediffmail.com

Contents

Numerical Solutions of an Unsteady Free Convective Oscillatory Flow through a Porous Medium V. Ambethkar and Lajpat Rai	1-21
A Semi-Symmetric Metric ϕ -Connection in a Normal Contact Lorentzian Manifold	
Bhagwat Prasad and Ramashrai Singh Yadav	23-27
Coincidence points for non-self maps Abdul Latif and Saleh A. Al-Mezel	29-32
Left Centralizer Traces, Generalized Biderivations Left Bimultipliers, and Generalized Jordan Biderivatives N.M. Muthana	33-45
$[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^L$ Asymptotically Statistical Equivalent Sequences Selma Altundağ and Metin Başarir	47-53
Generalized CR-submanifolds of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold Rajendra Prasad, Amit Kumar Rai and M.M. Tripathi	55-69
On pseudo 2-recurrent spaces <i>B.K. De</i>	71-75
Some Approximation Theorems Via Statistical Summability $(C, 1)$ Abdullah Alotaibi	77-81
Some Problems on Weakly Duo Rings M.M. AA-Mosa Al-Shomrani and F. Aly	83-87

The Aligarh Bull. of Maths. Volume 26, No. 2, 2007

NUMERICAL SOLUTIONS OF AN UNSTEADY FREE CONVECTIVE OSCILLATORY FLOW THROUGH A POROUS MEDIUM

*V. Ambethkar and **Lajpat Rai

*Department of Mathematics, University of Delhi, Delhi - 110007, India E-mail: ambethkar_v@yahoo.co.inamit

**Department of Mathematics, Sreenidhi Institute of Science & Technology Yamnampet, Ghatkesar, RangaReddy Dt., Andhra Pradesh, India

(Received August 16, 2005, Revised September 11, 2006)

Abstract. The objective of this work is to study the effects of unsteady two-dimensional free convective oscillatory flow during the motion of a viscous incompressible fluid through a highly porous medium by using finite difference technique. The temperature profiles for the case of air for cooling of the fluid have been found. Its numerical values have been tabulated. Numerical solutions for velocity profiles for cooling of the fluid have been tabulated and plotted graphically. The rate of heat transfer is studied for the case of turbulent flow. Numerical solutions obtained from this study have been compared with available exact solutions in the literature. It is found that they are in good agreement.

1. Introduction

The study of the effect of convection on the flow and heat transfer processes through a porous medium plays an important role in agricultural engineering and throws some light on the influence of environment like temperature and pressure on the germination of seeds. It is also of interest in petroleum industry in extracting pure petrol from the crude. The study of flow through porous media is also of importance in soil physics and hydrogeology. Studies associated with such flows through a porous media have been based on the Darcy's empirical equation [2]

$$q_1 = \frac{\text{constant}}{\mu} \nabla_p \tag{1}$$

where q_1 is the mean filter velocity; μ is the viscosity of the fluid; ∇_p is the pressure gradient. Later Muskat [5] has shown that the constant in the above equation must depend on the permeability of the porous material and showed that

$$q_1 = \frac{K}{\mu} \nabla_p \tag{2}$$

where K is the permeability of the porous material and has the dimensions of length squared. This equation has been used ever since to study the dynamic behavior of flow through porous media. Following Yamamoto and Iwamura [10], we regard the porous medium as an assemblage of small identical spherical particles fixed in space and the eqn (2) for incompressible fluid and unsteady flow, takes the form

$$\frac{\partial q_1}{\partial t} + (q_1, \nabla)_{q_1} = -\frac{1}{\rho} \nabla_p - \frac{\nu}{k_1} q_1 + \nu \nabla^2 q - g \tag{3}$$

where ν is the kinematic viscosity, t is the time and g is the acceleration due to gravity. But the effects of free convection flow through a porous medium play an important role in agricultural engineering, petroleum

Keywords and phrases : Permeability parameter, Grashoff number, Heat transfer, Oscillatory flow, Prandtl number. AMS Subject Classification : 76E06, 76M20, 76R10.

industry and heat transfer [9]. For this recently Raptis et al [6] studied the steady free convection flow through a porous medium bounded by an infinite vertical plate. Unsteady free convection flow through porous medium bounded by an infinite vertical plate was investigated by Raptis[7]. In this problem, infinite vertical porous plates with constant suction velocity by taking into account both viscous and Darcy's resistance terms are considered. Also in this problem, the temperature of the plate oscillates with time about a constant non- zero mean value, while the temperature away from the plate is constant. Oscillatory flow is always important for it has many practical applications in geothermal, geophysics and technology. Raptis and Perdikis [8] have studied the oscillating flow through a porous medium by the presence of free convective flow, MHD unsteady free convective flow past a vertical porous plate has been studied by Helmy [3]. Unsteady MHD convective heat transfer past a semi infinite vertical porous moving plate with variable suction has been studied by Kim[4].

The purpose of this work is to study the effects of unsteady two-dimensional free convective flow during the motion of a viscous incompressible fluid through a highly porous medium by using finite difference technique. The temperature profiles for the case of air for cooling of the fluid have been found. Its numerical values have been tabulated. Numerical solution for velocity profiles for cooling of the fluid have been tabulated and plotted graphically. Numerical solutions have been compared with available exact solutions in the literature. They are found to be in good agreement.

2. Mathematical Formulation

We consider the unsteady two- dimensional flow through a highly porous medium which is bounded by a vertical infinite plane surface. We assume that the fluid is viscous and incompressible, the surface absorbs the fluid with a constant velocity and the velocity of the fluid far away from the surface vibrates about a mean value with direction parallel to the x_1 – axis. All the fluid properties are assumed constant except that the influence of the density variation with temperature is considered only in the body force term.

The x_1 – axis is taken along the plane surface with direction opposite the direction of the gravity and the y_1 – axis is taken to be normal to the surface (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Physical Model and Coordinate System of the Problem

Numerical Solutions of an Unsteady Free Convective Oscillatory Flow through a Porous Medium

The equations, which govern the problem when the velocity and the temperature are functions of y1 and the time t1, are:

Continuity equation : $\frac{\partial v_1}{\partial y_1} = 0$ (4)

Momentum equation :
$$\rho\left(\frac{\partial u_1}{\partial t_1} + v_1 \frac{\partial u_1}{\partial y_1}\right) = -\frac{\partial p_1}{\partial x_1} - \rho g + \mu \frac{\partial^2 u_1}{\partial y_1^2} - \frac{\mu}{\kappa_1} u_1$$
(5)

Energy equation : $\frac{\partial T_1}{\partial t_1} + v_1 \frac{\partial T_1}{\partial y_1} = \frac{k}{\rho c_p} \frac{\partial^2 T_1}{\partial y_1^2}$ (6)

Boundary conditions :

$$y_{1} = 0, \quad u_{1} = 0,$$

$$v_{1} = -v_{0} = \text{const.}, \quad T_{1} = T_{1w}.$$

$$y_{1} \rightarrow \infty, \quad u_{1} \rightarrow U_{\infty} = U(1 + \varepsilon e^{i\omega_{1}t_{1}}),$$

$$T_{1} \rightarrow T_{1}.$$

$$(7)$$

where u_1 and v_1 being the components of the velocity which are parallel to the x_1 and y_1 axes, respectively, ρ , the density of the fluid, p_1 the pressure, g, the acceleration due to gravity, μ , the viscosity, κ_1 , the permeability of the porous medium, T_1 , the temperature of the fluid, T_{1w} , the temperature of the surface, $T_{1\infty}$, the temperature of the fluid far away from the surface, k, the thermal conductivity of the fluid, c_p , the specific heat of the fluid at constant pressure, U, a constant velocity, ω_1 , the frequency of vibration of the fluid and ε ($\varepsilon < 1$), a constant quantity.

Equation (5), for the free stream, is reduced to

$$\rho \frac{dU_{\infty}}{dt_1} = -\frac{\partial p_1}{\partial x_1} - \rho_{\infty}g - \frac{\mu}{\kappa_1}U_{\infty}$$
(8)

On eliminating $\frac{\partial p_1}{\partial x_1}$ between (5) and (8) we have

$$\rho\left(\frac{\partial u_1}{\partial t_1} + v_1 \frac{\partial u_1}{\partial y_1}\right) = \rho \frac{dU_{\infty}}{dt_1} + g(\rho_{\infty} - \rho) + \mu \frac{\partial^2 u_1}{\partial y_1^2} + \frac{\mu}{\kappa_1} (U_{\infty} - u_1)$$

This equation is reduced to

V. Ambethkar and Lajpat Rai

(11)

$$\rho\left(\frac{\partial u_1}{\partial t_1} + v_1 \frac{\partial u_1}{\partial y_1}\right) = \rho \frac{dU_{\infty}}{dt_1} + g\beta\rho(T_1 - T_{1\infty}) + \mu \frac{\partial^2 u_1}{\partial y_1^2} + \frac{\mu}{\kappa_1} \left(U_{\infty} - u_1\right)$$
(9)

by using the constitutive equation

$$\rho_{\infty} - \rho = \beta \rho (T_1 - T_{1_{\infty}})$$

where β is the volumetric coefficient of thermal expansion and ρ_{∞} the density of the fluid far away the surface. Since the surface absorbs the fluid with a constant velocity, the continuity equation (4) gives

 $v_1 = -v_0 = \text{constant}$

where the negative sign indicates that the suction is towards the plate. Equation (9) then becomes

$$\left(\frac{\partial u_1}{\partial t_1} - v_0 \frac{\partial u_1}{\partial y_1}\right) = \frac{dU_{\infty}}{dt_1} + g\beta(T_1 - T_{1\infty}) + v \frac{\partial^2 u_1}{\partial y_1^2} + \frac{v}{\kappa_1}(U_{\infty} - u_1)$$
(10)

where the second term on RHS of the above equation denotes buoyancy effects and the fourth term is the bulk matrix linear resistance, i.e., Darcy term.

We introduce the non-dimensional quantities

$$u = \frac{u_1}{U}, t = \frac{t_1 v_0^2}{v}, y = \frac{y_1 v_0}{v}, U^* = \frac{U_\infty}{U},$$

$$w = \frac{v \omega_1}{v_0^2}, T = \frac{T_1 - T_{1\infty}}{T_{1w} - T_{1\infty}},$$

$$P_r = \frac{\rho v c_p}{k} \quad \text{(Prandtl number)}$$

$$G_r = \frac{v g \beta (T_{1w} - T_{1w})}{U v_0^2} \quad \text{(Grashoff number)}$$

$$\kappa = \frac{v_0^2}{v^2} \kappa_1 \quad \text{(Permeability parameter)}$$

where v is the kinematic viscosity.

With the help of the above non-dimensional variables, equations (10) and (6) are reduced to nondimensional equations

$$\left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}\right) = \frac{dU^*}{dt} + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2} + \frac{1}{\kappa_1} \left(U^* - u\right) + G_r T$$
(12)

Numerical Solutions of an Unsteady Free Convective Oscillatory Flow through a Porous Medium

T 1

$$P_r \left(\frac{\partial T}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial T}{\partial y}\right) = \frac{\partial^2 T}{\partial y^2}$$
(13)

5

by taking into account from (7) that $U_{\infty} = U(1 + \varepsilon e^{i\omega_1 t_1})$.

The conditions (7) are reduced to:

For

$$y = 0, \quad u = 0, \quad I = I$$

$$(14)$$

$$y \to \infty, \quad u \to 1 + \varepsilon e^{i\omega t}, \quad T \to 0$$

when

On substituting the value of U^* from the non-dimensional quantities into equation (12), we obtained, after taking the real part

$$\left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}\right) = -\varepsilon\omega\sin\varepsilon t + \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2} + \frac{1}{\kappa}\left(1 + \varepsilon\cos\omega t - u\right) + G_r T$$
(15)

On rearranging the terms of the above equation, we obtain

$$\left(\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial u}{\partial y}\right) = \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2} - \frac{u}{K} + G_r T + \frac{1}{\kappa} \left(1 + \varepsilon \cos \omega t\right) - \varepsilon \omega \sin \varepsilon t \tag{16}$$

$$P_r\left(\frac{\partial T}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial T}{\partial y}\right) = \frac{\partial^2 T}{\partial y^2}$$
(17)

where ω is the frequency parameter, κ , is the permeability parameter and ε is very small quantity.

Initial conditions :

As
$$t \to 0$$
, $u \to 1 + \varepsilon$
 $y \to 0$, $u = 0$, $T = 1$
 $y \to \infty$, $u \to 1 + (1 + \varepsilon \cos \omega t)$

$$(18)$$

when

3. Method of Solution

An implicit finite difference method has been used to solve equations (16) and (17) subject to the conditions given by (18). To obtain the difference equations, the region of the flow is divided into a gird or mesh of lines parallel to y and t axes. Solution of difference equations are obtained at the intersection of these mesh lines called nodes (as in Fig (2)). The values of the dependent variables T and u at the nodal points along the planes y = 0 and t = 0 are given by T(0,t) and u(0,t) and hence are known.





In Figure 2, Δy , Δt are mesh sizes along y and t directions respectively. We wish to find single values at next time level in terms of known values at an earlier time level. A forward difference approximation for the first order partial derivatives of T and u w.r.t. t and y and a central difference approximation for the second order partial derivative of u and T w.r.t. y are used.

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial T}{\partial y} \\ i,j \end{pmatrix}_{i,j} = \frac{T_{i+1,j} - T_{i-1,j} + T_{i+1,j+1} - T_{i-1,j+1}}{4(\Delta y)},$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial u}{\partial y} \\ i,j \end{pmatrix}_{i,j} = \frac{u_{i+1,j} - u_{i-1,j} + u_{i+1,j+1} - u_{i-1,j+1}}{4(\Delta y)},$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial T}{\partial t} \\ i,j \end{pmatrix}_{i,j} = \frac{T_{i,j+1} - T_{i,j}}{\Delta t},$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} \\ i,j \end{pmatrix}_{i,j} = \frac{u_{i,j+1} - u_{i,j}}{\Delta t},$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial^2 T}{\partial y^2} \\ i,j \end{pmatrix}_{i,j} = \frac{T_{i+1,j} + T_{i-1,j} - 2T_{i,j} + T_{i+1,j+1} + T_{i-1,j+1} - 2T_{i,j+1}}{2(\Delta y)^2},$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2} \\ i,j \end{pmatrix}_{i,j} = \frac{u_{i+1,j} + u_{i-1,j} - 2u_{i,j} + u_{i+1,j+1} + u_{i-1,j+1} - 2u_{i,j+1}}{2(\Delta y)^2},$$

7

On substituting the values of $\frac{\partial T}{\partial t}$, $\frac{\partial T}{\partial y}$ and $\frac{\partial^2 T}{\partial y^2}$ from (19) into equation (17) and $\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}$, $\frac{\partial u}{\partial y}$ and $\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial y^2}$, in (16) we get the finite difference approximation of (16) and (17) as

$$\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{4}\frac{\Delta t}{\Delta y}\right)u_{i+1,j+1} - \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{4}\frac{\Delta t}{\Delta y}\right)u_{i-1,j+1} = \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{4}\frac{\Delta t}{\Delta y}\right)u_{i+1,j} + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{4}\frac{\Delta t}{\Delta y}\right)u_{i-1,j} + G_{r}\Delta tT_{i,j} - \frac{1}{\kappa}\left(\Delta t\right)u_{i,j} + \frac{1}{\kappa}\left(1 + \varepsilon\cos\omega t\right) - \varepsilon\omega\sin\omega t$$
(20)

and

$$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 1 & + & \frac{1}{P_{r}} \end{array} \right) T_{i,j+1} + \left(\begin{array}{ccc} \frac{\Delta t}{4 \ \Delta y} - & \frac{1}{2 \ P_{r}} \end{array} \right) T_{i-1,j+1} - \left(\frac{\Delta t}{4 \ \Delta y} + \frac{1}{2P_{r}} \right) T_{i-1,j+1} - \left(\frac{\Delta t}{4 \ \Delta y} + \frac{1}{2P_{r}} \right) T_{i+1,j+1} - \left(\frac{\Delta t}{4 \ \Delta y} + \frac{1}{2P_{r}} \right) T_{i-1,j} + \left(1 - \frac{1}{P_{r}} \right) T_{i,j}$$
(21)

4. Numerical Solutions and their accuracy

To get the numerical solutions of the temperature T and velocity u, we have taken the aid of the computer by developing a code (program) in Mathematica 5.0. The logic of the program comprises 2 modules as follows:

Module 1: main, initially it creates two tables to hold the Numerical Solutions of Temperature and Velocity. We know that all the terms and their coefficients on RHS of eqn. (21) are known values from initial and boundary conditions. At every time step, for different values of 'i', the finite difference approximation of equation (21) gives a linear system of equations.

Then, for j = 0 and i = 1, 2, ..., n-1, equation (21) gives a linear system of (n-1) equations for the (n-1) unknown values of 'T' in the first time row in terms of known initial and boundary values. This module maintains coefficients of this linear system of equations. Now, the flow will be followed up to the Module 2 for solving the system of equations. After then, the numerical solutions so we obtain from Module 2 will be compared to the analytical solutions at every time step level. On making use of the numerical values of 'T' into equation (20), we obtain the numerical values of 'u'.

Module 2: **CNSolve**, It calculates the numerical values at the next time step level. In order to do this, it uses another sub module named, **TriDiagonal**, which solves the tri-diagonal matrix by using Gauss-Elimination method.

In order to assess the validity of our numerical solutions, we compared our numerical solutions for temperature and velocity for the case of suction (r > 0) with the available exact solutions in the literature. Table 1 and Table 2 show comparisons between the numerical values of temperature and velocity for $P_r = 1$ are obtained from the present study and those obtained in [7]. It is clearly seen from these tables that results are in excellent agreement. The corresponding codes (programs) for calculating numerical solutions for temperature and velocity and the comparison between the exact and numerical solutions have been givn. The comparison table 1 and Table 3 have been plotted and shown in Fig 3 and Fig 4. As the accuracy of the numerical solutions are very good, the curves corresponding to exact and numerical solutions are lying very closer.

Code for comparison of temperature

TriDiagonal[a0_,d0_,c0_,b0_]:=

Module $\{a=a0, b=b0, c=c0, d=d0, k, m, n=Length[b0], x\},\$

For $[k=2, k \le n, k++,$

 $d_{[[k]]} = d_{[[k]]} - (a_{[[k-1]]} / d_{[[k-1]]}) * c_{[[k-1]]};$

 $b_{[[k]]} = b_{[[k]]} - (a_{[[k-1]]} / d_{[[k-1]]}) * b_{[[k-1]]};];$

x=Table[0, {n}]; $x_{[n]} = b_{[n]} / d_{[n]};$

For[k=n-1; $1 \le k$; k--, $X_{[[k]]} = (b_{[[k]]} - c_{[[k]]} * x_{[[k+1]]}) / d_{[[k]]}$;];

Return [x];];

Numerical Solutions of an Unsteady Free Convective Oscillatory Flow through a Porous Medium

```
\begin{aligned} \text{CNsolve}[n\_,m\_] &:= \\ \text{Module}[\{b,i,j\}, \\ b=\text{Table}[0,\{n\}]; \\ \text{For}[j=2,j\leq m,j++, \ b_{[[1]]} = g_1[j]; \ b_{[[n]]} = g_2[j]; \\ \text{For}[i=2, i \leq n-1, i++, \\ b_{[[i]]} = (0.5 - (k/(4^*h)))^* u_{[[i-1,j-1]]} + u_{[[i,j-1]]} + (0.5 + (k/(4^*h)))^* u_{[[i+1,j-1]]} + \\ & (k/(4^*h))^* (u_{[[i+1,j]]} - u_{[i-1,j]}); ]; \\ u_{[[All,j]]} = \text{TriDiagonal} [Va, Vd, Vc, b]; ]; ]; \end{aligned}
```

```
a=1.0; b=0.1; c=1; n=21; m=41; F[x_1]=0; G_1[t_1]=1.0; G_2[t_1]=0.0;
```

```
h = a / (n-1); k = b/(m-1);
```

```
f[i_]=F[h(i-1)]; \qquad g_1[j_]=G_1[k(j-1)]; \ g_2[j_]=G_2[k(j-1)];
```

 $u=Table[1,{n},{m}];$

For[$i=1, I \le n, i++, u_{[[i,1]]} = f[i];$];

For[$j=1, j \le m, j++, u_{[[1,j]]} = g_1[j]; u_{[[n,j]]} = g_2[j];];$

 $r=(c^2 * k) / h^2;$

 $Va=Vc=Table[-1, {n-1}]; Va_{[[n-1]]} = Vc_{[[1]]} = 0; Vd = Table[2 + (2/r), {n}];$

 $Vd_{[[1]]} = Vd_{[[n]]} = 1;$

CNsolve[n,m];

Print["Complete Table"];

Print[" t	у	Exact	Numerical	Error"];
Print["		Solution	Solution	% "];
Print["=====				====="];
result=Table["	",{(m*n)+n	n-20},{5}]; row	=1; t=0;

For[$i=2, i \le m, i++$, t=t+k; y=-0.05;

For[j=1,j \leq n,j++,

y=y+0.1; eta=(y/(2* \sqrt{t}));

answer= $0.5*(e^{-y} * \text{Erfc}[\text{eta} - 0.5 * \sqrt{t}] + \text{Erfc}[\text{eta} + 0.5 * \sqrt{t}];$

 $result_{[[row,,1]]} = t; \quad result_{[[row,,2]]} = y; \quad result_{[[row,,3]]} = answer; \quad result_{[[row,,4]]} = u_{[[j,i]]};$

 $result_{[[row,1]]} = Abs[(answer - u_{[[j,i]]}) / 100]; row=row+1;];$

 $result_{[[row,1]]} = "-----"; result_{[[row,2]]} = "-----"; result_{[[row,3]]} = "-----";$

result_{[[row,4]]} = "-----"; result_{[[row,5]]} = "-----"; row=row+1;];

Print[TableForm[result ,TableSpacing->{0,2}]];

Output:

		Analytical	Numerical	Percentage
t	у	Solution	Solution	Errorl
0.09	0	1	1	0
0.09	0.05	0.882046	0.883693	1.65E-05
0.09	0.1	0.771048	0.771311	2.64E-06
0.09	0.15	0.667759	0.664629	3.13E-05
0.09	0.2	0.572753	0.565148	7.61E-05
0.09	0.25	0.486402	0.474027	0.000124
0.09	0.3	0.408868	0.392043	0.000168
0.09	0.35	0.34011	0.319583	0.000205
0.09	0.4	0.279899	0.256661	0.000232
0.09	0.45	0.227842	0.202965	0.000249
0.09	0.5	0.183413	0.157918	0.000255
0.09	0.55	0.145986	0.120743	0.000252
0.09	0.6	0.114868	0.090541	0.000243
0.09	0.65	0.089336	0.066351	0.00023
0.09	0.7	0.068665	0.047211	0.000215
0.09	0.75	0.052151	0.032194	0.0002
0.09	0.8	0.039134	0.020443	0.000187
0.09	0.85	0.029011	0.011181	0.000178
0.09	0.9	0.021244	0.003712	0.000175
0.09	0.95	0.015366	0.002582	0.000128
0.09	1	0.010976	0	0.00011

Table 1: Comparison Temperature



Fig 3: Comparison of Temperature

		Numerical
t	У	Solution
0.02	0	1
0.02	0.05	0.588903
0.02	0.1	0.346183
0.02	0.15	0.202886
0.02	0.2	0.118364
0.02	0.25	0.0686
0.02	0.3	0.039409
0.02	0.35	0.022384
0.02	0.4	0.012537
0.02	0.45	0.006903
0.02	0.5	0.003718
0.02	0.55	0.001936
0.02	0.6	0.000935
0.02	0.65	0.000348
0.02	0.7	5.19E-05
0.02	0.75	0.000414
0.02	0.8	0.000864
0.02	0.85	0.001535
0.02	0.9	0.002617
0.02	0.95	0.004404
0.02	1	0

Table 2: Numerical values of Temperature for Air $P_r=0.733$

Code for numerical solutions for velocity profiles for cooling of the fluid

TriDiagonal[a0_,d0_,c0_,b0_]:= $Module[{a=a0,b=b0,c=c0,d=d0,k,m,n=Length[b0],x},$ For $k=2, k \leq n, k++$, $d_{[[k]]} = d_{[[k]]} - (a_{[[k-1]]} / d_{[[k-1]]}) * c_{[[k-1]]};$ $b_{[[k]]} = b_{[[k]]} - (a_{[[k-1]]} / d_{[[k-1]]}) * b_{[[k-1]]};];$ x=Table[0, {n}]; $x_{[[n]]} = b_{[[n]]} / d_{[[n]]}$; For[k=n-1; $1 \le k$; k--, $X_{[[k]]} = (b_{[[k]]} - c_{[[k]]} * x_{[[k+1]]}) / d_{[[k]]}$;]; Return [x];]; $CNsolve[n,m_] :=$ Module[{b,i,j}, $b=Table[0, \{n\}];$ $b_{[n]} = g_2[j];$ $b_{[1]} = g_1[j];$ For $j=2, j \leq m, j++,$ For[i=2, $i \le n-1, i++,$ $b_{[[i]]} = u_{[[i-1,j-1]]} + ((2/r)-2) u_{[[i,j-1]]} + u_{[[I+1,j-1]]};];$ u_{[[All,i]]} = TriDiagonal [Va, Vd, Vc, b]; 1; $b=Table[0, \{n\}];$ $sb_{[[1]]} = g_1[j];$ $sb_{[n]} = g_2[j];$ For $j=2, j \leq m, j++,$ For[i=2, $i \le n-1, i++,$ $sb_{[[i]]} = su_{[[i-1,j-1]]} + ((2/sr)-2) su_{[[i,j-1]]} + su_{[[I+1,j-1]]} + (h/4) *(su_{[[I+1,j-1]]} - su_{[[I-1,j]]})$ + (h/4) $(su_{[[I+1,j-1]]} - su_{[[I-1,j-1]]}) + (G_r * h*h*(u_{[[I,j-1]]} + u_{[[i,j]]}) (h^*h^*(su_{[i,j-1]]}+su_{[i,j]})/\kappa + \frac{1}{\kappa}(1+\varepsilon\cos\omega t) - \varepsilon\omega\sin\omega t];$ u_{[[All,i]]} = TriDiagonal [Va, Vd, Vc, b];]; a=1.0; b=0.1; c=1; n=21; m=41; $F[x_1=1; G_1[t_1=1.0; G_2[t_1=0.8; \kappa = 1; G_r = -10;$ h = a / (n-1); k = b/(m-1); $f[i_]=F[h(i-1)]; g_1[j_]=G_1[k(j-1)]; g_2[j_]=G_2[k(j-1)];$ $u=Table[1,{n},{m}]; su=Table[1,{n},{m}];$ For[$i=1,i \square n,i++, u_{[[i,1]]} = f[i];$ $su_{[[i,1]]} = f[i];];$ For $[j=1,j \square m,j++, u_{[[1,j]]} = g_1[j]; u_{[[n,j]]} = g_2[j];$ $su_{[[1,j]]} = g_1[j]; su_{[[n,j]]} = g_2[j];];$ $r=(c^{2} * k) / h^{2}$; $sr=(c^{2} * k) / h^{2}$; $Va=Vc=Table[-1, \{n-1\}]; Va_{f(n-1)} = Vc_{f(1)} = 0; Vd = Table[2 + (2/r), \{n\}];$ $sVd = Table[2 + (2 / sr), \{n\}]; Vd_{[[1]]} = Vd_{[[n]]} = 1; sVd_{[[1]]} = sVd_{[[n]]} = 1;$ CNsolve[n,m]: Print[NumberForm[TableForm[N[Transpose[Chop[u]]],TableSpacing {0,2}]]]; Print[NumberForm[TableForm[N[Transpose[Chop[su]]],TableSpacing {0,2}]]]; row=1;t=0; For[i=2, i<=m, i++, t=t+k; y=-0.05; For[j=1, j<=n, j++, y=y+h; result_{[[row,1]]} =t ; result_{[[row,2]]}=y; result_{[[row,3]]}= su_{[[j,i]]}; row=row+1;]; result_{[[row,1]]}= "------";result_{[[row,2]]}= "-----";result_{[[row,3]]}= "-----"; row=row+1;];]; Print[TableForm[result, TableSpacing->{0,2} 11;

Numerical Solutions of an Unsteady Free Convective Oscillatory Flow through a Porous Medium

		Numerical solution for	Numercial Solution for $\omega t = \frac{\pi}{2}$, \mathcal{E}
t	u	$\omega t = \pi$, $\mathcal{E} = 0.1$, $\kappa = 5$	=0.1, $\kappa = 5, \omega = 6$
0.02	0	1	1
0.02	0.05	1.171195	0.787716
0.02	0.1	1.290882	0.639298
0.02	0.15	1.371402	0.539442
0.02	0.2	1.423423	0.474906
0.02	0.25	1.455638	0.434893
0.02	0.3	1.474701	0.411103
0.02	0.35	1.485385	0.397525
0.02	0.4	1.49085	0.390055
0.02	0.45	1.492954	0.38605
0.02	0.5	1.492496	0.383933
0.02	0.55	1.489366	0.382899
0.02	0.6	1.482566	0.382795
0.02	0.65	1.470127	0.384185
0.02	0.7	1.448955	0.388617
0.02	0.75	1.414676	0.399059
0.02	0.8	1.361519	0.42041
0.02	0.85	1.28231	0.459967
0.02	0.9	1.168575	0.527641
0.02	0.95	1.010799	0.635823
0.02	1	0.8	0.8
0.0225	0	1	1
0.0225	0.05	1.183377	0.772607
0.0225	0.1	1.314416	0.610107
0.0225	0.15	1.404914	0.497863
0.0225	0.2	1.465206	0.423045
0.0225	0.25	1.503873	0.374974
0.0225	0.3	1.527656	0.345222
0.0225	0.35	1.541532	0.32748
0.0225	0.4	1.548911	0.317279
0.0225	0.45	1.551861	0.311635
0.0225	0.5	1.551315	0.308731
0.0225	0.55	1.547191	0.307675
0.0225	0.6	1.538431	0.308407
0.0225	0.65	1.522949	0.311771
0.0225	0.7	1.497531	0.319745
0.0225	0.75	1.457724	0.335785
0.0225	0.8	1.397765	0.365213
0.0225	0.85	1.310587	0.415511
0.0225	0.9	1.18/942	0.496423
0.0225	0.95	1.020616	0.61974
0.0225	1	0.8	0.8



Fig 4 : Velocity profiles for cooling of the fluid ($\omega t = \pi$ and $\omega t = \frac{\pi}{2}$)

5. Results and Discussions

The numerical values of the temperature profiles for different Prandtl numbers 0.73, 6.75, 16.6 correspondingly to air, water and alcohol are obtained and have been listed under table 4. By using these values, the variation of temperature has been shown graphically in Fig. (5). From this figure it is observed that as Prandtl number increases the temperature profiles decreases. Also it can be seen that the temperature is maximum for the case of air ($P_r = 0.733$).

15

У	$P_r = 0.733$	$P_{\rm r} = 6.75$	$P_{\rm r} = 16.6$
0.2	0.9293	0.2592	0.036
0.4	0.7458	0.067	0.0013
0.8	0.5563	0.0045	0.0000017
1.2	0.4149	0.003	2 x 10 ⁻⁹
1.8	0.2672	0.0000052	1.05 x 10 ⁻¹³
2.0	0.2308	0.0000013	3.8 x 10 ⁻¹⁵

Table 4. Numerical Values of Temperature for different Pr



Fig. 5. Temperature profiles for different Pr

Numerical values of Transient velocity profiles for some values of K permeability parameter and fixed G_r Grashoff number are listed under table 5 and are shown graphically in Fig. 6.

у	K = 0.5	K = 1	K = 1.5
0.2	-1.7621	0.1822	0.0309
0.6	-1.0326	0.1428	0.0205
1	-0.5813	0.0971	0.0142
1.4	-0.3070	0.0652	0.0095
2.0	-0.0906	0.0357	0.0052

Table 5. Numerical Values of the Transient velocity for some values of K

Permeability Parameter and Fixed Gr Grashof number



Fig. 6. Transient velocity profiles for some k and fixed Gr

The main conclusions of the above figures are

- a. As the permeability parameter K increases, the velocity decreases.
- b. As P_r increases, then the velocity also increases.
- c. The temperature profiles decreases as the time increases.

The rate of heat transfer is studied from Fig.7. From this Figure, it can be seen that as the Prandtl number increases, the rate of heat transfer first decreases and then increases gradually.





6. Stability and convergence for the finite difference scheme

The Stability criterion of the present implicit finite difference scheme for constant mesh sizes are examined by using Von Neumenn analysis as explained by Carnahan et al [1]. The general terms of the Fourier expansions for u and T at a time arbitrarily called t=0 are both $\exp(i\alpha x) \exp(i\beta y)$ (where, $i = \sqrt{-1}$). At a later time t, these terms will become

$$u=F(t)\exp(i\alpha x)\exp(i\beta y)$$

$$\mathsf{T}=\mathsf{G}(t)\exp(i\alpha x)\exp(i\beta y)$$

(22)

Now the implicit finite difference scheme, the equations (16) and (17) respectively become, after neglecting the constant term,

$$\frac{u_{i,j}^{k+1} - u_{i,j}^{k}}{\Delta t} = \frac{[u_{i,j+1}^{k+1} - u_{i,j-1}^{k+1} + u_{i,j+1}^{k} - u_{i,j-1}^{k}]}{4(\Delta y)} + \frac{[u_{i,j+1}^{k+1} + u_{i,j-1}^{k+1} - 2u_{i,j}^{k+1} + u_{i,j+1}^{k} + u_{i,j-1}^{k} - 2u_{i,j}^{k}]}{2(\Delta y)^{2}} + \frac{G_{r}(T_{i,j}^{k+1} + T_{i,j}^{k})}{2} - \frac{1}{\kappa} \left(\frac{u_{i,j}^{k+1} + u_{i,j}^{k}}{2}\right), \qquad (23)$$
$$\frac{T_{i,j}^{k+1} - T_{i,j}^{k}}{\Delta t} = \frac{[T_{i,j+1}^{k+1} - T_{i,j-1}^{k+1} + T_{i,j+1}^{k} - T_{i,j-1}^{k}]}{4(\Delta y)} + \left(\frac{1}{P_{r}}\right)$$

$$\frac{[T_{i,j+1}^{k+1} + T_{i,j-1}^{k+1} - 2T_{i,j}^{k+1} + T_{i,j+1}^{k} + T_{i,j-1}^{k} - 2T_{i,j}^{k}]}{2(\Delta y)^{2}}.$$
(24)

Now substituting (22) in (23) and (24) we have,

$$\frac{F' - F}{\Delta t} = \frac{\left[(F' + F)i \sin \beta \Delta y \right]}{2(\Delta y)} + \frac{(F' + F)(\cos \beta \Delta y - 1)}{(\Delta y)^2} + \frac{G_r (G' + G)}{2} - \frac{1}{\kappa} \left(\frac{F' + F}{2} \right),$$
(25)

$$\frac{G'-G}{\Delta t} = \frac{\left[(G'+G)i\sin\beta\Delta y\right]}{2(\Delta y)} + \frac{1}{P_r} \left[\frac{(G'+G)(\cos\beta\Delta y-1)}{(\Delta y)^2}\right].$$
(26)

On simplifying and rearranging the terms in the above expressions, we get

$$F' - F = (F' + F) \left[\frac{(\Delta t)i(\sin\beta\Delta y)}{2(\Delta y)} - \frac{((1 - \cos\beta\Delta y)(\Delta t))}{(\Delta y)^2} - \frac{(\Delta t)}{2\kappa} \right] + \frac{G_r(G' + G)\Delta t}{2}$$
(27)

Numerical Solutions of an Unsteady Free Convective Oscillatory Flow through a Porous Medium

$$G' - G = (G' + G) \left[\frac{(\Delta t)i(\sin\beta\Delta y)}{2(\Delta y)} - \frac{((1 - \cos\beta\Delta y)(\Delta t))}{P_r(\Delta y)^2} \right]$$
(28)

The above equations can be written as

(1+A)
$$F' = (1-A)F + \frac{G_r(G'+G)\Delta t}{2}$$
 (29)

19

$$(1+B)G' = (1-B)G$$
 (30)

where

$$A = \left[-\frac{(\Delta t)i(\sin\beta\Delta y)}{2(\Delta y)} + \frac{((1-\cos\beta\Delta y)(\Delta t))}{(\Delta y)^2} + \frac{(\Delta t)}{2\kappa} \right]$$
$$B = \left[\frac{((1-\cos\beta\Delta y)(\Delta t))}{P_r(\Delta y)^2} - \frac{(\Delta t)i(\sin\beta\Delta y)}{2(\Delta y)} \right]$$

Using equation (30), equation (29) becomes

$$F' = \frac{(1-A)}{(1+A)}F + D_1G,$$
(31)

$$G' = \frac{(1-B)}{(1+B)}G,$$
 (32)

where

$$D_1 = \frac{G_r \Delta t}{(1+A)(1+B)}$$

Expressing the equation (31) and (32) in matrix form, we have

$$\begin{bmatrix} F'\\ G' \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1-A}{1+A} & D_1\\ 0 & \frac{1-B}{1+B} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} F\\ G \end{bmatrix}$$
(33)

Now for stability the modulus of each eigen value of the amplification matrix should not exceed unity. The eigen values of the amplification matrix are

 $\lambda_1 = \frac{1-A}{1+A}$

and

$$\lambda_2 = \frac{1-B}{1+B}$$

 $|\lambda_1| \leq 1$ and $|\lambda_2| \leq 1$. Let

Now to prove that

$$a = \left[\frac{(\Delta t)}{2(\Delta y)}\right], \quad b = \left[\frac{(\Delta t)}{(\Delta y)^2}\right] \quad and \quad c = \left[\frac{(\Delta t)}{2K}\right]$$

we can write A as

 $\mathsf{A} = \left[-ai\sin(\beta\Delta y) + (1 - \cos\beta\Delta y)b + c\right]$

Since the real part of A is greater than or equal to 0, hence $|\lambda_1| \le 1$ always.

Similarly we can write B as

$$B = \left[\frac{(1 - \cos\beta\Delta y)b}{P_r} - ai\sin(\beta\Delta y)\right]$$

Since real part of B is greater or equal to 0, hence $|\lambda_2| \le 1$ always.

Verification of Compatibility: Hence the Scheme is unconditionally stable. Local truncation error is

 $0((\Delta t)^2 + (\Delta y)^2)$ and tends to zero as $\Delta t \to 0 \Delta y \to 0$. Hence the Scheme is compatible.

Convergence: Stability and compatibility ensures convergence.

References

- [1] Carnahan, P., Luther, H. A. and Wilkes, James O. : *Applied Numercial Methods*, John Wiley & Sons, USA, (1969).
- [2] Darcy, H.P.G. : Les Fontaines Publiques de la ville de Dijon, Paris; Vector Dalmont, (1856).
- [3] Helmy, K.A. : *MHD unsteady free convection flow past a vertical porous plate*, ZAMM 78 (4) (1998) 225-.270.
- [4] Kim, Youn. J.: Unsteady MHD convective heat transfer past a semi-infinite vertical porous moving plate with variable suction, Int. J. Eng. Sci, 38 (2000) 833-845.

Numerical Solutions of an Unsteady Free Convective Oscillatory Flow through a Porous Medium

[5] Musket, M. : Flow of homogenous fluids through porous medium, McGrawhill, NewYork, (1937).

- [6] Raptis, A., Perdikis, C. and Tzivanidis, G. : J. Phys. D. Appl., 14 (1981) 99.
- [7] Raptis, A. A. : Unsteady free convective flow through a porous medium, Int. J. Eng. Sci., 21 (4) (1983) 345-348.
- [8] Raptis, A.A. and Perdikis, C.P. : Oscillatory flow thorugh a porous medium by the presence of free convective flow, Int. J. Engg. Sci, 23 (1) (1975) 51-55.
- [9] Tam, C.K.W. : The drag on a cloud of spheical particles in Low Reynolds number flow, J. Fluid Mechanics, 38 (1969) 537-546.
- [10] Yamamoto, K. and Iwamura, N. : Flow with convective acceleration through a porous medium, J. Engg. Maths, 10 (1976) 41-54.

A SEMI-SYMMETRIC METRIC ϕ -CONNECTION IN A NORMAL CONTACT LORENTZIAN MANIFOLD

Bhagwat Prasad and Ramashrai Singh Yadav

Department of Mathematics, S.M.M. Town (P.G.) College, Ballia 277 001, U.P., India E-mail: bp_kushwaha@sify.com

(Received July 03, 2006; Revised June 30, 2007)

Abstract. Recently, Ojha and Prasad [3] initiated the study of a semi-symmetric non-metric connection in an almost Grayan manifolds. The purpose of this paper is to introduce a semi-symmetric metric ϕ connection in a normal contact Lorentzian manifold and to study some properties of the curvature tensor, projective curvature tensor and W_2 -curvature tensor.

1. Introduction

Let M be a (2n+1)-dimensional $(n \ge 2)$ differentiable manifold of class C^{∞} and g be a Lorentzian metric of M. A non-zero vector X is called spacelike, timelike, null if it satisfies g(X, X) > 0, < 0 = 0, respectively.

The normal contact Lorentzian structure (ϕ, ξ, η, g) or Sasakian structure with Lorentzian metric of M is given by tensor field ϕ of type (1,1), vector field ξ , 1-form η and a Lorentzian metric g as follows ([1]):

$$\phi^2(X) = -X + \eta(X)\xi, \quad \phi(\xi) = 0, \quad \eta(\phi X) = 0$$
(1.1)

$$\eta(\xi) = 1, \qquad \eta(X) = -g(X,\xi)$$
(1.2)

$$g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) + \eta(X)\eta(Y)$$
(1.3)

$$(\nabla_X \eta)Y = g(\phi X, Y), \quad \nabla_X \xi = -\phi X$$
 (1.4)

$$(\nabla_X \phi)Y = -\eta(Y)X - g(X,Y)\xi \tag{1.5}$$

where X is a any vector field of M and ∇ is covariant derivative with respect to g.

Let us put

$$F(X,Y) = g(\phi X,Y), \tag{1.6}$$

then the tensor field F is skew-symmetric (0,2)-tensor field

$$F(X,Y) = -F(Y,X) \tag{1.7}$$

and

$$F(X,Y) = (\nabla_X \eta)(Y). \tag{1.8}$$

Projective curvature tensor [2] and W_2 -curvature tensor [4] are given respectively by

$$W(X, Y, Z) = R(X, Y, Z) - \frac{1}{n-1} \{ \operatorname{Ric}(Y, Z)X - \operatorname{Ric}(X, Z)Y \}$$
(1.9)

$$W_2(X, Y, Z) = R(X, Y, Z) + \frac{1}{n-1} \{ g(X, Z)RY - g(Y, Z)RX \}$$
(1.10)

where R is curvature tensor, Ric is Ricci tensor and RX is the (1,1) Ricci tensor defined by

g(RX,Y) = Ric(X,Y), for all X and Y.

Keywords and phrases : Semi-symmetric metric connection, Lorentzian manifold, contact manifold AMS Subject Classification : 53C15, 53D10

2. Semi-symmetric metric ϕ -connection on a normal contact Lorentzian manifold

Let $\overline{\nabla}$ be an affine connection. Then $\overline{\nabla}$ is said to be metric connection if it satisfies

$$\overline{\nabla}_X g = 0 \tag{2.1}$$

On a normal contact Lorentzian manifold M an affine connection $\overline{\nabla}$ is called an ϕ -connection if ([5])

$$\overline{\nabla}_X \phi = 0 \tag{2.2}$$

Now we study metric ϕ -connection having torsion tensor of the following form

$$\overline{T}(X,Y) = \eta(Y)\phi(X) - \eta(X)\phi(Y) + 2F(X,Y)\xi$$
(2.3)

where \overline{T} is a torsion tensor of connection $\overline{\nabla}$.

Definition. A linear connection $\overline{\nabla}$ satisfying (2.1)-(2.3) is called semi-symmetric metric ϕ -connection.

Theorem 2.1. On a normal contact Lorentzian manifold M, the connection $\overline{\nabla}$ defined by

$$\overline{\nabla}_X Y = \nabla_X Y + \eta(Y)\phi(X) + F(X,Y)\xi$$
(2.4)

is a semi-symmetric metric ϕ -connection, whose metric is given by

$$(\overline{\nabla}_X g)(Y, Z) = 0 \tag{2.5}$$

Proof. Let us put

$$\overline{\nabla}_X Y = \nabla_X Y + H(X, Y) \tag{2.6}$$

where H is a tensor field of type (1,2) defined by

$$H(X,Y) = a\eta(Y)\phi(X) + bF(X,Y)\xi + c\eta(X)\phi(Y)$$
(2.7)

where a, b and c are constants. Then on a normal contact Lorentzian manifold, we have

$$(\overline{\nabla}_X \phi)(Y) = H(X, \phi Y) - \phi H(X, Y) - \eta(Y)X - g(X, Y)\xi$$
(2.8)

Thus in view of (2.2) and (2.7), (2.8) gives

$$0 = (a - 1)\eta(Y)X + (b - 1)g(X, Y)\xi + (b - a)\eta(X)\eta(Y)\xi$$

Hence a = 1, b = 1. Putting these values in (2.7) and using (2.6) we at once get (2.4).

Note. We assume that c = 0 for metric.

Now, we have

$$(\overline{\nabla}_X g)(Y,Z) = X(g(Y,Z)) - g(\nabla_X Y,Z) - g(Y,\nabla_X Z)$$
$$= X(g(Y,Z)) - g(\nabla_X Y,Z) - g(Y,\nabla_X Z) - \eta(Y)g(\phi X,Z)$$
$$-F(X,Y)g(\xi,Z) - \eta(Z)g(Y,\phi X) - F(X,Z)g(Y,\xi) = 0$$

which proves the statement (2.5).

3. Curvature tensor of semi-symmetric metric $\phi\text{-connection}$ on a normal contact Lorentzian manifold

Let \overline{R} be the curvature tensor of the connection $\overline{\nabla}$, then

$$\overline{R}(X,Y,Z) = \overline{\nabla}_X \overline{\nabla}_Y Z - \overline{\nabla}_Y \overline{\nabla}_X Z - \overline{\nabla}[X,Y]Z$$
(3.1)

From (2.4) and (3.1), we get

$$\overline{R}(X,Y,Z) = \overline{\nabla}_X(\nabla_Y Z + \eta(Y)\phi Y + F(Y,Z)\xi) - \overline{\nabla}_Y(\nabla_X Z + \eta(Z)\phi X + F(X,Y)\xi)$$
$$-(\nabla_{[X,Y]}Z + \eta(Z)\phi[X,Y] + F([X,Y],Z)\xi)$$
$$\overline{R}(X,Y,Z) = R(X,Y,Z) + F(X,Z)\phi Y - F(Y,Z)\phi X - \eta(Z)\eta(Y)X$$
$$+\eta(Z)\eta(X)Y - \eta(Y)g(X,Z)\xi + \eta(X)g(Y,Z)\xi$$
(3.2)

where $R(X, Y, Z) = \nabla_X \nabla_Y Z - \nabla_Y \nabla_X Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]} Z$ is the curvature tensor of ∇ with respect to the Riemannian connection.

Contracting (3.2), we get

$$\overline{Ric}(Y,Z) = Ric(Y,Z) - (n-1)\eta(Y)\eta(Z)$$
(3.3)

From (3.3), we have

 $g(\overline{R}Y,Z)=g(RY,Z)+(n-1)g(Z,\xi)\eta(Y)$

or,

$$\overline{r} = r(n-1) \tag{3.4}$$

where \overline{Ric} and \overline{r} are the Ricci tensor and scalar curvature with respect to $\overline{\nabla}$.

4. Projective curvature tensor

Theorem 4.1. In a normal contact Lorentzian manifold the projective curvature tensor \overline{W} of the semisymmetric metric ϕ -connection $\overline{\nabla}$ is equal to the projective curvature tensor W of the manifold iff

$$\eta(X)g(Y,Z)\xi - \eta(Y)g(X,Z)\xi + F(X,Z)\phi Y - F(Y,Z)\phi X = 0$$

Proof. Let \overline{W} and W denote the projective curvature tensor with respect to $\overline{\nabla}$ and ∇ respectively. Then we have

$$\overline{W}(X,Y,Z) = \overline{R}(X,Y,Z) - \frac{1}{n-1} [\overline{Ric}(Y,Z)X - \overline{Ric}(X,Z)Y]$$
(4.1)

and

$$W(X, Y, Z) = R(X, Y, Z) - \frac{1}{n-1} [Ric(Y, Z)X - Ric(X, Z)Y]$$
(4.2)

In consequences of (3.2), (3.3), (4.1) and (4.2), we have

$$\overline{W}(X,Y,Z) = W(X,Y,Z) - \eta(Y)g(X,Z)\xi + \eta(X)g(Y,Z)\xi + F(X,Z)\phi Y - F(Y,Z)\phi X$$
(4.3)

If

$$\eta(X)g(Y,Z)\xi - \eta(Y)g(X,Z)\xi + F(X,Z)\phi Y - F(Y,Z)\phi X = 0,$$

then we get

$$\overline{W}(X,Y,Z) = W(X,Y,Z). \tag{4.4}$$

Converse is also true. Hence the theorem.

Theorem 4.2. If the Ricci tensor of the projective curvature tensor of the semi-symmetric metric ϕ connection $\overline{\nabla}$ in a normal contact Lorentzian manifold vanishes, then the curvature tensor with respect to $\overline{\nabla}$ is equal to the projective curvature tensor of the manifold iff

$$\eta(X)g(Y,Z)\xi - \eta(Y)g(X,Z)\xi + F(X,Z)\phi Y - F(Y,Z)\phi X = 0$$

Proof. In view of $\overline{Ric} = 0$ and (4.1), we have

$$\overline{W}(X,Y,Z) = \overline{R}(X,Y,Z) \tag{4.5}$$

From (4.3) and (4.5), we get

$$\overline{R}(X,Y,Z) = W(X,Y,Z) \tag{4.6}$$

iff $\eta(X)g(Y,Z)\xi - \eta(Y)g(X,Z)\xi + F(X,Z)\phi Y - F(Y,Z)\phi X = 0$. This proves the theorem.

Theorem 4.3. In a normal contact Lorentzian manifold the projective curvature tensor $\overline{W}(X, Y, Z)$ of the semi-symmetric metric ϕ -connection satisfies the following algebraic properties

$$\overline{W}(X,Y,Z) + \overline{W}(Y,X,Z) = 0 \tag{4.7}$$

$$\overline{W}(X,Y,Z) + \overline{W}(Y,Z,X) + \overline{W}(Z,X,Y) = 2\{F(X,Z)\phi Y - F(Y,Z)\phi X - F(X,Y)\phi Z\}$$
(4.8)

Proof. By virtue of (4.3) and first Bianchi's identity with respect to Riemannian connection ∇ , we get (4.7). The result (4.8) can be easily obtained.

5. W_2 -curvature tensor

Theorem 5.1. In a normal contact Lorentzian manifold the W_2 -curvature tensor $\overline{W}_2(X, Y, Z, W)$ of the semi-symmetric metric ϕ -connection $\overline{\nabla}$ is equal to the W_2 -curvature tensor $W_2(X, Y, Z, W)$ of the manifold iff

$$\eta(Z)\{\eta(X)g(Y,W) - \eta(Y)g(X,W)\} + F(X,Z)F(Y,W) - F(Y,Z)F(X,W) = 0$$

Proof. Let \overline{W}_2 and W_2 denote the W_2 -curvature tensor with respect to $\overline{\nabla}$ and ∇ respectively. Then

$$\overline{W}_2(X,Y,Z,W) = \overline{R}(X,Y,Z,W) + \frac{1}{n-1} [g(X,Z)\overline{Ric}(Y,W) - g(Y,Z)\overline{Ric}(X,W)]$$
(5.1)

and

$$\overline{W}_2(X,Y,Z,W) = \overline{R}(X,Y,Z,W) + \frac{1}{n-1}[g(X,Z)Ric(Y,W) - g(Y,Z)Ric(X,W)$$
(5.2)

where $g(W_2(X, Y, Z), W) = W_2(X, Y, Z, W)$ and g(R(X, Y, Z), W) = R(X, Y, Z, W). In consequences of (2.2) (2.2) (5.1) and (5.2) we find

In consequences of (3.2), (3.3), (5.1) and (5.2), we find

$$\overline{W}_{2}(X, Y, Z, W) = \overline{W}_{2}(X, Y, Z, W) + \eta(Z)[\eta(X)g(Y, W) - \eta(Y)g(X, W)] + F(X, Z)F(Y, W) - F(Y, Z)F(X, W)$$
(5.3)

If $\eta(Z)[\eta(X)g(Y,W) - \eta(Y)g(X,W)] + F(X,Z)F(Y,W) - F(Y,Z)F(X,W) = 0$, then from equation (5.3), we get

$$\overline{W}_2(X,Y,Z,W) = \overline{W}_2(X,Y,Z,W).$$
(5.4)

Conversely if $\overline{W}_2(X, Y, Z, W) = \overline{W}_2(X, Y, Z, W)$ then from (5.3), we get

$$\eta(Z)[\eta(X)g(Y,W) - \eta(Y)g(X,W)] + F(X,Z)F(Y,W) - F(Y,Z)F(X,W) = 0$$

which proves the theorem.

r

Theorem 5.2. If the Ricci tensor W_2 -curvature of the semi-symmetric metric ϕ -connection $\overline{\nabla}$ in a normal contact Lorentzian manifold vanishes, then the curvature tensor with respect to $\overline{\nabla}$ is equal to the W_2 -curvature tensor of the manifold iff

$$\eta(Z)\{\eta(X)g(Y,W) - \eta(Y)g(X,W)\} + F(X,Z)F(Y,W) - F(Y,Z)F(X,W) = 0$$

Proof. In view of $\overline{R}ic = 0$ and (5.1), we have

$$\overline{W}_2(X, Y, Z, W) = \overline{R}(X, Y, Z, W).$$
(5.5)

From (5.3) and (5.5), we get

$$\overline{R}(X,Y,Z,W) = \overline{W}_2(X,Y,Z,W)$$
(5.6)

 $\begin{array}{ll} \mbox{iff} & \eta(Z)\{\eta(X)g(Y,W)-\eta(Y)g(X,W)\}+F(X,Z)F(Y,W)-F(Y,Z)F(X,W)=0. \end{array} \\ \mbox{This proves the theorem.} \end{array}$

Theorem 5.3. In a normal contact Lorentzian manifold the W_2 -curvature tensor $\overline{W}_2(X, Y, Z, W)$ of the semi-symmetric metric ϕ -connection satisfies the following algebraic properties

$$\overline{W}_{2}(X, Y, Z, W) + \overline{W}_{2}(X, Y, Z, W) = 0$$
(5.7)

References

- [1] Ikawa, T. and Erdogan, M.: Sasakian manifold with Lorentzian metric, Kyungpook Math. J. 35 (1986) 517-526.
- [2] Mishra, R.S.: Structures on a Differentiable Manifold and their Applications, Chandrama Prakashan, Allahabad, India, 1984.
- [3] Ojha, R.H. and Prasad, B. : On a semi-symmetric non-metric connection in almost Grayan manifolds, Bull. Cal. Math. Soc. 86 (1994) 213-220.
- [4] Pokhariyal, G.P. and Mishra, R.S. : Curvature tensor and their relativistic significance, Yokohama Math. J. 18 (1970) 105-108.
- [5] Yano, K. and Imai, T. : On a semi-symmetric φ-connection in a Sasakian manifold, Kodai Math. Sem. Rep. 28 (1997) 150-158.

The Aligarh Bull. of Maths. Volume 26, No. 2, 2007

COINCIDENCE POINTS FOR NON-SELF MAPS

Abdul Latif and Saleh A. Al-Mezel

Department of Mathematics, King Abdul Aziz University, Jeddah P. O. Box 80203, Jeddah - 21589, Saudi Arabia E-mail : latif@yahoo.com , mathsaleh@yahoo.com

(Received April 12, 2007)

Abstract. In this paper we obtain some results on the existence of coincedence points for non-self f-contraction and f-nonexpensive multivalued maps satisfying weaker form of the weakly inward condition. These results unify and extend the corresponding results of a number of authors.

1. Introduction

Let M be a non-empty subset of a normed linear space X. We use CB(X) to denote the collection of all non-empty closed subsets of X, KC(X) for the collection of all non-empty compact convex subsets of Xand H for the Hausdorff metric on CB(X) induced by the norms on X, i.e.,

$$H(A,B) = \max\{\sup_{x\in A} d(x,B), \ \sup_{y\in B} d(y,A), \quad A,B\in CB(X),$$

where $d(x, A) = \inf\{||x - y|| : y \in A\}$, the distance from the point x to the subset A. Now, let $f : M \to X$ be a continuous map. A multivalued map $T : M \to CB(X)$ is said to be an f-contraction iff for a fixed constant $h \in (0, 1)$ and for each $x, y \in M$

$$H(T(x), T(y)) \le h \| f(x) - f(y) \|.$$

Further, if T and f satisfy the inequality

$$H(T(x), T(y)) \le ||f(x) - f(y)||,$$

then T is said to be an f-nonexpensive. In particular, if f is the identity map on M then a multivalued map is an f-contraction (respectively, f-nonexpensive) iff it is contraction (respectively, nonexpensive). A point $x \in M$ is called a fixed point of the multivalued map T iff $x \in T(x)$ and it is called a coincidence point of f and T iff $f(x) \in T(x)$. A multivalued map T is said to be weakly inward if $T(x) \subset clI_M(x)$ for all $x \in M$, where $I_M(x) = \{z \in X : z = x + \lambda(y - x) \text{ for some } y \in M, \lambda \geq 1\}$ is the inward set of M at x and cl denotes the closure of a set. Also, we say T is c-weakly inward if $T(x) \cap clI_M(x) \neq \emptyset$ for all $x \in M$. Note that each weakly inward map is c-weakly inward but the converse is not true in general.

Nadler [9] proved a fixed point result for multivalued contraction self maps of a complete metric space, which is a generalization of the Banach Contraction Principle. Since then various well-known results for single-valued self contraction and nonexpensive self maps have been extended to multivalued analogues.

On the other hand Kaneko [3] has proved coincidence and common fixed point results for multivalued f-contraction self maps; extending the results of Nadler [9] and others. Many authors have further studied an existence of coincidence points for self and nonself maps under some weaker conditions. For example, see [1,5,6,10-15].

To study the existence of fixed points and coincidence points for non-self multivalued maps, one needs some type of boundary conditions, e.g., inward/weakly inward conditions. Recently, Lim [7] has proved fixed point result for nonself multivalued weakly inward contraction maps, generalizing the corresponding results

Keywords and phrases : Banach space, coincidence point, *f*-contraction, *f*-nonexpensive. AMS Subject Classification : 47H09, 54H25.

of Martinez-Yanez [8], Yi and Zhao [17], Xu [16] and many others. In [4] the first author and Tweddle proved some coincidence point results for nonself compact valued weakly inward f-contraction and weakly inward f-nonexpensive maps, extending many related known results in the literature. It has been observed [2,18] that some known fixed point results for weakly inward contraction maps are not true for c-weakly inward contractions. In this paper, we prove some general results on the existence of coincidence points under some what weaker condition. These results unify and extend many existing results on fixed points and coincidence points.

We shall require the following consequences of Theorems 11.5 of Deimling [2] (see also Theorem 1.6 [16]).

Theorem 1.1. Let M be a non-empty closed bounded convex subset of a Banach space X and let $T: M \to KC(X)$ be a *c*-weakly inward contraction map. Then T has a fixed point.

2. Main Results

First we prove our main result on the existence of coincidence points for nonself c-weakly inward f-contraction maps.

Theorem 2.1. Let M be a non-empty subset of a Banach space X. Let $f: M \to X$ be any map with its range G closed convex bounded and $T: M \to KC(X)$ of a f-contraction map such that $T(x) \cap clI_G(z) \neq \emptyset$ for all $x \in f^{-1}(z)$. Then f and T have a coincidence point in M.

Proof. Define $J : G \to KC(X)$ by $J(z) = Tf^{-1}(z)$ for all $z \in G$. Then, for each $z \in G$ and any $x, y \in f^{-1}(z)$, the *f*-contractiveness of *T* implies there exists some $h \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$H(T(x), T(y)) \le h \|f(x) - f(y)\| = 0$$

and hence for all $p \in f^{-1}(z)$ we have J(z) = T(p). Now for any $w, z \in G$, we have H(J(w), J(z)) = H(T(x), T(y)) for any $x \in f^{-1}(w)$ and $y \in f^{-1}(z)$. But T is an f-contraction, so we get

$$H(J(w), J(z)) \le h \|f(x) - f(y)\| = h \|w - z\|$$

which implies that J is a contraction map. Also, note that for any $z \in G$ we have $J(z) \cap clI_G(z) \neq \emptyset$. Thus by Theorem 1.1, there is a point $z_0 \in G$ such that $z_0 \in J(z_0)$. Since $J(z_0) = T(x_0)$ for any $x_0 \in f^{-1}(z_0)$, so $f(x_0) \in T(x_0)$ which completes the proof.

Applying our Theorem 2.1, we have the following coincidence point result for nonself f-nonexpansive maps.

Theorem 2.2. Let M be a non-empty subset of a Banach space X. Let $f: M \to X$ be any map with its range G closed convex bounded and $T: M \to KC(X)$ an f-nonexpansive map such that $T(x) \cap clI_G(z) \neq \emptyset$ for all $x \in f^{-1}(z)$ and (f-T)M is closed. Then, f and T have a coincidence point in M. **Proof.** For a fixed $x_0 \in M$ and for each integer $n \geq 1$, define

$$T_n(x) = (1 - \frac{1}{n})T(x) + \frac{1}{n}x_0$$
 for all $x \in M$

Note that, for each n, T_n maps M into KC(X) and also $T_n(x) \cap clI_G(z) \neq \emptyset$ for all $x \in f^{-1}(z)$. Furthermore, for each n and for any $x, y \in M$ we have

$$H(T_n(x), T_n(y)) \le (1 - \frac{1}{n}) \|f(x) - f(y)\|$$

that is, for each n, T_n is an f-contraction. By Theorem 2.1 there exists $x_n \in M$ such that

$$f(x_n) \in T_n(x_n) = (1 - \frac{1}{n})T(x_n) + \frac{1}{n}x_0$$

and so there is some $u_n \in T(x_n)$ such that

$$f(x_n) = (1 - \frac{1}{n})u_n + \frac{1}{n}x_0$$

Thus, $f(x_n) - u_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Since (f - T)M is closed and $f(x_n) - u_n \in (f - T)M$, we get $0 \in (f - T)M$. Hence there is a point $p \in M$ such that $f(p) \in T(p)$ and this proves the result.

Theorem 2.3. Let M be a non-empty subset of a Banach space X. Let $f: M \to X$ be any map with its range G compact convex and $T: M \to KC(X)$ an f-nonexpansive map such that $T(x) \cap clI_G(z) \neq \emptyset$ for all $x \in f^{-1}(z)$. Then, f and T have a coincidence point in M.

Proof. For a fixed $x_0 \in M$ and for each integer $n \ge 1$, define

$$T_n(x) = (1 - \frac{1}{n})T(x) + \frac{1}{n}x_0$$
 for all $x \in M$

Following the proof of Theorem 2.2 we can find a sequence $\{x_n\}$ in M and $u_n \in T(x_n)$ such that $f(x_n) - u_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. For each n, put $f(x_n) = y_n$. Since $y_n \in G$ and G is compact, for a convenient subsequence still denoted by $\{y_n\}$, we have $y_n \to y \in G$. Note that there is some $p \in M$ such that f(p) = y and by f-nonexpansiveness of T

$$d(y_n, T(p)) \le H(T(x_n, T(p)) \le (f(x_n), f(p))$$

Making $n \to \infty$, we obtain d(f(p), T(p)) = 0, proving $f(p) \in T(p)$.

If we take f = I, the identity on M, then we have the following fixed point result which appeard recently in [16].

Corollary 2.4. Let M be a non-empty compact convex subset of a Banach space X. Let $T: M \to KC(X)$ be nonexpansive map such that $T(x) \cap clI_M(z) \neq \emptyset$ for all $x \in M$. Then T has a fixed point in M.

References

- [1] Daffer, P.Z. and Kaneko, H.: Multivalued f-contractive mappings, Boll. U.M.I., 7 (1994) 233-241.
- [2] Deimling, K. : Multivalued differential equations, Water de Gruyter, New York (1992).
- [3] Kaneko, H.: Single-valued and multivalued f-contractions, Boll. U.M.I., 6 (1985) 29-33.
- [4] Latif, A. and Tweddle, I. : Some results on coincidence points, Bull. Austral. Math. Soc., 59 (1999) 111-117.
- [5] Latif, A. and Tweddle, I. : On multivalued f-nonexpansive maps, Demonstratio. Math., 32 (1999) 565-574.
- [6] Latif, A. and Hajar, A.A.: On coincidence and hybrid fixed points, Rad. Mat., 11 (2002) 119-123.
- [7] Lim, T.C. A fixed point theorem for weakly inward multivalued contractions, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 247(2000) 323-327.
- [8] Martinez-Yanez, C. : A remark on weakly inward contractions, Nonlinear Analysis, Theory, Methods and Applications, 16 (1991) 847-848.
- [9] Nadler, S.B.: Multivalued contraction mappings, Pacific J. Math. 30 (1969) 475-488.
- [10] Naidu, S.V.R. : Fixed points and coincidence points for multimaps with not necessarily bounded images, Fixed Point Theory and Applications 3 (2004) 221-242.
- [11] Pathak, H.K., Khan, M.S. and Kang, S.M. : Fixed and coincidence points for contractions and parametrically nonexpansive mappings, Math. Sci. Res. J. 8 (2004) 27-35.
- [12] Pathak, H.K. and Khan, M.S.: Fixed and coincidence points of hybrid mappings, Arch.Math. 38 (2002) 201-208.

- [13] Rhoades, B.E.: On multivalued f-nonexpansive maps, Fixed Point Theory and Appl. 2 (2001) 89-92.
- [14] Shahzad, N.: Coincidence points of weakly inward f-contractions, Demonstratio Math. XXXVI (2003) 173-177.
- [15] Singh, S.L. and Mishra, S.N.: Coincidence and fixed points of nonself hybrid contractions, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 256 (2001) 486-497.
- [16] Xu, H-K: Multivalued nonexpansive mappings in Banach spaces, Nonlinear Anal. 43 (2001) 693-706.
- [17] Yi, H-W. and Zhao, Y-C. : Fixed point theorems for weakly inward multivalued mappings and their randomizations, J. Math. Anal Appl. 183 (1994) 613-619.
- [18] Zhang, S.: Star-shaped sets and fixed points of multivalued mappings, Math. Japonica 36 (1991) 327-334.

The Aligarh Bull. of Maths. Volume 26, No. 2, 2007

LEFT CENTRALIZER TRACES, GENERALIZED BIDERIVATIONS LEFT BIMULTIPLIERS, AND GENERALIZED JORDAN BIDERIVATIVES*

N.M. Muthana

Department of Mathematics, Girls College of Education, Jeddah, P.O. Box 1859, Jeddah 21441, Saudia Arabia

E-mail: najat_muthana@hotmail.com

(Received May 19, 2007; Revised December 05, 2007)

Abstract. In the present paper, many concepts related to biadditive mappings of rings are defined as left centralizer traces, generalized biderivations, left bimultipliers and generalized Jordan biderivations. Two important results are proved. One of them is that every generalized biderivations of a prime ring of characteristic not 2, could be reduced to a left bimultiplier under certain algebraic conditions. The second result is that every generalized Jordan biderivation on a noncommutative prime ring of characteristic not 2, will be a generalized biderivation.

Introduction

Throughout the paper R will be a ring with center Z(R). Recall that a ring R is prime if aRb = (0) implies that a = 0 or b = 0 for $a, b \in R$, and is semiprime if aRa = (0) implies a = 0.

A ring is of characteristic n, where n is a positive integer if nx = 0, $x \in R$ implies x = 0. As usual the commentator xy - yx will be denoted by [x, y].

An additive mapping $d: R \to R$ is called a derivation if d(xy) = d(x)y + xd(y) holds for all $x, y \in R$. A derivation d is inner if there exists $a \in R$ such that d(x) = [a, x] holds for all $x \in R$. A mapping $B: R \times R \to R$ is said to be symmetric if B(x, y) = B(y, x) for all $x, y \in R$. A mapping $f: R \to R$ defined by f(x) = B(x, x) is called the trace of B. It is obvious that, in case $B: R \times R \to R$ is a symmetric mapping which is also biadditive (i.e. additive in both arguments) the trace of B satisfies the relation f(x, y) = f(x) + f(y) + 2B(x, y) for all $x, y \in R$, hence f is not an additive mapping.

A biadditive mapping $B : R \times R \to R$ is called a biderivation if B(xy, z) = B(x, z)y + xB(y, z) and B(z, xy) = B(z, x)y + xB(z, y) is fulfilled for all $x, y, z \in R$.

Zalar [9] introduced the notion of a left (right) centralizer. An additive mapping $T: R \to R$ is called a left (right) centralizer if T(xy) = T(x)y(T(xy) = xT(y)) holds for all $x, y \in R$. T is called a centralizer if it is both a left and a right centralizer.

Following Zalar [9], if $f : R \to R$ is the trace of a symmetric biadditive mapping, we say that f is a multiplicative left (right) centralizer trace on a nonempty subset S of R, if f(xy) = f(x)y(f(xy) = xf(y)) for all $x, y \in S$. If f is both a multiplicative left and a right centralizer trace on S, we say that f is a multiplicative centralizer trace on S.

In section 1, we get some results for a multiplicative left centralizer trace on Lie ideals or left ideals of a certain ring. Recall that the trace f is not an additive mapping. In the present paper, we define the action of the trace f as some familiar kinds of derivations. Let S be a nonempty subset of S, we call that f is a multiplicative derivation on S if f(xy) = f(x)y + xf(y) holds for all $x, y \in S$, f is called a multiplicative reverse derivation on S if f(xy) = yf(x) + f(y)x for all $x, y \in S$, and f is called a multiplicative Lie derivation on S if f([x, y]) = [f(x), y] + [x, f(y)] holds for all $x, y \in S$. It is our aim in section 2 to know what results when the trace acts as such kinds of derivations on a Lie ideal or left ideal of a certain ring.

Keywords and phrases : Prime ring, Lie ideal biderivation, trace of biadditive map and symmetric biadditive map AMS Subject Classification : 16N60, 16W25

^{*}The results of this paper are the contents of a part in the Ph.D. dissertation written under the supervision of Prof. Mohammad Nagy Daif, and presented to the Girls College of Education in Jeddah (Saudi Arabia) [7].

By a generalized derivation of an algebra A we usually mean a map of the form $x \mapsto ax + xb$ where a and b are fixed elements in A. Hvala [6] called such maps generalized inner derivations, see also [4]. Now in a ring R, let g be a generalized inner derivation of R given by g(x) = ax + xb. Notice that $g(xy) = g(x)y + xI_b(y)$ where $I_b(y) = yb - by = [y, b]$ is an inner derivation. Motivated by these observations, Hvala [6] introduced the notion of generalized derivations in rings. An additive mapping $g : R \to R$ is called a generalized derivation $d : R \to R$ such that g(xy) = g(x)y + xd(y) holds for all $x, y \in R$.

It is our attempt in section 3 to initiate an algebraic study of generalized biderivations, which are defined as follows:

A biadditive mapping $G : R \times R \to R$ will be called a generalized biderivation if there exists a biderivation $B : R \times R \to R$ such that G(xy, z) = G(x, z)y + xB(y, z) and G(z, xy) = G(z, x)y + xB(z, y) hold for all $x, y, z \in R$. Hence, the concept of a generalized biderivation covers both the concepts of biderivations and generalized inner biderivations. Moreover, a generalized biderivation with B = 0 will be called a left bimultiplier. Clearly every left bimultiplier is a generalized biderivation on R. Thus, it is natural to question that whether every generalized biderivation on a ring R is a left bimultiplier. It is shown in section 3 that the answer to this question is affirmative under certain algebraic conditions.

Following Ashraf and Rehman [2], an additive mapping $F : R \to R$ is called a generalized Jordan derivation if there exists a derivation $d : R \to R$ such that $F(x^2) = F(x)x + xd(x)$ holds for all $x \in R$. We call a biadditive mapping $J : R \times R \to R$ a generalized Jordan biderivation if there exists a biderivation $B : R \times R \to R$ such that $J(x^2, z) = J(x, z)x + xB(x, z)$ and $J(z, x^2) = J(z, x)x + xB(z, x)$ hold for all $x, z \in R$. Clearly, every generalized biderivation on R is a generalized Jordan biderivation. In section 4 we prove that every generalized Jordan biderivation on a noncommutative prime ring of characteristic not 2, will be generalized biderivation.

In this paper we recall a few results that we will need in the subsequent sections.

Lemma 1 [3, Lemma 2]. Let R be a prime ring such that $char R \neq 2$, and let U be a Lie ideal of R. If $U \not\subseteq Z(R)$. Then $C_R(U) \subseteq Z(R)$, where $C_R(U)$ is the centralizer of U in R.

Lemma 2 [5, Lemma 1-1-5]. Let R be a prime ring and let I be a right ideal of R. Then $Z(I) \subseteq Z(R)$ where Z(I) is the center of R.

Lemma 3 [5, Corollary of Lemma 1-1-5]. Let R be a semiprime ring, and let $I \neq (0)$ be a ring ideal of R. If I is a commutative ideal, then $I \subseteq Z(R)$. Moreover, if R is prime ring, then R is commutative.

Lemma 4 [8, Lemma 4]. Let R be a prime ring such that $char R \neq 2$. Let I be a nonzero left ideal of R. Suppose that $B: R \times R \to R$ is a symmetric biderivation with trace f. If f(x) = 0 for all $x \in I$, then B = 0.

Lemma 5 [3, Lemma 4]. Let U be a Lie ideal in a prime ring R with characteristic not 2. If $U \not\subseteq Z(R)$ and aUb = (0) for $a, b \in R$. Then either a = 0 or b = 0.

Lemma 6 [1, Theorem 3]. Let R be a prime ideal such that $char R \neq 2$, and let U be a nonzero Lie ideal of R. Suppose that f is a trace of a symmetric biderivation $B : R \times R \to R$.

(a) If f(U) = (0), then either $U \subseteq Z(R)$ or f = 0.

(b) If $f(U) \subseteq Z(R)$, and $x^2 \in U$ for all $x \in U$ then either $U \subseteq Z(R)$ or f = 0.

Lemma 7 [8, Lemma 4]. Let R be a prime ring such that char $R \neq 2$, and let I be a nonzero left ideal of R. Suppose that $B: R \times R \to R$ is a symmetric biderivation with trace f. If f(x) = 0 for all $x \in I$. Then B = 0.

1. Multiplicative left centralizer traces

Theorem 1.1. Let R be a prime ring such that $char R \neq 2$, and let U be a Lie ideal of R. Suppose that $B: R \times R \to R$ is a symmetric biadditive map with trace f such that f is a multiplicative left centralizer trace on U. Then either f(U) = (0) or $U \subseteq Z(R)$.

Proof. We have

$$f(xy) = f(x)y \quad \forall \ x, y \in U \tag{1.1}$$

Putting x + z instead of x in (1.1), $z \in U$, we get

$$f((x+z)y) = f(x+z)y \quad \forall \ x, y, z \in U$$

$$f(xy) + f(zy) + 2B(xy, zy) = f(x)y + f(z)y + 2B(x, z)y$$
(1.2)

By (1.1), the last relation becomes:

$$2B(xy, zy) = 2B(x, z)y \quad \forall x, y, z \in U$$

Since $char R \neq 2$, so

$$B(xy, zy) = B(x, z)y \quad \forall x, y, z \in U$$
(1.3)

Putting -y instead of y in (1.3), we get

$$B(xy, zy) = -B(x, z)y \quad \forall x, y, z \in U$$
(1.4)

From (1.3), (1.4) and since $char R \neq 2$, we get

$$B(x,z)y = 0 \quad \forall \ x, y, z \in U \tag{1.5}$$

Let z = x in the last relation

$$f(x)y = 0 \quad \forall \ x, y \in U \tag{1.6}$$

Since $[y, r] \in U$ for all $y \in U$, and for all $r \in R$. Then by (1.6) we get

$$f(x)[y,r] = 0 \quad \forall \ x, y \in U, \ \forall \ r \in R$$

$$(1.7)$$

Putting rs instead of $r, s \in R$, we get

$$f(x)r[y,s] = 0 \quad \forall x, y \in U, \ \forall r, s \in R$$

$$(1.8)$$

By prime ness of R, either f(x) = 0 for all $x \in U$ or [y, s] = 0 for all $y \in U$ and for all $s \in R$, i.e. either f(U) = (0) or $U \subseteq Z(R)$.

Theorem 1.2. Let R be a prime ring such that $char R \neq 2$, and let I be a nonzero left ideal of R. Suppose that $B: R \times R \to R$ is a symmetric biadditive map with trace f such that f is a multiplicative left centralizer trace on I. Then f(I) = (0).

Proof. We have

$$f(xy) = f(x)y \quad \forall \ x, y \in U$$

As step (1.1)-(1.6) in the proof of Theorem 1.1, we get f(x)y = 0 for all $x, y \in I$. Since in a prime ring the left annihilator of a nonzero left ideal is zero, so f(x) = 0 for all $x \in I$.

2. Traces acting as some types of derivations

Theorem 2.1. Let R be a prime ring such that $char R \neq 2$, and let U be a Lie ideal of R. Suppose that $B: R \times R \to R$ is a biadditive map with trace f.
- (a) If f acts as a multiplicative derivation on U, then either f(U) = (0) or $U \subseteq Z(R)$.
- (b) If f acts as a multiplicative reverse derivation on U, then either f(U) = (0) or $U \subseteq Z(R)$.
- (c) If f acts as a multiplicative left derivation on U, then either f(U) = (0) or $U \subseteq Z(R)$.
- (d) If $U \not\subseteq Z(R)$ and f acts as a multiplicative Lie derivation on U, then $f(U) \subseteq Z(R)$.

Proof. (a) Since f acts as a multiplicative derivation on U, so

$$f(xy) = f(x)y + xf(y) \quad \forall x, y \in U$$

$$(2.1)$$

Putting x + z instead of x in (2.1), we get

$$f(xy) + f(zy) + 2B(xy, zy) = f(x)y + f(z)y + 2B(x, z)y + xf(y) + zf(y) \quad \forall x, y, z \in U.$$
(2.2)

By (2.1), and since char $R \neq 2$, so

$$B(xy, zy) = B(x, z)y \quad \forall \ x, y, z \in U$$

$$(2.3)$$

Let z = x in (2.3)

$$f(xy) = f(x)y \quad \forall \ x, y \in U \tag{2.4}$$

By (2.4), f will be a multiplicative left centralizer trace on U, so by Theorem 1.1 either f(U) = (0) or $U \subseteq Z(R)$.

(b) By hypothesis

$$f(xy) = yf(x)y + f(y)x \quad \forall x, y \in U$$
(2.5)

Putting x + z instead of x in (2.5), we get

$$f(xy) + f(zy) + 2B(xy, zy) = yf(x) + yf(z)y + 2yB(x, z) + f(y)x + f(y)z \quad \forall x, y \in U.$$
(2.6)

By (2.5), and since $char R \neq 2$, so

$$B(xy, zy) = yB(x, z) \quad \forall \ x, y, z \in U$$

$$(2.7)$$

Let z = x in (2.7), we get

$$f(xy) = yf(x) \quad \forall \ x, y \in U \tag{2.8}$$

From (2.1) and (2.8) we get

$$f(y)x = 0 \quad \forall \ x, y \in U \tag{2.9}$$

Since $[x, r] \in U$ for all $x \in U$ and for all $r \in R$, so from (2.9)

$$f(y)[x,r] = 0 \quad \forall \ x, y \in U, \ \forall \ r \in R$$

$$(2.10)$$

Putting rs instead of r in (2.9), we get

$$f(y)r[x,s] = 0 \quad \forall \ x, y \in U, \ \forall \ r, s \in R$$

$$(2.11)$$

By (2.11) and since R is prime so either f(y) = 0 for all $y \in U$ or [x, s] = 0 for all $x \in U$ and for all $s \in R$, hence either f(U) = (0) or $U \subseteq Z(R)$.

(c) Could be proved as (a).

(d) We have

$$f([x,y]) = [f(x),y] + [x,f(y)] \quad \forall \ x,y \in U$$
(2.12)

Putting x + z instead of x in (2.12), $z \in U$, we get

$$f([x,y]) + f([z,y]) + 2B([x,y],[z,y]) = [f(x),y] + [f(z),y] + 2[B(x,z),y] + [x,f(y)] + [z,f(y)] \quad \forall x,y,z \in U.$$

$$(2.13)$$

By (2.12), and since $char R \neq 2$, so (2.9) becomes

$$B([x,y],[z,y]) = [B(x,z),y] \quad \forall \ x,y,z \in U$$
(2.14)

Let z = x in (2.14)

$$f([x,y]) = [f(x),y] \quad \forall \ x,y \in U$$

$$(2.15)$$

From (2.12) and (2.15) we get

$$[x, f(y)] = 0 \quad \forall \ x, y \in U \tag{2.16}$$

By (2.16), we have $f(y) \in C_R(U)$, where $C_R(U)$ is the centralizer of U in R, for all $y \in U$, and since $U \not\subseteq Z(R)$, so by Lemma 1 we get $f(y) \in Z(R)$, for all $y \in U$. This completes the proof.

Theorem 2.2. Let R be a prime ring such that $char R \neq 2$, and let I be a nonzero left ideal on R. Suppose that $B: R \times R \to R$ is a symmetric biadditive map with trace f.

- (a) If f acts as a multiplicative derivation on I, then f(I) = (0).
- (b) If the right annihilator of I is zero and f acts as a multiplicative left derivation on I, then f(I) = (0).
- (c) If f acts as a multiplicative reverse derivation on I, then f(I) = (0).

Proof. (a) By similar steps as (2.1)-(2.4) in the proof of Theorem 2.1 (a), we get f(xy) = f(x)y for all $x, y \in I$ and by Theorem 1.2 f(I) = (0).

(b) We have

$$f(xy) = xf(y) + yf(x) \quad \forall \ x, y \in I$$
(2.17)

putting x + z instead of x in (2.17), we get:

$$f(xy) + f(zy) + 2B(xy, zy) = xf(y) + zf(y) + yf(x) + yf(z) + 2yB(x, z) \quad \forall x, y, z \in I.$$
(2.18)

By (2.17) since $char R \neq 2$, so

$$B(xy, zy) = yB(x, z) \quad \forall \ x, y, z \in I$$
(2.19)

Let z = x in (2.19)

$$f(xy) = yf(x) \quad \forall \ x, y \in I \tag{2.20}$$

From (2.17) and (2.20), we get

$$yf(x) = 0 \quad \forall \ x, y \in I \tag{2.21}$$

Since the right annihilator of I is zero, so by (2.21) f(x) = 0 for all $x \in I$.

(c) We have

$$f(xy) = yf(x) + f(y)x \quad \forall \ x, y \in I$$

$$(2.22)$$

Putting y + z instead of y in (2.17), we get

$$f(xy) + f(xz) + 2B(xy, xz) = yf(x) + zf(x) + f(y)x + f(z)x + 2B(y, z)x \quad \forall x, y, z \in I.$$
(2.23)

By (2.22), and since char $R \neq 2$, so (2.23) becomes as:

$$B(xy, xz) = B(y, z)x \quad \forall \ x, y, z \in I$$

$$(2.24)$$

Let z = y in (2.24), we get

$$f(xy) = f(y)x \quad \forall \ x, y \in I \tag{2.25}$$

Putting -x instead of x in (2.25), we get

$$f(xy) = -f(y)x \quad \forall \ x, y \in I \tag{2.26}$$

By (2.25) and (2.26), since char $R \neq 2$, so

$$f(y)x = 0 \quad \forall \ x, y \in I \tag{2.27}$$

By (2.27), and since the left annihilator of a nonzero left ideal in a prime ring is zero, so f(y) = 0 for all $y \in I$, i.e. f(I) = (0). The proof is complete.

Theorem 2.3. Let R be a 2-torsion free semiprime ring, and let I be a left ideal in R. Suppose that $B: R \times R \to R$ is a symmetric biadditive map with trace f, such that f acts as a multiplicative Lie derivation on I, then $f(I) \subseteq Z(R)$.

Proof. We have

$$f([x,y]) = [f(x),y] + [x,f(y)] \quad \forall x,y \in I$$

using similar steps as (2.12)-(2.16) in the proof of Theorem 2.1 (d), we get [x, f(y)] = 0 for all $x, y \in I$, then $f(y) \in Z(I)$ for all $y \in I$, and by Lemma 2 $f(y) \in Z(R)$ for all $y \in I$, i.e. $f(I) \subseteq Z(R)$.

3. Generalized biderivations and left bimultipliers

Theorem 3.1. Let *I* be a nonzero ideal of a prime ring *R* of characteristic not 2. Suppose $G : R \times R \to R$ is a symmetric generalized biderivation defined by a symmetric biderivation $B : R \times R \to R$. If [G(x, x), x] = 0 for all $x \in I$. Then *G* is a left multiplier.

Proof. We have

$$[G(x,x),x] = 0 \quad \forall \ x \in I \tag{3.1}$$

Putting x + y instead of x in (3.1), then by using (3.1) we get

$$[G(x,x),y] + 2[G(x,y),x] + 2[G(x,y),y] + [G(y,y),x] = 0 \quad \forall x,y \in I$$
(3.2)

Putting x - y instead of x in (3.1), we get

$$-[G(x,x),y] - 2[G(x,y),x] + 2[G(x,y),y] + [G(y,y),x] = 0 \quad \forall x,y \in I.$$
(3.3)

Adding (3.2) and (3.3), since char $R \neq 2$, we get

$$2[G(x,y),y] + [G(y,y),x] = 0 \quad \forall \ x,y \in I$$
(3.4)

Let x = xy in (3.4), so

$$2[G(x,y),y]y + 2x[B(y,y),y] + 2[x,y]B(y,y) + [G(y,y),x]y = 0$$

By (3.4), and since char $R \neq 2$, so the last relation becomes

$$x[B(y,y),y] + [x,y]B(y,y) = 0 \quad \forall \ x,y \in I$$
(3.5)

Let x = zx in (3.5). Then using (3.5), we get

$$[z, y]xB(y, y) = 0 \quad \forall x, y, z \in I$$

$$(3.6)$$

Hence,

$$[z,y]IB(y,y) = 0 \quad \forall \ y, z \in I \tag{3.7}$$

Since I is a right ideal in R, so relation (3.7) becomes

$$[z, y]IRB(y, y) = 0 \quad \forall \ y, z \in I$$

$$(3.8)$$

Since R is a prime ring, so for each $y \in I$ either B(y, y) = 0 or [z, y]I = 0 for all $z \in I$. If B(y, y) = 0, then [B(y, y), y] = 0.

If [z, y]I = 0, then [z, y] = 0 for all $z \in I$, hence $y \in Z(I)$, by Lemma 2, $y \in Z(R)$. So [B(y, y), y] = 0. Hence from the above we have

$$[B(x,x),x] = 0 \quad \forall \ x \in I \tag{3.9}$$

Linearizing (3.9), we get

$$[B(x,x),y] + [B(y,y),x] + 2[B(x,y),x] + 2[B(x,y),y] = 0 \quad \forall x,y \in I$$
(3.10)

Putting -x instead of x in (3.10), then adding the new relation with relation (3.10), since char $R \neq 2$, we get

$$[B(x,x),y] + 2[B(x,y),x] = 0 \quad \forall \ x,y \in I$$
(3.11)

Let y = yz in (3.11), since char $R \neq 2$, we get

$$B(x,y)[z,x] + [y,x]B(x,z) = 0 \quad \forall \ x,y,z \in I$$
(3.12)

Let y = x in (3.12), so we get

$$B(x,x)[z,x] = 0 \quad \forall \ x,z \in I$$
(3.13)

Since I is the right ideal of R, we put zr instead of $z, r \in R$ in (3.13), then using (3.13), we get

$$B(x,x)z[r,x] = 0 \quad \forall \ x, z \in I, \ \forall \ r \in R$$

$$(3.14)$$

Since I is the right ideal of R, then relation (3.14) becomes

$$B(x,x)IR[r,x] = 0 \quad \forall \ x \in I, \ \forall \ r \in R$$

$$(3.15)$$

Since R is a prime ring, so for each $x \in I$ either B(x, x)I = 0 or [r, x] = 0 for all $r \in R$. If B(x, x)I = 0, then B(x, x) = 0. If [r, x] = 0 for all $r \in R$, then $x \in Z(R)$. So, for each $x \in I$ either $x \in Z(R)$ or B(x, x) = 0. If $x \notin Z(R)$, so B(x, x) = 0.

Let $t, y \in I$ such that $t \in Z(R)$ and $y \notin Z(R)$ so $t + y \notin Z(R)$ and $t - y \notin Z(R)$. So B(y, y) = 0 and B(t + y, t + y) = 0 and B(t - y, t - y) = 0.

Using the last two relations, we get 2B(t,t) = 0 and since char $R \neq 2$, so B(t,t) = 0. Hence B(x,x) = 0 for all $x \in I$, by Lemma 4, we have B = 0, so by definition of G, we get

$$G(xy, z) = G(x, z)y \quad \forall x, y, z \in R$$

Hence the symmetric generalized biderivation is a left bimultiplier of R, and the theorem is proved.

Theorem 3.2. Let $U \neq (0)$ be a Lie ideal of a prime ring R, such that $char R \neq 2$, $x^2 \in U$ for all $x \in U$ and $U \not\subseteq Z(R)$. Let $G : R \times R \to R$ be a symmetric generalized biderivation of R defined by a symmetric biderivation B of R. If [G(x, x), x] = 0 for all $x \in U$, then G is a left bimultiplier of R.

Proof. We have

$$[G(x,x),x] = 0 \quad \forall \ x \in U \tag{3.16}$$

$$U \not\subseteq Z(R) \tag{3.17}$$

$$x^2 \in U \quad \forall \ x \in U \tag{3.18}$$

Putting x + y instead of x in (3.16), then using (3.16), we get

$$[G(x,x),y] + [G(y,y),x] + 2[G(x,y),x] + 2[G(x,y),y] = 0 \quad \forall x,y \in U$$
(3.19)

Putting -x instead of x, then adding the relation we obtained with relation (3.19), since char $R \neq 2$, we get

$$[G(x,x),y] + 2[G(x,y),x] = 0 \quad \forall \ x,y \in U$$
(3.20)

From (3.18):

$$xy + yx = (x+y)^2 - x^2 - y^2 \in U \quad \forall \ x, y \in U$$
(3.21)

Since U is Lie ideal, so:

$$xy - yx \in U \quad \forall \ x, y \in U \tag{3.22}$$

Adding (3.21) and (3.22), we get $2xy \in U$ for all $x, y \in U$. Let y = 2yx in (3.20), so:

$$\begin{split} & [G(x,x),2yx]+2[G(x,2yx),x]=0 \quad \forall \; x,y \in U \\ & 2y[G(x,x),x]+2[G(x,x),y]x+4[G(x,y)x+yB(x,x),x]=0 \end{split}$$

From (3.16), the last relation becomes:

$$2[G(x,x),y]x + 4[G(x,y),x]x + 4y[B(x,x),x] + 4[y,x]B(x,x) = 0 \quad \forall x,y \in U$$

Since char $R \neq 2$ and using (3.20), so the last relation becomes:

$$y[B(x,x),x] + [y,x]B(x,x) = 0 \quad \forall \ x,y \in U$$
(3.23)

Let y = 2zy in (3.23), $z \in U$, we get:

$$2zy[B(x,x),x] + [2zy,x]B(x,x) = 0 \quad \forall \ x,y,z \in U$$

Then:

$$2zy[B(x,x),x] + 2z[y,x]B(x,x) + 2[z,x]yB(x,x) = 0 \quad \forall \ x,y,z \in U.$$

Since char $R \neq 2$, and using (3.23), so:

$$[z, x]yB(x, x) = 0 \quad \forall x, y, z \in U$$

$$(3.24)$$

From (3.17), (3.24) and Lemma 5, we get

For each
$$x \in U$$
 either $B(x, x) = 0$ or $[z, x] = 0 \quad \forall z \in U$ (3.25)

Then, if $x \notin Z(U) : B(x, x) = 0$.

Let $t, y \in U$ such that $t \in Z(U)$ and $y \notin Z(U)$, so $t + y \notin Z(U)$ and $t - y \notin Z(U)$, so B(y, y) = 0, B(t + y, t + y) = 0 and B(t - y, t - y) = 0, from the last two relations, we get 2B(t, t) = 0, and since $char R \neq 2$, so B(t, t) = 0.

Then B(x,x) = 0 for all $x \in U$, from Lemma 6(a) either $U \subseteq Z(R)$ or B(x,x) = 0 for all $x \in R$. But $U \nsubseteq Z(R)$, so B(x,x) = 0 for all $x \in R$, then B = 0. So G(xy,z) = G(x,z)y for all $x, y, z \in R$. Hence G is left bimultiplier of R. This completes the proof.

Theorem 3.3. Let R be a prime ring that $char R \neq 2$, let $U \neq (0)$ be a Lie ideal of R such that $U \not\subseteq Z(R)$ and $x^2 \in U$ for all $x \in U$. Suppose that $G : R \to R$ is a generalized biderivation defined by a symmetric biderivation $B : R \times R \to R$. If G(x, y) = [x, y] for all $x, y \in U$. Then G is a left bimultiplier of R.

Proof. We have

$$G(x,y) = [x,y] \quad \forall \ x,y \in U \tag{3.26}$$

From relation (3.18), (3.21) and (3.22) in the proof of Theorem 3.2 we defined that $2xy \in U$ for all $x, y \in U$. Putting 2xy instead of x in (3.1), since char $R \neq 2$, so

$$G(x,y)y + xB(y,y) = [x,y]y \quad \forall \ x,y \in U$$

$$(3.27)$$

From (3.26) and (3.27)

$$xB(y,y) = 0 \quad \forall \ x, y \in U \tag{3.28}$$

Putting $[x, y] \in U$ instead of x in (3.28), $r \in R$, we get

$$[x, r]B(y, y) = 0 \quad \forall \ x, y \in U, \ \forall \ r \in R$$

$$(3.29)$$

Let r = rs in (3.29), $s \in R$, we get

$$[x,r]sB(y,y) = 0 \quad \forall \ x,y \in U, \ \forall \ r,s \in R$$

$$(3.30)$$

Since R is a prime ring, so by (3.30) either [x, r] = 0 for all $x \in U$ and all $r \in R$, or B(y, y) = 0 for all $y \in U$. But $U \not\subseteq Z(R)$, so B(y, y) = 0 for all $y \in U$. From Lemma 6 (a), we find that B = 0 on R.

So, G(xy, z) = G(x, z)y, for all $x, y, z \in R$, i.e. G is a left bimultiplier of R, and the proof is complete.

Theorem 3.4. Let I be a nonzero left ideal of a prime ring R such that $char R \neq 2$. Suppose that $G : R \times R \to R$ is a symmetric generalized biderivation defined by a symmetric biderivation B. If G(x, y) = [x, y] for all $x, y \in I$, then G is a left bimultiplier of R.

Proof. We have G(x, y) = [x, y] for all $x, y \in I$. Putting x instead of y, we get G(x, x) = 0 for all $x \in I$. Linearizing the last relation, we get G(x, x) + G(y, y) + 2G(x, y) = 0 for all $x, y \in I$. Hence

$$G(x,y) = 0 \quad \forall \ x,y \in I \tag{3.31}$$

By (3.31) and the assumption of the theorem, we get [x, y] = 0 for all $x, y \in I$, so I is commutative and hence R is commutative by Lemma 3.

Let x = xy in (3.31), we get

$$G(x, y)y + xB(y, y) = 0 (3.32)$$

By (3.31) and (3.32), we get xB(y, y) = 0 for all $x, y \in I$.

Since R is a commutative prime ring, so the right annihilator of left ideal I in R is zero, hence B(y, y) = 0 for all $y \in I$. By Lemma 7, B = 0. Hence G is left bimultiplier of R, and the proof is complete.

4. Generalized Jordan biderivation

Lemma 4.1. Let R be a 2-torsion free ring. Suppose that $J : R \times R \to R$ is a generalized Jordan biderivation defined by a biderivation $B : R \times R \to R$. Then for all $x, y, z \in R$, the following axioms hold:

(i) J(xy + yx, z) = J(x, z)y + J(y, z)x + xB(y, z) + yB(x, z),

(ii)
$$J(xyx,z) = J(x,z)yx + xB(y,z) + xyB(x,z)$$

(iii)
$$J(xyw + wyx, z) = J(x, z)yw + J(w, z)yx + xB(y, z)w + xyB(w, z) + wB(y, z)x + wyB(x, z)yw + yB(y, z)y$$

(iv)
$$(J(xy,z) - J(x,z)y - xB(y,z))[x,y] = 0.$$

Proof. (i) Since J is a generalized Jordan biderivation, so

$$J(x^2, z) = J(x, z)x + xB(x, z) \quad \forall \ x, z \in R$$

$$(4.1)$$

Let x = x + y in (4.1), we get

$$J(x^2 + y^2 + xy + yx, z) = J(x, z)x + J(x, z)y + J(y, z)x + J(y, z)y + xB(x, z) + xB(y, z) + yB(x, z) + yB(y, z) + yB($$

From (4.1), the last relation becomes

$$J(xy + yx, z) = J(x, z)y + J(y, z)x + xB(y, z) + yB(x, z)y$$

so (i) holds.

(ii) Putting xy + yz instead of y in (4.1), we get

$$\begin{array}{lll} J(x(xy+yx)+(xy+yx)x,z) &=& J(x,z)(xy+yx)+J(xy+yx,z)x+xB(xy+yx,z)+(xy+yx)B(x,z)\\ &=& J(x,z)xy+J(x,z)yx+(J(x,z)y+J(y,z)x+xB(y,z)+yB(x,z))x\\ && +x(B(x,z)y+xB(y,z)+B(y,z)x+yB(x,z))\\ && +xyB(x,z)+yxB(x,z)\\ &=& J(x,z)xy+J(x,z)yx+J(x,z)yx+J(y,z)x^2+xB(y,z)x+yB(x,z))x\\ && +xB(x,z)y+x^2B(y,z)+xB(y,z)x+2xyB(x,z)+yxB(x,z) \end{array}$$

On the other hand

$$\begin{array}{lll} J(x(xy+yx)+(xy+yx)x,z) &=& J(x^2y+2xyx+yx^2,z)\\ &=& J(x^2y+yx^2,z)+2J(xyx,z)\\ &=& J(x^2,z)y+J(y,z)x^2+x^2B(y,z)+yB(x^2,z)+2J(xyx,z)\\ &=& J(x,z)xy+xB(x,z)y+J(y,z)x^2+x^2B(y,z)+yB(x,z)x+yxB(x,z)\\ &+& 2J(xyx,z) \end{array}$$

Combining the last two relations, we get

$$2J(xyx,z) = 2J(x,z)yx + 2xB(y,z)x + 2xyB(x,z)$$

Since R is 2-torsion free, so

$$J(xyx, z) = J(x, z)yx + xB(y, z)x + xyB(x, z)$$

(iii) Replacing x + w for x in (ii), we get

$$\begin{aligned} J((x+w)y(x+w),z) &= & J(x,z)yx + J(x,z)yw + J(w,z)yx + J(w,z)yw + xB(y,z)x + xB(y,z)w \\ &+ & wB(y,z)x + wB(y,z)w + xyB(x,z) + xyB(w,z) + wyB(x,z) + wyB(w,z) \end{aligned}$$

Application of (ii) yields that

$$J(xyw + wyx, z) = J(x, z)yw + J(w, z)yx + xB(y, z)w + wB(y, z)x + xyB(w, z) + wyB(x, z)w + yB(y, z)w$$

Hence (iii) holds.

(iv) Replacing xy for w in (iii), we get

$$J(xy(xy) + (xy)yx, z) = J(x, z)y(xy) + J(xy, z)yx + xB(y, z)xy + xyB(y, z)x + xyB(xy, z) + (xy)yB(x, z) + yB(y, z)x + xyB(y, z)x + xyB(xy, z) + (xy)yB(x, z) + yB(y, z)x + xyB(y, z)x + xyB(xy, z) + (xy)yB(x, z) + yB(y, z)x + xyB(xy, z) + (xy)yB(x, z) + yB(y, z)x + xyB(xy, z) + (xy)yB(x, z) + yB(xy, z) +$$

On the other hand

Combining the last two relations, we get

$$\begin{split} J(x,z)y(xy) + J(xy,z)yx + xB(y,z)xy - J(xy,z)xy - J(x,z)y(yx) - xB(y,z)yx &= 0 \\ J(x,z)y[x,y] - J(xy,z)[x,y] + xB(y,z)[x,y] &= 0, \end{split}$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$(J(xy,z) - J(x,z)y - xB(y,z))[x,y] = 0$$

which completes the proof.

From now on, we use the abbreviation $J_z^{(x,y)} = J(xy,z) - J(x,z)y - xB(y,z)$, for simplicity.

Lemma 4.2. Let R be a 2-torsion free ring. Suppose that $J : R \times R \to R$ is a generalized Jordan biderivation defined by a biderivation $B : R \times R \to R$. Then for all $x, y, w, z \in R$, we have the following.

(i) $J_z^{(x,y)} = -J_z^{(y,x)}$,

(ii)
$$J_z^{(x,y+w)} = J_z^{(x,y)} + J_z^{(x,w)}$$
,

(iii) $J_z^{(x+y,w)} = J_z^{(x,w)} + J_z^{(y,w)}$.

Proof. Using Lemma 4.3, one can prove the above axioms.

Lemma 4.3. $J_z^{(x,y)}r[x,y] = 0 \quad \forall x, y, z, r \in R$

Proof. Consider w = xyryx + yxrxy, then for all $z \in R$, we get

$$\begin{array}{rcl} J(w,z) &=& J(xyryx+yxrxy,z) \\ &=& J(x(yry)x+y(xrx)y,z) \\ &=& J(x(yry)x,z)+J(y(xrx)y,z) \end{array}$$

Using Lemma 4.1(ii), we get

$$\begin{array}{lll} J(w,z) &=& J(x,z)yryx + xB(yry,z)x + xyryB(x,z) + J(y,z)xrxy + yB(xrx,z)y + yxrxB(y,z) \\ &=& J(x,z)yryx + xB(y,z)ryx + xyB(r,z)yx + xyrB(y,z)x + xyryB(x,z) + J(y,z)xrxy \\ &+& yB(x,z)rxy + yxB(r,z)xy + yxrB(x,z)y + yxrxB(y,z). \end{array}$$

By Lemma 4.1(iii), we obtain

$$\begin{array}{lll} J(w,z) &=& J((xy)r(yx) + (yx)r(xy),z) \\ &=& J(xy,z)ryx + J(yx,z)rxy + xyB(r,z)yx + xyrB(yx,z) + yxB(r,z)xy + yxrB(xy,z) \\ &=& J(xy,z)ryx + J(yx,z)rxy + xyB(r,z)yx + xyrB(y,z)x + xyryB(x,z) \\ &+& yxB(r,z)xy + yxrB(x,z)y + yxrxB(y,z). \end{array}$$

From the above two relations, we get

$$(J(xy,z) - J(x,z)y - xB(y,z))ryx + (J(yx,z) - J(y,z)x - yB(x,z))rxy = 0$$

Thus,

$$J_z^{(x,y)}ryx+J_z^{(y,x)}rxy=0 ~~\forall~x,y,z,r\in R$$

Applying Lemma 4.2(i), we get

$$J_z^{(x,y)}ryx - J_z^{(x,y)}rxy = 0 \quad \forall r, x, y, z \in R.$$

Hence $J_z^{(x,y)}r[x,y] = 0 \quad \forall \ r, x, y, z \in R.$

Theorem 4.1. Let R be a non-commutative prime ring such that char $R \neq 2$. Suppose that $J : R \times R \to R$ is a generalized Jordan biderivation defined by a biderivation B. Then J is a generalized biderivation.

Proof. From Lemma 4.3, we have

$$J_z^{(x,y)}r[x,y] = 0 \quad \forall \ r, x, y, z \in R$$

$$(4.2)$$

Putting y + w instead of y in (4.2), we get

$$J_z^{(x,y+w)}r[x,y+w] = 0 \quad \forall \ r, x, y, w, z \in R$$

$$(4.3)$$

Using Lemma 4.2 (ii), relation (4.3) becomes

$$\begin{split} (J_z^{(x,y)} + J_z^{(x,w)})r([x,y] + [x,w]) &= 0, \\ J_z^{(x,y)}r[x,y] + J_z^{(x,y)}r[x,w] + J_z^{(x,w)}r[x,y] + J_z^{(x,w)}r[x,w]) &= 0 \end{split}$$

By Lemma 4.3, the last relation becomes

$$\begin{aligned} J_{z}^{(x,y)}r[x,w] + J_{z}^{(x,w)}r[x,y] &= 0 \quad \forall \ r,x,y,w,z \in R \\ (J_{z}^{(x,y)}r[x,w])s(J_{z}^{(x,y)})r[x,w]) &= -(J_{z}^{(x,w)}r[x,y])s(J_{z}^{(x,w)}r[x,w]) \\ &= -J_{z}^{(x,w)}(r[x,y])sJ_{z}^{(x,y)}r)[x,w] \\ &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

Since R is a prime ring, so

$$J_z^{(x,y)}r[x,w] = 0 \quad \forall \ r, x, y, w, z \in R$$

$$(4.5)$$

Replacing x + v for x in (4.5), we get

$$J_z^{(x+v,y)}r[x+v,w] = 0 \quad \forall \ r,x,y,v,w,z \in R$$

By Lemma 4.2(iii), we get

$$(J_z^{(x,y)} + J_z^{(v,y)}r([x,w] + [v,w]) = 0$$

that is

$$J_{z}^{(x,y)}r[x,w] + J_{z}^{(x,y)}r[v,w] + J_{z}^{(v,y)}r[x,w] + J_{z}^{(v,y)}r[v,w] = 0$$

By (4.5), the last relation becomes

$$J_{z}^{(x,y)}r[v,w] + J_{z}^{(v,y)}r[x,w] = 0 \quad \forall \ r, x, y, v, w, z \in R$$
(4.6)

Then

$$(J_{z}^{(x,y)}r[v,w])s(J_{z}^{(x,y)})r[v,w]) = -(J_{z}^{(v,y)}r[x,w])s(J_{z}^{(x,y)}r[v,w]) = -J_{z}^{(v,y)}(r[x,w])sJ_{z}^{(x,y)}r)[v,w] = 0.$$

Since R is a prime ring, so

$$J_z^{(x,y)}r[v,w] = 0 \quad \forall \ r, x, y, v, w, z \in R$$

$$(4.7)$$

Since R is a non-commutative prime ring, so from (4.7) $J_z^{(x,y)} = 0$ for all $x, y, z \in R$, i.e.

$$J(xy,z) = J(x,z)y + xB(y,z) \quad \forall x,y,z \in R.$$

Similarly, we can prove that J(z, xy) = J(z, x)y + xB(z, y). Hence J is a generalized biderivation, as required.

References

- Argac, N. and Yenigul M.S. : Lie ideals and symmetric biderivations of prime rings, Pure and Applied Math. Sci. XLIV No. 1-2 (1996) 17-21.
- [2] Ashraf, M. Rehman, N. : On Jordan generalized derivations in rings, Math. J. Okayama Univ. 42 (2000) 7-9.

- [3] Bergen, J., Herstein, I.N. and Kerr, J.W. : Lie ideals and derivations of prime rings, J. Algebra 71 (1981) 259-267.
- [4] Bresar, M.: On generalized biderivations and related maps, J. Algebra 172 (1995) 764-786.
- [5] Herstein, I.N.: Rings with Invoution, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1976.
- [6] Hvala, B.: Generalized derivations in rings, Comm. in Algebra 26(4) (1998) 1147-1166.
- [7] Muthana, N.M.: Rings endowed with biderivations and other biadditive mappings, Ph.D. Dessertation, Girls College of Education in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia, 2005.
- [8] Yenigul M.S. and Argac, N. : Ideals and symmetric biderivations of prime and semiprime rings, Math. J. Okayama Univ. 35 (1993) 189-192.
- [9] Zalar, B.: On centralizers of semiprime rings, Comment Math. Univ. Carolina 32(4) (1991) 609-614.

The Aligarh Bull. of Maths. Volume 26, No. 2, 2007

$[w]^{L}_{\sigma,\lambda}$ ASYMPTOTICALLY STATISTICAL EQUIVALENT SEQUENCES.

Selma Altundağ and Metin Başarir

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, 54187, Sakarya, TURKEY E-mail: scaylan@sakarya.edu.tr , basarir@sakarya.edu.tr

(Received August 14, 2007)

Abstract. This paper presents new definitions which are a natural combination of the definition for asymptotically equivalence and $[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}$ - statistically convergence. Using these definitons, we have proved the $st - [w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^{L}$ - asymptotically equivalence analogues of Mursaleen's theorems in [9].

1. Introduction

Let l_{α} and c be the Banach spaces of bounded and convergent sequences $x = (x_k)$ with the usual norm $\|x\| = \sup_{k} |x_k|$. A sequence $x = (x_k) \in l_{\alpha}$ is said to be almost convergent of all of its Banach limits coincide. Let \hat{c} denote the space of all almost convergent sequences. Lorentz [6] proved that

$$\hat{c} = \left\{ x \in l_{\alpha} : \lim_{m} d_{mn}(x) \text{ exists uniforly in } n \right\}$$

where

$$d_{mn}(x) = \frac{x_n + x_{n+1} + \dots + x_{n+m}}{m+1}$$

The space $[\hat{c}]$ is of strongly almost convergent sequences was introduced by Maddox [7] as follows:

$$[\hat{c}] = \left\{ x \in l_{\alpha} : \lim_{m} d_{mn}(|x - le|) \text{ exists uniforly in } n \text{ for some } l \in \Box \right\}$$

where $e = (1, 1, \dots)$.

Let σ be one-to-one mapping of the set of positive integers into itself such that $\sigma^k(n) = \sigma(\sigma^{k-1}(n))$, $k = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$. A continuous linear functional ϕ on l_{α} is said to be an invariant mean or a σ - mean if and only if

- (1) $\phi \ge 0$ when the sequence $x = x(x_n)$ has $x_n \ge 0$ for all n
- (2) $\phi(e) = 1$ where $e = (1, 1, \dots)$ and
- (3) $\phi(x_{\sigma(n)}) = \phi(x)$ for all $x \in l_{\alpha}$

For a certain kinds of mapping σ every invariant mean ϕ extends the limit functional on space c, in the sense that $\phi(x) = \lim x$ for all $x \in c$. Consequently, $c \subset V_{\alpha}$ where V_{α} is the bounded sequences all of whose σ - means are equal.

It can be shown [15] that

$$V_{\sigma} = \left\{ x \in l_{\alpha} : \lim_{k} l_{\alpha}(x) = Le \text{ uniforly in } m \text{ for some } L = \sigma - \lim_{k} x \right\}$$

The paper was supported by Sakarya University Research Fund with Project Number 2006.50.02.048

Keywords and phrases : Asymptotic equivalence, statistical convergence, invariant means, de la Vallee-Poussin means. AMS Subject Classification : 40B05, 40H05.

where

$$l_{km}(x) = \frac{x_m + x_{\sigma(m)} + \dots + x_{\sigma^k(m)}}{k+1}$$

We say that a bounded sequence $x = (x_k)$ is σ -convergent if and only if $x \in V_{\sigma}$ such that $\sigma^k(m) \neq m$ for all $m \ge 0, k \ge 1$.

In [10] Mursaleen, Gaur and Chishti introduced the following sequence space, which is generalized the sequence space [w] of Das and Sahoo [2]

$$[w]_{\sigma} = \left\{ x = (x_k) : \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{\sigma} |t_{km}(x-L)| \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty, \text{ uniformly in } m \text{ for some } L \right\}$$

where

$$t_{km}(x) = \frac{x_m + x_{\sigma(m)} + \dots + x_{\sigma^k(m)}}{k+1}$$

We may introduce that the space $(C_2)_{\sigma}$ is defined by

$$(C_2)_{\sigma} = \left\{ x = (x_k) : \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{\sigma} (t_{k0}(x) - L) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty, \text{ for some } L \right\}$$

and the space $[C_2]_{\sigma}$ is defined by

$$[C_2]_{\sigma} = \left\{ x = (x_k) : \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{\sigma} |t_{k0}(x) - L| \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty, \text{ for some } L \right\}$$

It is clear that the following inclusion relation holds: $[w]_{\sigma} \subset [C_2]_{\sigma} \subset (C_2)_{\sigma}$

Let Λ denote the set of all non-decreasing sequences $\lambda = (\lambda_n)$ of positive numbers tending to α such that $\lambda_{n+1} \leq \lambda_n + 1$ and $\lambda_1 = 1$. The generalized de la Vallee-Poussin mean is defined by

$$t_n = \frac{1}{\lambda_n} \sum_{k \in l_n} x_k$$

where $l_n = [n - \lambda_n + 1, n]$.

A sequence $x = (x_k)$ is said to be (V, λ) - summable to a number L (see [5]) if

$$t_n(x) \to L \text{ as } n \to \infty$$

We write

$$[V,\lambda] = \left\{ x = (x_n) : \exists L \in \Box, \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{\lambda_n} \sum_{k \in l_n} |x_k - L| = 0 \right\}$$

for the sets of sequences $x = (x_k)$ which are strongly (V, λ) - summable to L, i.e. $x_k \to L[V, \lambda]$.

The idea of statistical convergence was introduced by Fast [3] and studied by various authors (see [1], [4], [12]). A sequence $x = (x_k)$ is said to be statistically convergent to the number L if for every $\epsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{1}{n}\mid \{k\leq n:\mid x_k-L\mid\geq\epsilon\}\mid=0$$

where the vertical bars indicate the number of elements in the enclosed set. In this case, we write $S - \lim x = L$ or $x_k \to L(S)$ and S denotes the set of all statistically convergent sequences.

A sequence $x = (x_k)$ is said to be λ - statistically convergent or S_{λ} - convergent to L if for every $\epsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \mid \{k \in l_n : \mid x_k - L \mid \geq \epsilon\} \mid = 0$$

where the vertical bars indicate the number of elements in the enclosed set. In this case, we write $S - \lim x = L$ or $x_k \to L(S)$ and S denotes the set of all statistically convergent sequences. A sequence $(x = x_{\sigma})$ is said to be λ - statistically convergent or S_L - convergent to L if for every $\epsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{\lambda_n} \mid \{k \in I_n : \mid x_k - L \mid \geq \epsilon\} \mid = 0$$

In this case, we write $S_{\lambda} - \lim x = L$ or $x_k \to L(S_{\lambda})$ and the set of these sequences is denoted by S_{λ} . (see, [9]). If we take $\lambda_n = n$, then we have $S_{\lambda} = S$.

In 1993 Marouf [8] presented definitions for asymptotically equivalent sequences and asymptotic regular matrices. In 2003, Patterson [11] extend these concepts by presenting an asymptotically statistically equivalent analog of these definitions and natural regularity conditions for non-negative summability matrices. E. Savaş [13] presented the definition which is a natural combination of the definitions for asymptotically equivalent and λ - statistically convergence. In [14] R. Savaş and Başarir presented the definition which is a natural combination of the definitions for asymptotically equivalent, λ - statistically convergence and σ - convergence. In this paper, we define and study $st - [w]_{\sigma,\lambda}$ - asymptotically equivalent of multiple L. In addition to these definitions, natural inclusion theorems shall also be presented.

2. Definitions and Notations

Definition 2.1 (Marouf [8]). Two non-negative sequences x, y are said to be asymptotically equivalent if

$$\lim_k \frac{x_k}{y_k} = 1$$

(denoted by $x \Box y$).

Definition 2.2 (Patterson [11]). Two non-negative sequences x, y are said to be asymptotically statistical equivalent of multiple L provided that for every $\epsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ k \le n : \left| \frac{x_k}{y_k} - L \right| \ge \epsilon \right\} \right| = 0$$

(denoted by $x \[\square]{}^{S_L} y$) and simply asymptotically statistical equivalent, if L = 1.

Definition 2.3. A sequence $x = x_n$ is said to be $[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}$ - statistically convergent or $st - [w]_{\sigma,\lambda}$ - convergent to L if for every $\epsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{\lambda_n} \left| \{ k \in l_n : |t_{km}(x) - L| \ge \epsilon \} \right| = 0$$

uniformly in $m = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$. In this case, we write $st - [w]_{\sigma,\lambda} - \lim x = L$ or $x_k \to L(st - [w]_{\sigma,\lambda})$. We denote the set of these sequences by $st - [w]_{\sigma,\lambda}$.

Definition 2.4. A sequence $x = x_n$ is said to be $[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}$ - convergent to L if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{\lambda_n} \sum_{k \in l_n} |t_{km}(x) - L| = 0$$

uniformly in $m = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$. In this case, we write $[w]_{\sigma,\lambda} - \lim x = L$ or $x_k \to L[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}$. We denote the set of these sequences by $[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}$.

Following this definitions which are given above, we shall now introduce following new notions $[w]_{\sigma}$ - asymptotically equivalence, $M - [w]_{\sigma}^{L}$ - asymptotically equivalent of multiple L, $st - [w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^{L}$ - asymptotically equivalent of multiple L and $[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^{L}$ - asymptotically equivalent of multiple L.

Definition 2.5. Two non-negative sequences x, y are said to be $[w]_{\sigma}$ - asymptotically equivalent if

$$\lim_{k} \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} = 1$$

uniformly in $m = 1, 2, 3, \dots$, where $t_{km}(x) = \frac{x_m + x_{\sigma(m)} + \dots + x_{\sigma^k(m)}}{k+1}$ (denoted by $x \overset{[w]_{\sigma}}{\Box} y$).

Definition 2.6. Two non-negative sequences x, y are $st - [w]_{\sigma}^{L}$ - asymptotically equivalent of multiple L provided that for every $\epsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ k \le n : \left| \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right| \ge \epsilon \right\} \right| = 0$$

uniformly in $m = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$ (denoted by $x \overset{st-[w]_{\sigma}^{L}}{\Box} y$) and simply $[w]_{\sigma}$ - asymptotically statistical equivalent, if L = 1.

Definition 2.7. Two non-negative sequences x, y are $(C_2)^L_{\sigma}$ - asymptotically equivalent of multiple L provided that for every $\epsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \left[\frac{t_{k0}(x)}{t_{k0}(y)} - L \right] = 0$$

(denoted by $x \overset{(C_2)_{\sigma}^L}{\Box} y$) and simply $(C_2)_{\sigma}$ - asymptotically equivalent, if L = 1.

Definition 2.8. Two non-negative sequences x, y are $[C_2]^L_{\sigma}$ - asymptotically equivalent of multiple L provided that for every $\epsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \left| \frac{t_{k0}(x)}{t_{k0}(y)} - L \right| = 0$$

(denoted by $x \overset{[C_2]^L_{\sigma}}{\Box} y$) and simply $[C_2]_{\sigma}$ - asymptotically equivalent, if L = 1.

Definition 2.9. Two non-negative sequences x, y are $st - [w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^{L}$ - asymptotically equivalent of multiple L provided that for every $\epsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{\lambda_0} \left| \left\{ k \in I_n : \left| \frac{t_{\lambda m}(x)}{t_{\lambda m}(y)} - L \right| \ge \epsilon \right\} \right| = 0$$

uniformly in $m = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$ (denoted by $x \overset{st-[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^L}{\square} y$) and simply $st - [w]_{\sigma,\lambda}$ - asymptotically equivalent, if L = 1.

Definition 2.10. Two non-negative sequences x, y are $[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^{L}$ - asymptotically equivalent of multiple L provided that for every $\epsilon > 0$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{\lambda_n} \sum_{k \in I_n} \left| \frac{t_{\lambda m}(x)}{t_{\lambda m}(y)} - L \right| = 0$$

uniformly in $m = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$ (denoted by $x \overset{[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^L}{\Box} y$) and simply $[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}$ - asymptotically equivalent, if L = 1.

If we take $\sigma(n) = n + 1$ then $[w]_{\sigma}$ - asymptotically equivalence, $st - [w]_{\sigma}^{L}$ - asymptotically equivalence, $st - [w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^{L}$ - asymptotically equivalence and $[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^{L}$ - asymptotically equivalence reduce [w] asymptotically equivalence, $\overset{\Box}{st} - [w]^{L}$ - asymptotically equivalence, $\overset{\Box}{st} - [w]_{\lambda}^{L}$ - asymptotically equivalence and $[w]_{\lambda}^{L}$ - asymptotically equivalence; respectively.

The following theorems are the analogue of [9] and [14].

3. Main Result

Theorem 3.1. Let $\lambda \in \Lambda$, then

- (i) If $x \overset{[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^L}{\Box} y$ then $x \overset{st-[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^L}{\Box} y$.
- (ii) If $x, y \in l_{\infty}$ and $x \overset{st-[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^{L}}{\Box} y$ then $x \overset{[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^{L}}{\Box} y$ and hence $x \overset{(C_{2})_{\sigma}^{L}}{\Box} y$.
- $\text{(iii)} \ x \overset{st-[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^L}{\square} y \cap l_\infty = x \overset{[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^L}{\square} y \cap l_\infty.$

Proof. (i) If $\epsilon > 0$ and $x \overset{[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^L}{\Box} y$ then

$$\sum_{k \in I_n} \left| \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right| \ge \sum_{\substack{k \in I_n \\ \left| \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right| \ge \epsilon}} \left| \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right| \ge \epsilon \left| \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right| \ge \epsilon \right|$$

Therefore $x \overset{st-[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^L}{\Box} y$.

(ii) Suppose x, y are in l_{∞} and $x \overset{st-[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^L}{\Box} y$. Then we can assume that

$$\left| \frac{t_{\lambda m}(x)}{t_{\lambda m}(y)} - L \right| \le M \text{ for all } k \text{ and } m$$

Given $\epsilon > 0$

$$\frac{1}{\lambda_n} \sum_{k \in I_n} \left| \begin{array}{c} \frac{t_{\lambda m}(x)}{t_{\lambda m}(y)} - L \right| = \frac{1}{\lambda_n} \sum_{\substack{k \in I_n \\ \left| \frac{t_{\lambda m}(x)}{t_{\lambda m}(y)} - L \right| \ge \epsilon} \\ \left| \frac{t_{\lambda m}(x)}{t_{\lambda m}(y)} - L \right| \ge \epsilon \end{array} \quad \left| \begin{array}{c} \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \\ \left| \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right| \ge \epsilon \end{array} \right| \\
\leq \frac{M}{\lambda_n} \left| \left\{ k \in I_0 : \left| \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right| \ge \epsilon \right\} \right| + \epsilon \\ \\ \left[w \right]_{\sigma,\lambda}^L$$

Therefore $x \square^{[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}} y$.

Further, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \left(\frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right) &= \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{n-\lambda_0} \left(\frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right) + \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k\in I_n} \left(\frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\lambda_n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-\lambda_n} \left| \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right| + \frac{1}{\lambda_n} \sum_{k\in I_n} \left| \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right| \\ &\leq \frac{2}{\lambda_n} \sum_{k=0} \left| \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right| \end{aligned}$$

Since uniform convergence of $\frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \left(\frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right)$ with respect to m as $n \to \infty$ implies convergence

for m = 0, it follows that $x \overset{[C_2]^L_{\sigma}}{\Box} y$. (iii) This immediately follows from (i) and (ii).

Theorem 3.2. $x \stackrel{st-[w]^L_{\sigma}}{\Box} y$ implies $x \stackrel{st-[w]^L_{\sigma,\lambda}}{\Box} y$ if

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \inf_{n \to \infty} \frac{\lambda_n}{n} > 0 \tag{3.2}$$

Proof. For given $\epsilon > 0$ we have

$$\left\{k \le n : \left|\frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L\right| \ge \epsilon\right\} \supset \left\{k \in I_n : \left|\frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L\right| \ge \epsilon\right\}$$

Therefore

$$\frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ k \le n : \left| \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right| \ge \epsilon \right\} \ge \frac{1}{n} \left| \left\{ k \in I_n : \left| \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right| \ge \epsilon \right\} \right| = \frac{\lambda_n}{n} \frac{1}{\lambda_n} \left| \left\{ k \in I_n : \left| \frac{t_{km}(x)}{t_{km}(y)} - L \right| \ge \epsilon \right\} \right|.$$

Taking the limit as $n \to \infty$ and using (3.2), we get desired result.

References

- [1] Connor, J.S.: The statistical and strong p-Cesaro convergence of sequences, Analysis, 8 (1988) 47-63.
- [2] Das, G.S. and Sahoo K. : On Some Sequence Spaces, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 164 (1992) 381-398.
- [3] Fast, H.: Sur la convergence statistique, Colloq. Math., 2 (1951) 241-244.
- [4] Fridy, J.A.: On statistical convergence, Analysis, 5 (1985) 301-313.
- [5] Leindler, L. : ber de la Vale Pounsische Summierbarkeit allgemeiner Orthogonalreihen, Acta Math. Acad. Sci. Hung., 16 (1965) 375-378.
- [6] Lorentz, G.G.: A contribution to the theory of divergent sequences, Acta Math., 80 (1948) 167-190.
- [7] Maddox, I.J.: Spaces of strongly summable sequences, Quart. J. Math., 18 (1967) 345-355.
- [8] Marouf, M.: Asymptotic equivalence and summability, Int. J. Math. Sci., 16 (4) (1993) 755-762.
- [9] Mursaleen : λ statistical convergence, Math. Slovaca, 50 (1) (2000) 111-115.
- [10] Mursaleen, Gaur A.K. and Chishti, T.A. : On some new sequence spaces of invariant means, Acta Math. Hungar., 75 (3) (1997) 209-214.

- [11] Patterson, R.F. : On asymptotically statistically equivalent sequences, Demonstratio Math., 36 (1) (2003) 149-153.
- [12] Salat, T.: On statistically convergent sequences of real numbers, Math. Slovaca, 30 (1980) 139-150.
- [13] Savaş, E. : On asymptotically λ statistical equivalent sequences, (In Press).
- [14] Savaş, R. and Başarir, M. : $(sigma, \lambda)$ asymptotically statistical equivalent sequences, Filomat, 20:1 (2006) 35-42.
- [15] Schaefer, P.: Infinite matrices and invariant means, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 36 (1972) 104-110.

GENERALIZED CR-SUBMANIFOLDS OF A NEARLY TRANS-SASAKIAN MANIFOLD

*Rajendra Prasad, *Amit Kumar Rai and **M.M. Tripathi

*Department of Mathematics, University of Allahabad, Allahabad 211002, U.P., India E-mail: amit_patwadh@radiffmail.com

**Department of Mathematics & Astronomy, University of Lucknow, Lucknow 226017, India

(Received October 10, 2007, revised January 15, 2008)

Abstract. In this paper we study the generalized CR-submanifolds of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold and obtain their basic properties. We generalize the results of trans-Sasakian manifold and find integrability conditions of distributions of generalized CR-submanifolds of nearly trans-Sasakian manifolds.

1. Introduction and Preliminaries

Bejancu [2] defined and studied CR-submanifolds of Kaehlerian manifolds. CR-submanifolds of Sasakian manifold were studied by Kobayashi [6]. Bejancu and Papaghiuc [3] defined almost semi-invariant submanifold of Sasakian manifold. In 1985, Oubina [9] studied a new class of almost contact Riemannian manifold known as trans-Sasakian manifold which generalizes both α -Sasakian and β -Kenmotsu structures. Sengupta and De, [11], Shahid [14] and Ojha [10] studied generalized CR-submanifolds of a Nearly Trans-Sasakian Manifold, generic submanifolds and almost semi-invariant manifolds of trans-Sasakian manifold. Mihai [9] introduced a new class of submanifolds called "Generalized CR-submanifolds" of a Kaehler manifold. This class contains both CR-submanifolds and slant submanifolds.

The purpose of the present paper is to study the generalized CR-submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold.

Let \overline{M} be a (2n+1)-dimensional contact metric manifold with almost contact metric structure (ϕ, ξ, η, g) , where ϕ is a tensor field of type (1,1), ξ is a vector field, η a 1-form and g is a Riemannian metric on \overline{M} such that

$$\phi^2 = -I + \eta \otimes \xi, \qquad \eta(\xi) = 1, \qquad \phi\xi = 0, \quad \eta \circ \phi = 0 \tag{1.1}$$

and

$$g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) - \eta(X)\eta(Y) \tag{1.2}$$

and

$$g(X,\xi) = \eta(X) \tag{1.3}$$

for all vector fields X, Y on \overline{M} .

On such a manifold we may define a fundamental 2-form by

$$\Phi(X,Y) = g(\phi X,Y) = -g(X,\phi Y) \tag{1.4}$$

Keywords and phrases : Generalized CR-submanifold, nearly trans-Sasakian manifolds, trans-Sasakian manifold, distribution, submanifold.

AMS Subject Classification : 53C40.

An almost contact metric structure $(\phi,\xi,\eta,g),$ on \overline{M} is called trans-Sasakian if and only if

$$(\overline{\nabla}_X \phi)Y = \alpha(g(X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X) + \beta(g(\phi X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)\phi X)$$
(1.5)

for X, Y tangent to \overline{M} , where α and β are non zero constants and $\overline{\nabla}$ is the Riemannian connection with respect to g.

From (1.5) it follows that

$$\overline{\nabla}_X \xi = -\alpha \phi X + \beta (X - \eta(X)\xi$$
(1.6)

for any vector X tangent to \overline{M} .

2. Nearly trans-Sasakian manifold and generalized CR-submanifold

An almost contact metric manifolds \overline{M} with almost contact metric structure is called nearly trans-Sasakian if

$$(\overline{\nabla}_X \phi)Y + (\overline{\nabla}_Y \phi)X = \alpha(2g(X,Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y) -\beta(\eta(Y)\phi X + \eta(X)\phi Y)$$
(2.1)

It is clear that any trans-Sasakian manifold is nearly trans-Sasakian.

From equation (2.1), we have

$$(\overline{\nabla}_X \phi)\xi + (\overline{\nabla}_\xi \phi)X = \alpha(2g(X,\xi)\xi - \eta(\xi)X - \eta(X)\xi)$$
$$-\beta(\eta(\xi)\phi X + \eta(X)\phi\xi)$$
$$= \alpha(2\eta(X)\xi - X - \eta(X)\xi) - \beta\phi X$$
$$= \alpha(\eta(X)\xi - X) - \beta\phi X$$
$$= -\alpha(X - \eta(X)\xi) - \beta\phi X$$

Thus

$$\overline{\nabla}_{\xi}\phi X - \phi(\overline{\nabla}_X\xi + \overline{\nabla}_{\xi}X) = -\alpha\phi^2 X - \beta\phi X$$

If ξ is killing vector field then

$$\overline{\nabla}_X \xi = -\phi X$$

and we have

$$(\overline{\nabla}_{\xi}\phi X - \phi\overline{\nabla}_{\xi}X) = (1-\alpha)\phi^2 X - \beta\phi X$$

or,

$$(\overline{\nabla}_{\xi}\phi)X = (1-\alpha)\phi^2 X - \beta\phi X.$$
(2.2)

In the case of trans-Sasakian manifold,

$$(\overline{\nabla}_{\xi}\phi)X = 0$$

Let M be an m-dimensional submanifold isometrically immersed in a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} such that the structure vector field ξ of \overline{M} is tangent to the submanifold M. We denote by $\{\xi\}$ the 1-dimensional distribution spanned by ξ on M and $\{\xi\}^{\perp}$ the complementary orthogonal distribution to $\{\xi\}$ in TM. Let us denote by same g the Riemannian metric tensor field induced on M from that of \overline{M} .

For any $X \in TM$, we have

$$g(\phi X, \xi) = 0, \ \phi X = bX + cX$$
 (2.3)

where $bX \in \{\xi\}^{\perp}$ and $cX \in T^{\perp}M$. Thus $X \longrightarrow bX$ is an endomorphism of the tangent bundle T(M) and $X \longrightarrow cX$ is a normal bundle valued 1-form on M.

Definition 2.1. A *m*-dimensional Riemannian submanifold M of nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} is called a CR-submanifold if ξ is tangent to M and there exists a differentiable distribution $D: x \in M \longrightarrow D_x \subset T_x M$ such that

(i) the distribution is invariant under ϕ , that is, $\phi D_x \subset D_x$ for each $x \in M$,

(ii) the complementary orthogonal distribution $D^{\perp} : x \in M \longrightarrow D_x^{\perp} \subset T_x M$ of D is anti-invariant under ϕ , that is, $\phi D_x^{\perp} \subset T_x^{\perp} M$ for all $x \in M$, where $T_x M$ and $T_x^{\perp} M$ are the tangent space and the normal space of M at x, respectively.

If, dim $D_x^{\perp} = 0$ (resp., dim $D_x = 0$), then the CR-submanifold is called an invariant (resp., antiinvariant) submanifold.

Definition 2.2. A submanifold M of an almost contact metric manifold \overline{M} with almost contact metric structure (ϕ, ξ, η, g) is said to be a generalized CR-submanifold if

$$D_x^{\perp} = T_x(M) \cap \phi T_x^{\perp}(M), \ x \in M$$

$$(2.4)$$

defines a differentiable subbundle of $T_x(M)$. Thus for $X \in D^{\perp}$ one has bX = 0. We denote by D the complementary orthogonal subbundle to $D^{\perp} \oplus \{\xi\}$ in TM. For any $X \in D$, $bX \neq 0$. Also we have bD = D.

Thus for a generalized CR-submanifold M we have the orthogonal decomposition

$$T(M) = D \oplus D^{\perp} \oplus \{\xi\}$$

Let $\overline{\nabla}(\text{resp.}, \nabla)$ be the Riemannian connection on $\overline{M}(\text{resp.}, M)$ with respect to Riemannian metric g. Let ∇^{\perp} is a connection on $T^{\perp}(M)$ induced by $\overline{\nabla}$.

The Gauss and Weingarten formulas for M, are respectively, given by

$$\overline{\nabla}_X Y = \nabla_X Y + h(X, Y) \tag{2.5}$$

and

$$\overline{\nabla}_X N = -A_N X + \nabla_X^{\perp} N \tag{2.6}$$

for $X, Y \in TM$ and $N \in T^{\perp}M$, where h is the second fundamental form of M and A_N is the fundamental tensor with respect to normal section N. These tensor fields are related by

$$g(h(X,Y),N) = g(A_N X,Y)$$
(2.7)

for $X, Y \in TM$ and $N \in T^{\perp}M$.

Proposition 2.3. Let \overline{M} be a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold, then we have

$$(\overline{\nabla}_{\phi X}\phi)Y = 2ag(\phi X, Y)\xi - \alpha\eta(Y)\phi X + \beta\eta(Y)X - \beta\eta(X)\eta(Y)\xi$$

$$-\eta(X)\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\xi + \phi(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)X + \eta(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}X)\xi - Y\eta(X)\xi$$
(2.8)

for $X, Y \in T\overline{M}$.

Proof. From the definition of nearly trans-Sasakian manifold

$$(\overline{\nabla}_{\phi X}\phi)Y + (\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)\phi X = a(2g(\phi X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)\phi X - \eta(\phi X)Y) -\beta(\eta(Y)\phi^{2}X + \eta(\phi X)\phi Y) = \alpha(2g(\phi X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)\phi X) -\beta(-\eta(Y)X + \eta(Y)\eta(X)\xi)$$

$$(2.9)$$

Now

$$(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)\phi X = \overline{\nabla}_{Y}(\phi^{2}X) - \phi(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi X)$$

$$= \overline{\nabla}_{Y}(-X + \eta(X)\xi) - \phi\left[(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)X + \phi(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}X)\right]$$

$$= -\overline{\nabla}_{Y}X + \eta(X)\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\xi - \phi((\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)X) - \phi^{2}(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}X) + (\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\eta(X))\xi$$

$$= -\overline{\nabla}_{Y}X + \eta(X)\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\xi - \phi((\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)X) + \overline{\nabla}_{Y}X - \eta(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}X)\xi + (\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\eta(X))\xi$$

$$= \eta(X)\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\xi - \eta(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}X)\xi - \phi((\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)X) + (\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\eta(X))\xi$$

$$= \eta(X)\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\xi - \eta(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}X)\xi - \phi((\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)X) + Y\eta(X))\xi$$

$$(2.10)$$

Using equation (2.9) and (2.10), we get the result.

On a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} , Nijenhuis tensor is given by

$$N_{\phi}(X,Y) = (\overline{\nabla}_{\phi X}\phi)Y - (\overline{\nabla}_{\phi Y}\phi)X - \phi((\overline{\nabla}_{X}\phi)Y + \phi(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)X$$
(2.11)

for $X, Y \in T\overline{M}$.

From equation (2.8) and (2.11) we have

$$N_{\phi}(X,Y) = 4\alpha g(\phi X,Y) - \alpha \eta(Y)\phi X + \alpha \eta(X)\phi Y + \beta \eta(Y)X - \beta \eta(X)Y$$
$$-\eta(X)\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\xi + \eta(Y)\overline{\nabla}_{X}\xi - \eta(\overline{\nabla}_{X}Y)\xi + \eta(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}X)\xi$$
$$+X\eta(Y) - Y\eta(X) + 2\phi(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)(X) - 2\phi(\overline{\nabla}_{X}\phi)(Y)$$

Using equation (2.1), we get

$$\begin{split} N_{\phi}(X,Y) &= 4\alpha g(\phi X,Y)\xi - \alpha \eta(Y)\phi X + \alpha \eta(X)\phi Y + \beta \eta(Y)X \\ &-\beta \eta(X)Y - \eta(X)\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\xi + \eta(Y)\overline{\nabla}_{X}\xi + 2d\eta(X,Y)\xi \\ &+ 2\phi(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)(X) - 2\phi(\alpha(2g(X,Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X) \\ &-\eta(X)Y) - \beta(\eta(X)\phi Y + \eta(Y)\phi X - (\nabla_{Y}\phi)X)) \\ &= 4\alpha g(\phi X,Y)\xi - \alpha \eta(Y)\phi X + \alpha \eta(X)\phi Y + \beta \eta(Y)X \\ &-\beta \eta(X)Y - \eta(X)\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\xi + \eta(Y)\overline{\nabla}_{X}\xi + 2d\eta(X,Y)\xi \\ &+ 4\phi(\nabla_{Y}\phi)(X) + 2\alpha \eta(Y)\phi X + 2\alpha \eta(X)\phi Y \\ &+ 2\beta \eta(X)\phi^{2}Y + 2\beta \eta(Y)\phi^{2}X \\ &= 4\alpha g(\phi X,Y)\xi + \alpha \eta(Y)\phi X + 3\alpha \eta(X)\phi Y - \beta \eta(Y)X \\ &- 3\beta \eta(X)Y - \eta(X)\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\xi + \eta(Y)\overline{\nabla}_{X}\xi + 4\beta \eta(X)\eta(Y)\xi \\ &+ 2d\eta(X,Y)\xi + 4\phi(\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)X, \text{ for } X,Y \in T \overline{M} \end{split}$$

3. Some important lemmas

Let M be a generalized CR-submanifold of the nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} . We denote by g both the Riemannian metrics on \overline{M} and M.

For each $X \in T(M)$, we can write

$$X = PX + QX + \eta(X)\xi \tag{3.1}$$

where PX and QX belong to the distribution D and D^{\perp} , respectively.

Also,

$$\xi = P\xi + Q\xi + \eta(\xi)\xi, \ P\xi = Q\xi = 0$$
(3.2)

and $\eta o P = \eta o Q = 0$.

For any $N \in T_x^{\perp}(M)$, we can take

$$\phi N = tN + fN \tag{3.3}$$

where tN is the tangential part of ϕN and fN is the normal part of ϕN .

Let $X \in D_x^{\perp}$ and $Y \in D_x$, then by equation (1.2)

$$g(\phi X, cY) = g(\phi X, bY + cY) = g(\phi X, \phi Y) = g(X, Y) = 0$$

Hence we have

$$g(\phi D_x^\perp, D_x) = 0 \tag{3.4}$$

Let V be the orthogonal complementary vector bundle to $\phi D^{\perp} \oplus cD$ in $T^{\perp}M$. Thus we have

$$T^{\perp}M = \phi D^{\perp} \oplus cD \oplus V \tag{3.5}$$

Lemma 3.1. The endomorphism t and f satisfy

$$t(\phi D^{\perp}) = D^{\perp}$$
 and $tX(cD) \subset D$

Proof. For $X \in D^{\perp}$ and $Y \in D$,

$$g(t\phi X, Y) = g(t\phi X + f\phi X, Y) = g(\phi^2 X, Y) = g(-X + \eta(X)\xi, Y) = -g(X, Y) = 0$$

Also

$$g(t\phi X,\xi) = g(\phi^2 X,\xi) = g(-X + \eta(X)\xi,\xi) = -g(X,\xi) + \eta(X) = -\eta(X) + \eta(X) = 0$$
 therefore, $t(\phi D^{\perp}) \subset D^{\perp}$.
For $X \in D^{\perp}$, we have

which shows that $-X = t\phi X$. So, $D^{\perp} \subset t(\phi D^{\perp})$. Hence, $t(\phi D^{\perp}) = D^{\perp}$. Let $X \in TM$ then

$$\phi X = bX + cX$$

 $-X = \phi^2 X = t\phi X + f\phi X$

where $bX \in TM$, $cX \in T^{\perp}M$ and $\phi X \perp \xi$. From (3.3), we have

$$\phi(cX) = t(cX) + f(cX) \tag{3.6}$$

If $x \in D_x$, then it is clear from (2.3) and (3.6) that $t(cD) \subset D$.

Lemma 3.2. Let M be a generalized CR-submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} . Then we have

$$P(\nabla_X bPY + \nabla_Y bPX - A_{cPY}X - A_{cPX}Y - A_{\phi QY}X - A_{\phi QX}Y) - (bP\nabla_X Y - bP\nabla_Y X + 2Pth(X,Y))$$
$$= -\alpha\eta(X)PY - \alpha\eta(Y)PX - \beta\eta(Y)PbX - \beta\eta(X)PbY$$
(3.7)

$$Q(\nabla_X bPY + \nabla_Y bPX - A_{cPY}X - A_{cPX}Y - A_{\phi QY}X - A_{\phi QX}Y) - 2Qth(X,Y)$$

= $-\alpha\eta(X)QY - \alpha\eta(Y)QX - \beta\eta(Y)QbX - \beta\eta(X)QbY$ (3.8)

$$\eta(\nabla_X bPY + \nabla_Y bPX - A_{cPY}X - A_{cPX}Y - A_{\phi QY}X - A_{\phi QX}Y)$$

= $2\alpha g(X, Y) - \beta \eta(X)\eta(bY) - \beta \eta(Y)\eta(bY)$ (3.9)

$$h(X, bPY) + h(Y, bPX) + \nabla_X^{\perp} cPY + \nabla_Y^{\perp} cPX + \nabla_X^{\perp} \phi QY + \nabla_Y^{\perp} \phi QX$$

 $-cP\nabla_X Y - cP\nabla_Y X - \phi Q\nabla_X Y - \phi Q\nabla_Y X - 2fh(X,Y) = -\beta\eta(X)cY - \beta\eta(Y)cX$ (3.10) for $X, Y \in TM$.

Proof. For $X, Y \in TM$, by using equations (2.1), (3.1) (3.3) and (2.3), we have

$$(\overline{\nabla}_{X}\phi)Y + (\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)X = \alpha(2g(X,Y)\xi - \eta(X)Y - \eta(Y)X$$

$$-\beta(\eta(Y)\phi X + \eta(X)\phi Y$$

$$= \alpha(2g(X,Y)\xi - \eta(X)PY - \eta(X)QY$$

$$-\eta(Y)PX - \eta(Y)QX) - \beta(\eta(Y)bX$$

$$+\eta(Y)cX + \eta(X)bY + \eta(X)cY$$

$$= \alpha(2g(X,Y)\xi - \eta(X)PY - \eta(X)QY$$

$$-\eta(Y)PX - \eta(Y)QX) - \beta(\eta(Y)PbX$$

$$+\eta(Y)QbX + \eta(Y)\eta(bX)\xi + \eta(X)PbY$$

$$+\eta(X)QbY + \eta(X)\eta(bY)\xi$$

$$+\eta(Y)cX + \eta(X)cY)$$

(3.11)

Consider

$$\begin{split} (\overline{\nabla}_X \phi) Y + (\overline{\nabla}_Y \phi) X &= \overline{\nabla}_X (\phi Y) - \phi(\overline{\nabla}_X Y) + \overline{\nabla}_Y (\phi X) - \phi(\overline{\nabla}_Y X) \\ &= \nabla_X b P Y + h(X, b P Y) - A_{cPY} X + \nabla_X^{\perp} c P Y \\ &- A_{\phi QY} X + \nabla_X^{\perp} \phi Q Y - b P \nabla_X Y - c P \nabla_X Y \\ &- \phi Q \nabla_X Y - 2 P t h(X, Y) - 2 Q t h(X, Y) \\ &- 2 f h(X, Y) + \nabla_Y b P X + h(Y, b P X) - A_{cPX} Y \\ &+ \nabla_Y^{\perp} c P X - A_{\phi QX} Y - b P \nabla_Y X + \nabla_Y^{\perp} \phi Q X \\ &- c P \nabla_Y X - \phi Q \nabla_Y X \end{split}$$

(3.12)

$$= P(\nabla_X bPY + \nabla_Y bPX - A_{cPY}X - A_{cPX}Y - A_{\phi QY}X - A_{\phi QY}X) + Q(\nabla_X bPY + \nabla_Y bPX - A_{cPY}X - A_{cPX}Y) + Q(\nabla_X bPY + \nabla_Y bPX - A_{cPY}X) - A_{\phi QY}X - A_{\phi QX}Y) + \eta(\nabla_X bPY + \nabla_Y bPX - A_{cPY}X) + A_{cPX}Y - A_{\phi QY}X - A_{\phi QX}Y) - (bP\nabla_X Y + bP\nabla_Y X) + 2Pth(X, Y) - 2Qth(X, Y) + (h(X, bPY)) + \nabla_X^{\perp}cPY) + \nabla_X^{\perp}\phi QY - 2fh(X, Y) + h(Y, bPX) + \nabla_Y^{\perp}cPX + \nabla_Y^{\perp}\phi QX - cP\nabla_X Y - cP\nabla_Y X - \phi Q\nabla_X Y - \phi Q\nabla_Y X)$$

we obtain (3.11) and (3.12). Moreover,

$$P(\nabla_X bPY + \nabla_Y bPX - A_{cPY}X - A_{cPX}Y - A_{\phi QY}X - A_{\phi QX}Y) + Q(\nabla_X bPY + \nabla_Y bPX - A_{cPY}X - A_{cPX}Y - A_{\phi QY}X - A_{\phi QX}Y) + \eta(\nabla_X bPY + \nabla_Y bPX - A_{cPY}X - A_{cPX}Y - A_{\phi QY}X - A_{\phi QX}Y)\xi - (bP\nabla_X Y + bP\nabla_Y X + 2Pth(X, Y) - 2Qth(X, Y) + (h(X, bPY) + \nabla_X^{\perp} cPY + \nabla_X^{\perp} \phi QY - 2fh(X, Y) + (h(X, bPX) + \nabla_Y^{\perp} cPX + \nabla_Y^{\perp} \phi QX - cP\nabla_X Y - cP\nabla_Y X - \phi Q\nabla_X Y - \phi Q\nabla_Y X$$

$$= \alpha(2g(X, Y)\xi - \eta(X)PY - \eta(X)QY - \eta(Y)PX - \eta(Y)QX) - \beta\eta(Y)bPX + \eta(Y)QbX + \eta(Y)\eta(bX)\xi + \eta(X)PbY + \eta(X)QbY + \eta(X)\eta(bY)\xi + \eta(Y)cX + \eta(X)cY$$

By Equating the components of each the vector bundles $D, D^{\perp}, \{\xi\}$, and $T^{\perp}M$, respectively, we get equation (3.7), (3.8), (3.9) and (3.10), respectively.

Lemma 3.3. Let M be a CR-submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} then,

$$2(\overline{\nabla}_X \phi)Y = \nabla_X \phi Y - \nabla_Y \phi X + h(X, \phi Y) - h(Y, \phi X)$$

$$-\phi[X, Y] + \alpha(2g(X, Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X)$$

$$-\eta(X)Y) - \beta(\eta(Y)\phi X + \eta(X)\phi Y)$$

(3.14)

for any $X, Y \in TM$. **Proof.** Using Gauss formula, we have

$$\overline{\nabla}_X \phi Y = \nabla_X \phi Y + h(X, \phi Y) \tag{3.15}$$

$$\overline{\nabla}_Y \phi X = \nabla_Y \phi X + h(Y, \phi X) \tag{3.16}$$

$$(\overline{\nabla}_{X}\phi Y) - (\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi X) = (\overline{\nabla}_{X}\phi)Y + \phi\overline{\nabla}_{X}Y - (\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)X - \phi\overline{\nabla}_{Y}X$$

$$= (\overline{\nabla}_{X}\phi)Y - (\overline{\nabla}_{Y}\phi)X + \phi[\overline{\nabla}_{X}Y - \overline{\nabla}_{Y}X],$$
(3.17)

For Riemannian connection, we have

$$\overline{\nabla}_X Y - \overline{\nabla}_Y X = [X, Y] \overline{\nabla}_X \phi Y - \overline{\nabla}_Y \phi X = (\overline{\nabla}_X \phi) Y - (\overline{\nabla}_Y \phi) X + \phi[X, Y]$$
(3.18)

From equations (3.17) and (3.18), we have

$$(\overline{\nabla}_X \phi)Y - (\overline{\nabla}_Y \phi)X = \nabla_X \phi Y + h(X, \phi Y) - \nabla_Y \phi X - h(Y, \phi X) - \phi[X, Y]$$
(3.19)

For nearly trans-Sasakian manifold, we know that

$$(\overline{\nabla}_X\phi)Y - (\overline{\nabla}_Y\phi)X = \alpha(2g(X,Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y) - \beta(\eta(Y)\phi X + \eta(X)\phi Y$$
(3.20)

Adding equations (3.19) and (3.20), we get

$$2(\overline{\nabla}_X\phi)Y = \alpha(2g(X,Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y) - \beta(\eta(Y)\phi X + \eta(X)\phi Y) + \nabla_X\phi Y - \nabla_Y\phi X + h(X,\phi Y) - h(Y,\phi X) - \phi[X,Y]$$

Corollary 3.4. Let M be a generalized CR-submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} , then

$$2(\overline{\nabla}_X\phi)Y = \nabla_X\phi Y - \nabla_Y\phi X + h(X,\phi Y) - h(Y,\phi X) - \phi[X,Y] + 2\alpha g(X,Y)\xi$$
(3.21)

for any $X, Y \in D$.

Proof. In this case $\eta(X) = 0$, $\eta(Y) = 0$, and result follows directly from Lemma 3.3.

Lemma 3.5. Let M be CR-submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold, then we have

$$2(\overline{\nabla}_X\phi)Y = A_{\phi X}Y - A_{\phi Y}X + \nabla_X^{\perp}\phi Y - \nabla_Y^{\perp}\phi X - \phi[X,Y] +\alpha(2g(X,Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y) - \beta(\eta(Y)\phi X + \eta(X)\phi Y$$
(3.22)

for any $X, Y \in D^{\perp}$.

Corollary 3.6. Let M be a generalized CR-submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold, then we have

$$2(\overline{\nabla}_X\phi)Y = A_{\phi X}Y - A_{\phi Y}X + \nabla_X^{\perp}\phi Y - \nabla_Y^{\perp}\phi X - \phi[X,Y] - 2\alpha g(X,Y)\xi$$
(3.23)

for $X, Y \in D^{\perp}$.

Lemma 3.7. Let M be a generalized CR-submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} , then

$$2(\overline{\nabla}_X\phi)Y = -A_{\phi Y}X + \nabla_X^{\perp}\phi Y - \nabla_Y\phi X - h(Y,\phi X) - \phi[X,Y]$$
(3.24)

for $X \in D$ and $X \in D^{\perp}$.

Lemma 3.8. Let M be a CR-submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} , then we have

$$2(\overline{\nabla}_{X}\phi)Y = -A_{\phi Y}X + \nabla_{X}^{\perp}\phi Y - \nabla_{Y}\phi Y - h(Y,\phi X)$$

$$-\phi[X,Y] + \alpha(2g(X,Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X)$$

$$-\eta(X)Y) - \beta(\eta(Y)\phi X + \eta(X)\phi Y)$$

(3.25)

for $X \in D$ and $Y \in D^{\perp}$.

4. Parallel distributions

Definition 4.1. The horizontal (respectively, vertical) distribution D(respectively, D^{\perp}) is said to be parallel [11] with respect to connection ∇ on M if $\nabla_X Y \in D$ (respectively, $\nabla_Z V \in D^{\perp}$) for any vector fields $X, Y \in D$ (resp., $V, Z \in D^{\perp}$). Also ϕ is called D-commutative with respect to h if $h(X, \phi Y) = h(\phi X, Y)$.

Lemma 4.2. Let M be a generalized CR-submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} . If the horizontal distribution D is parallel, then

$$h(X,\phi Y) = h(Y,\phi X) = \phi h(X,Y)$$
(4.1)

for all $X, Y \in D$.

Proof. Using parallism of horizontal distribution D. we have

$$abla_X \phi Y \in D, \qquad \nabla_Y \phi X \in D \text{ for any } X, Y \in D$$

Using the fact that QX = QY = 0 for $X, Y \in D$, equation (3.8) gives

$$th(X,Y) = 0$$
 for any $X, Y \in D$

Since $\phi h(X, Y) = th(X, Y) + fh(X, Y)$,

$$\phi h(X,Y) = fh(X,Y) \tag{4.2}$$

From equation (3.10), we have

$$h(X,\phi Y) + h(Y,\phi X) = 2fh(X,Y)$$
(4.3)

While from (4.2) and (4.3), we have

$$h(X,\phi Y) + h(Y,\phi X) = 2\phi h(X,Y)$$
 (4.4)

Replacing X by ϕX in equation (4.4), we get

$$h(\phi X, \phi Y) - h(Y, X) = 2\phi h(\phi X, Y)$$

$$(4.5)$$

Again, replacing Y by ϕY in equation (4.4), we get

$$-h(X,Y) + h(\phi X,\phi Y) = 2\phi h(X,\phi Y)$$

$$(4.6)$$

From equation (4.5) and (4.6), we have

$$\phi h(\phi X, Y) = \phi h(X, \phi Y)$$

which shows that $h(\phi X, Y) = h(X, \phi Y)$. Also from equation (4.5), we have

$$h(\phi X, Y) = h(X, \phi Y) = \phi h(X, Y)$$

Here ϕ is D-commutative with respect to h.

Lemma 4.3. Let M be generalized CR-submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} . If the distribution D^{\perp} is parallel with respect to connection on M, then we have

$$(A_{\phi X}Y + A_{\phi Y}X) \in D^{\perp}$$
 for any $X, Y \in D^{\perp}$

Proof. Using the definition of nearly trans-Sasakian manifold, we have

$$(\overline{\nabla}_X\phi)Y + (\overline{\nabla}_Y\phi)X = \alpha(2g(X,Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X - \eta(X)Y) - \beta(\eta(Y)\phi X + \eta(X)\phi Y)$$

Let $X, Y \in D^{\perp}$, then using Gauss and Weingarten formula, we have

$$(\overline{\nabla}_X \phi)Y - \phi(\overline{\nabla}_X Y) + (\overline{\nabla}_Y \phi X) - \phi(\overline{\nabla}_Y X) = \alpha(2g(X,Y)\xi - A_{\phi Y}X) + \nabla_X^{\perp} \phi Y - A_{\phi X}Y + \nabla_Y^{\perp} \phi Y - \phi(\nabla_X Y) - \phi(\nabla_Y X) - 2\phi h(X,Y)$$

 $= \alpha(2g(X,Y)\xi)$

$$(A_{\phi X}Y + A_{\phi Y}X) = \phi \nabla_X Y + \phi \nabla_Y X + 2\phi h(X,Y) + 2\alpha g(X,Y)\xi$$

$$(4.7)$$

Taking inner product with $Z \in D$ in (4.7), we obtain

$$g(A_{\phi X}Y,Z) + g(A_{\phi Y}X,Z) = g(\phi \nabla_X Y,Z) + g(\phi \nabla_Y X,Z)$$

$$(4.8)$$

If distribution D^{\perp} is parallel, then

$$abla_X Y \in D^\perp, D_Y X \in D^\perp \ \forall X, Y \in D^\perp$$

So from equation (4.8)

$$g(A_{\phi X}Y,Z) + g(A_{\phi Y}X,Z) = 0, \quad g(A_{\phi X}Y + A_{\phi Y}X,Z) = 0, \quad \text{for every } Z \in D$$

$$\tag{4.9}$$

If we take inner product with ξ in equation (4.7), we get

$$g(A_{\phi X}Y + A_{\phi Y}X, \xi) = 0 \tag{4.10}$$

From (4.9) and (4.10) we have

$$A_{\phi X}Y + A_{\phi Y}X \in D^{\perp}$$

which proves the result.

Definition 4.4. A generalized CR-submanifold is said to be mixed totally geodesic if h(X, Z) = 0 for all $X \in D$ and $Z \in D^{\perp} \oplus \xi$.

Lemma 4.5. Let M be a CR-submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} , then M is mixed total geodesic iff $A_N X \in D$, for all $X \in D$.

Proof. Let $X \in D$ and $Y \in D^{\perp}$, then from $g(h(X,Y), N) = g(A_NX,Y)$, M is mixed totally geodesic. Also h(X,Y) = 0 and $g(A_NX,Y) = 0$ which show that $A_NX \in D$ for all $X \in D$.

Definition 4.6. A normal vector field $N \neq 0$ is called D parallel normal vector, if $\nabla_X^{\perp} N = 0$ for all $X \in D$.

Lemma 4.7. Let M be a mixed totally geodesic generalized submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} . Then the normal section $N \in \phi D^{\perp}$ is D-parallel iff $\nabla_X \phi N \in D$ for all $X \in D$. **Proof.** Let $N \in \phi D^{\perp}$, then from (3.8) we have

$$Q(\nabla_Y \phi X) = 0$$
 for any $X \in D, Y \in D^{\perp}$

We have also

 $Q(\nabla_Y X) = 0$

By using it in (3.10), we get

$$\nabla_X^{\perp} \phi Q Y = \phi Q Y \nabla_X Y \text{ or } \nabla_X^{\perp} N = -\phi Q \nabla_X \phi N$$
(4.11)

If the normal section $M \neq 0$ is *D*-parallel, then using above definition and equation (4.11), we get $Q\phi(\nabla_X\phi N) = 0$, which shows that $\nabla_X\phi N \in D$ for all $X \in D$.

Similarly converse part follows from (4.11).

5. Integrability conditions of distributions

Theorem 5.1. Let M be a generalized CR-submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} , then

$$A_{\phi Y}Z - A_{\phi Z}Y = \frac{1}{3}\phi P[Y, Z]$$
(5.1)

for $Y, Z \in D^{\perp}$. **Proof.** For $Y, Z \in D^{\perp}$ and $X \in TM$. Consider

$$\begin{aligned} 2g(A_{\phi Z}Y,X) &= 2g(h(X,Y),\phi Z) \\ &= g(h(X,Y),\phi Z) + g(h(X,Y),\phi Z) \\ &= g(\overline{\nabla}_X Y,\phi Z) + g(\overline{\nabla}_Y X,\phi Z) \\ &= g(\overline{\nabla}_X Y + \overline{\nabla}_Y X,\phi Z) \\ &= -g(\phi(\overline{\nabla}_X Y + \overline{\nabla}_Y X),Z) \\ &= -g(\overline{\nabla}_X \phi Y + \overline{\nabla}_Y \phi X - (\overline{\nabla}_X \phi)Y - (\overline{\nabla}_Y \phi)X,Z)) \\ &= -g(\overline{\nabla}_X \phi Y + \overline{\nabla}_Y \phi X - \alpha(2g(X,Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X) \\ &-\eta(X)Y) + \beta(\eta(Y)\phi X + \eta(X)\phi Y,Z) \end{aligned}$$

Using equation (4.1), we have

 $2g(A_{\phi Z}Y,X) = -g(\overline{\nabla}_X\phi Y + \overline{\nabla}_Y\phi X - 2\alpha g(X,Y)\xi - \alpha\eta(X)Y,Z)$ as $\eta(Y) = \eta(Z) = 0, \ g(\phi X,Z) = g(\phi Y,Z) = 0.$ Now

$$\begin{split} 2g(A_{\phi Z}Y,X) &= -g(\overline{\nabla}_X\phi Y,Z) - g(\overline{\nabla}_Y\phi X,Z) - \alpha\eta(X)g(Y,Z) \\ &= -g(\overline{\nabla}_X\phi Y,Z) + g(\overline{\nabla}_Y Z,\phi X) - \alpha\eta(X)g(Y,Z) \\ &= g(A_{\phi Y}X,Z) + g(\overline{\nabla}_Y Z,\phi X) - \alpha\eta(X)g(Y,Z) \\ &= g(A_{\phi Y}Z,X) - g(\phi\overline{\nabla}_Y Z),X) - \alpha g(Y,Z)g(\xi,X) \end{split}$$

This equation is true for all $X \in TM$ and elimination of vector field X from both sides leads to

$$2A_{\phi Z}Y = A_{\phi Y}Z - \phi(\overline{\nabla}_Y Z) - \alpha g(Y, Z)\xi$$
(5.2)

for $Y, Z \in D^{\perp}$. Interchanging Y and Z, we get

$$2A_{\phi Y}Z = A_{\phi Z}Y - \phi(\overline{\nabla}_Z Y) - \alpha g(Z, Y)\xi.$$
(5.3)

Subtracting (5.2) from (5.3), we get

$$3A_{\phi Y}Z - 3A_{\phi Z}Y = -\phi[\overline{\nabla}_Z Y - \overline{\nabla}_Y Z] - \phi[Z, Y] - \phi[Z, Y] = \phi P[Y, Z]$$

so that

$$A_{\phi Y}Z - A_{\phi Z}Y = \frac{1}{3}\phi P[Y, Z]$$
(5.4)

Theorem 5.2. Let M be a generalized CR-submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} , then the distribution D^{\perp} is integrable iff

$$A_{\phi Y}Z = A_{\phi Z}Y \tag{5.5}$$

for any $Y, Z \in D^{\perp}$

Proof. Let the distribution D^{\perp} is integrable then $[Y, Z] \in D^{\perp}$, for every $Y, Z \in D^{\perp}$. So P[Y, Z] = 0. Thus from equation (5.4), we get (5.5).

Conversely suppose $A_{\phi Y}Z = A_{\phi Z}Y$, then from equation (5.4)

 $\phi P[X,Y] = 0$ which means that P[X,Y] = 0, and thus

 $[X,Y] \in D^{\perp}$, for every $Y, Z \in D^{\perp}$

Hence D^{\perp} is integrable.

Theorem 5.3. Let M be generalized CR-submanifold of a trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} , the we have

$$A_{\phi X}Y = A_{\phi Y}X$$
, for every $X, Y \in D^{\perp}$

Proof. Let $Z \in TM$, using equation (2.5), (2.6) and (1.5), we get

$$g(A_{\phi X}Y,Z) = g(h(Y,Z),\phi X) = g(\nabla_Z Y - \nabla_Z Y,\phi X)$$

$$= g(\overline{\nabla}_Z Y,\phi X)$$

$$= -g(\phi\overline{\nabla}_Z Y,X)$$

$$= -g(\overline{\nabla}_Z \phi Y - (\overline{\nabla}_Z \phi)Y,X)$$

$$= -g(\overline{\nabla}_Z \phi Y - \alpha(g(X,Y)\xi - \eta(Y)X))$$

$$-\beta(g(\phi X,Y)\xi - \eta(Y)\phi X,X))$$

$$= -g(\overline{\nabla}_Z \phi Y,X) = g(\phi Y,\overline{\nabla}_Z X)$$

Since $g(\phi Y, X) = 0$, for every $X, Y \in D^{\perp}$, we have

$$Zg(\phi Y, X) = 0$$

This means that

$$g(\overline{\nabla}_Z \phi Y, X) + g(\phi Y, \overline{\nabla}_Z X) = 0$$

so that

$$g(\nabla_Z \phi Y, X) = -g(\phi Y, \nabla_Z X) = g(h(Z, X), \phi Y) = g(h(X, Z), \phi Y) = g(A_{\phi Y} X, Z)$$

Thus,

$$g(A_{\phi X}Y - A_{\phi Y}X, Z) = 0$$

or,

$$A_{\phi X}Y - A_{\phi Y}X = 0$$
 which shows that $A_{\phi X}Y = A_{\phi Y}X$.

Hence the theorem is proved.

Theorem 5.4. Let M be a generalized CR-submanifold of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold \overline{M} . Then the distribution D^{\perp} is always involutive.

Proof. From Theorems 4.2 and 4.3, we have

$$\phi P[X,Y] = 0$$
, for every $X, Y \in D^{\perp}$
 $bP[X,Y] = 0$, for every $X, Y \in D^{\perp}$

as b is automorphism of D.

Thus P[X,Y] = 0, for every $X, Y \in D^{\perp}$. Hence D^{\perp} is involutive.

Theorem 5.5. Let M be a generalized CR-submanifold of a nearly trans- Sasakian manifold \overline{M} . Then the distribution D is integrable if

$$T(X,Y) \in D$$
 and $h(X,\phi Y) = h(\phi X,Y)$

for any $X, Y \in D$.

Proof. The torsion tensor T(X, Z) of the almost contact structure (ϕ, ξ, η, g) is given by

$$T(X,Z) = N_{\phi}(X,Z) + 2d\eta(X,Z)\xi = N_{\phi}(X,Z) + 2d\eta(X,Z)\xi$$
(5.6)

or,

$$T(X,Z) = [\phi X,\phi Z] - \phi[\phi X,Z] - \phi[X,\phi Z] + \phi^2[X,Y] + 2d\eta(X,Y)\xi$$
(5.7)

for $X, Z \in TM$.

Suppose that the distribution D is integrable. So for $X, Z \in D, Q[X, Z] = 0$, then

$$T(X,Z) = 4\alpha g(\phi X,Z)\xi + 4\phi(\overline{\nabla}_Y\phi)X, \text{ for every } X, Z \in D$$

If $T(X, Z) \in D$, then from (5.6), we have

$$4\alpha g(\phi X, Z)\xi + 4(\phi \nabla_Z \phi X + \phi h(Z, \phi X) + (\nabla_Z X) + h(X, Z)) \in D$$

Or,

$$4\alpha g(\phi X, Z)Q\xi + 4(\phi Q\nabla_Z \phi X + \phi h(Z, \phi X) + Q(\nabla_Z X + h(X, Z)) = 0$$
(5.8)

Replacing Z by ϕY for $Y \in D$ in (5.8), we get

$$\alpha g(\phi X, \phi Y)Q\xi + (\phi Q\nabla_{\phi Y}\phi X + \phi h(\phi Y, \phi X) + Q(\nabla_{\phi Y}X + h(X, \phi Y)) = 0$$
(5.9)

Interchanging X and Y for $X, Y \in D$ in (5.9) and subtracting these relations, we obtain

$$\phi Q[\phi X, \phi Y] + Q[X, \phi Y] + h(X, \phi Y) - h(Y, \phi X) = 0$$
, for every $X, Y \in D$

which shows that $h(X, \phi Y) = h(Y, \phi X)$. Hence theorem is proved.

References

- [1] Bejancu, A. : Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 69 (1978) 135-42.
- [2] Bejancu, A. : Trans, Am. Math, Soc. 250(1979) 331-45.
- [3] Bejancu, A. and Papaghiuc, N.: Bull. Math. Roumanie Tome 28(76) (1984) number I 13-18.
- [4] Blair, D. : L.N.M. 509 (1976), Springer-Verlag.
- [5] Chen, B.Y.: Monatsh Math. 9 (1981), 257-74.
- [6] Kobayashi, M. : Tensor N. S. 35 (1981) 297-307.
- [7] Mihai, I.: Geometry and Topology of Submanifolds, Vol.VII, World Scientific, Singapore (1995) 186-88.
- [8] Mihai, I. : Geometry and Topology of Submanifolds, Vol.VIII, World Scientific, Singapore (1996) 256-68.
- [9] Oubina, J.A.: Publ. Math. Debrecen 32 (1985) 187-93.
- [10] Prasad, S. and Ojha, Ramhit : CR-submanifolds of trans-Sasakian manifolds, Indian J. pure appl. Math., 24 (7 & 8) (July- August) 427-434.
- [11] Sengupta, Anup Kumar and De, U.C.:, Indian J. pure appl. Math. 32 (4) (2001) 573-580.
- [12] Shahid, M.H., Sharfuddin, A. and Hussain, S.I.: Rev. Res. Fac. Sci. Yugoslavia, 15 (1985) 263-78.
- [13] Shahid, M.H. and Ali, S. : Math. Student 52 (1989) 205-10.
- [14] Shahid, M.H.: Indian J. Pure appl. Math. 22(12) (1991) 1007-12.
- [15] Shahid, M.H.: Bull. Math de la Soc. Sci. Math de Roumanie, Tome 37 (1993) number 3-4.
- [16] Shahid, M.H. and Mihai, I. : Publ. Math. Debrecen, 47/3 -4 (1995) 209-18.
- [17] Verheyen, P.: Med. Wisk, Inst. K. U. Leuven 157(1982) 1-21.

The Aligarh Bull. of Maths. Volume 26, No. 2, 2007

ON PSEUDO 2-RECURRENT SPACES

B.K. De

Rampur High School, P.O. Irkona, Dist. Burdwan, PIN Code-713428, West Bengal, India

(Received October 28, 2007)

Abstract. The object of the present paper is to study a new type of non-flat Riemannian space called Pseudo 2-recurrent space.

1. Introduction

As a generalization of locally symmetric spaces many geometers have considered its generalizations. A-non flat Riemannian space of dimension n is said to be recurrent space [8] if its curvature tensors R_{ijk}^h satisfy the condition

$$R^h_{ijk,l} = \lambda_l R^h_{ijk} \quad , \tag{1.1}$$

where λ_l is a non zero vector and a comma denotes covariant differentiation with respect to the metric tensor g_{ij} . Such a space is denoted by k_n . In 1950, A. Lichnerowicz [3] introduced the notion of 2-recurrent Riemannian space which is defined as follows:

A non-flat n-dimensional Riemannian space for which the curvature tensor satisfies the condition

$$R^h_{ijk,lm} = a_{lm} R^h_{ijk} \tag{1.2}$$

where $a_{lm} \neq 0$ is called a 2-recurrent space. Such a space is denoted by ${}^{2}k_{n}$. In a recent paper [1] De, Das and Yawata have introduced Pseudo recurrent spaces. After the curvature tensor and Weyl conformal curvature tensor, concircular curvature tensor is the most important (1,3)-type curvature tensor from the Riemannian point of view.

The concircular curvature tensor T in a Riemannian space is defined by ([9] and [10])

$$T_{ijk}^{h} = R_{ijk}^{h} - \frac{R}{n(n-1)} (\delta_{k}^{h} g_{ij} - \delta_{j}^{h} g_{ik})$$
(1.3)

where R is the scalar curvature. We observe immediately from the form of the concircular curvatur tensor that Riemannian spaces with vanishing concircular curvature tensor are of constant curvature. Thus one can think of the concircular curvature tensor as a measure of failure of a Riemannian space to be of constant curvature. Also a necessary and sufficient condition that a Riemannian space be reducible to an Euclidian space by a suitable concircular transformation is that its concircular curvature tensor vanishes.

In the present paper the notion of a non-flat Riemannian space whose Riemannian curvature tensor satisfies the condition

$$R^h_{ijk,lm} = a_{lm} T^h_{ijk} \tag{1.4}$$

where a_{lm} is a non-zero tensor, has been introduced. From (1.3) and (1.4) it follows that if R = 0 the space reduces to a 2-symmetric space. Hence in our study we assume that $R \neq 0$ and the space is not of constant curvature. Such a space shall be called a Pseudo 2-recurrent space and is denoted by $P(^{2}k_{n})$. The tensor a_{lm} is called the tensor of recurrence. At first we prove that the tensor of recurrence of a $P(^{2}k_{n})$ is symmetric and such a space is a semi-symmetric space. In section 3 we prove that in a $P(^{2}k_{n})$ with divergence free curvature tensor one Ricci principal invariant is $\frac{R}{n}$. Also it is shown that such a space is an Einstein space under certain condition. Finally we consider $P(^{2}k_{n})$ with definite metric satisfying the condition $R^{ij}R_{ij} = \frac{R^{2}}{n}$.

Keywords and phrases : Pseudo 2-recurrent space, tensor of recurrence, Einstein space, Ricci principal invariant. AMS Subject Classification : 53C25.

2. Tensor of Recurrence

From Walker's identity for the covariant curvature tensor [8] we have

$$R_{hijk,lm} - R_{hijk,ml} + R_{jklm,hi} - R_{jklm,ih} + R_{lmhi,jk} - R_{lmhi,kj} = 0$$
(2.1)

Equation (1.4) can be written as

$$R_{hijk,lm} = a_{lm} T_{hijk} \tag{2.2}$$

Now using (2.2) in (2.1), we obtain

$$b_{lm}T_{hijk} + b_{hi}T_{jklm} + b_{jk}T_{lmhi} = 0 aga{2.3}$$

where $b_{lm} = a_{lm} - a_{ml}$. The above equation can be expressed as

$$b_p T_{qr} + b_q T_{rp} + b_r T_{pq} = 0 (2.4)$$

where p = lm, q = hi and r = jk. Now we state Walker's Lemma ([8]). If a_{ij} , b_i are numbers satisfying

$$a_{ij} = a_{ji}, \ a_{ij}b_k + a_{jk}b_i + a_{ki}b_j = 0, \ for \ i, j, k = 1, 2, ..., n$$

then either all the a_{ij} are zero or all the b_i are zero.

Hence by the above lemma we get from (2.4) that either $b_p = 0$ or $T_{qr} = 0$. But by definition of $P(^2k_n), T \neq 0$. Also $T_{hijk} = T_{jkhi}$. Therefore $b_p = 0$. That is, $a_{lm} = a_{ml}$. Thus we can state the following:

Theorem 2.1. In a $P(^{2}k_{n})$, the tensor of recurrence is symmetric.

Contracting h and k in (1.4) and using (1.3) we have

$$R_{ij,lm} = a_{lm} \left(R_{ij} - \frac{R}{n} g_{ij} \right) \tag{2.5}$$

Transvecting (2.5) with g^{ij} we get

$$R_{,lm} = 0 \tag{2.6}$$

From (2.5) it follows that the space $P(^{2}k_{n})$ is an Einstein space if and only if the space is Ricci 2-symmetric. Again from (1.4) we find

$$R^{h}_{ijk,lm} - R^{h}_{ijk,ml} = 0 (2.7)$$

since a_{lm} is symmetric.

A Riemannian space is said to be semi-symmetric(respectively Ricci semi-symmetric) ([4], [6]) if $R^{h}_{ijk,lm} - R^{h}_{ijk,ml} = 0$, (respectively, $R^{h}_{ij,lm} - R_{ij,ml} = 0$). Of course every parallel tensor is semi-symmetric and every semi-symmetric space is Ricci-semi-symmetric.

Thus we can state the following:

Theorem 2.2. A $P(^{2}k_{n})$ is a semi-symmetric space and hence a Ricci semi-symmetric space.

3. Ricci Principal Invariant

In this section we first suppose that divergence of $R_{ijk}^h = 0$, i.e., $R_{ijk,h}^h = 0$. Then from Bianchi's identity we get

$$R_{ijk,h}^{h} + R_{ik,j} - R_{ij,k} = 0 (3.1)$$

Covariant differentiation of (3.1) gives

$$R^{h}_{ijk,hm} + R_{ik,jm} + R_{ij,km} = 0$$

whence we have by virtue of (2.5)

$$R_{ijk,hm}^{h} = a_{km}(R_{ij} - \frac{R}{n}g_{ij}) - a_{jm}(R_{ik} - \frac{R}{n}g_{ik})$$
(3.2)

By hypothesis, $R_{ijk,h}^{h} = 0$ implies $R_{ijk,hm}^{h} = 0$. Hence transvecting (3.2) with g^{ik} we obtain

$$a_{km}R_j^k = a_{jm}\frac{R}{n} \tag{3.3}$$

Equation (3.3) can be written as

$$B_{tk}a_m^t = 0 \tag{3.4}$$

where $B_{tk} = R_{tk} - \frac{R}{n}g_{tk}$ and $a_m^t = g^{tr}a_{rm}$. From (3.4) we get a system of linear homogeneous equations in $a_m^1, a_m^2, \dots, a_m^n$ whose coefficient matrix is (B_{ij}) . Since a_m^t is not zero for all values of t and m, the rank of (B_{ij}) must be less than n. Hence $|B_{ij}| = 0$. Therefore $\frac{R}{n}$ is a root of the equation $|R_{ij} - \rho g_{ij}| = 0$. This leads to the following:

Theorem 3.1. In a $P(^{2}k_{n})$ with divergence free curvature tensor one Ricci principal invariant is $\frac{R}{n}$.

Next we suppose that the Ricci tensor is of Codazzi type [1], i.e., $R_{ij,l} = R_{il,j}$. Therefore $R_{ij,lm} = R_{il,jm}$. Using (2.5) in the above equation we get

$$a_{lm}(R_{ij} - \frac{R}{n}g_{ij}) = a_{jm}(R_{il} - \frac{R}{n}g_{il})$$
(3.5)

From (3.5) it follows that

$$a_{lm}R_{ij} - a_{jm}R_{il} = \frac{R}{n}(a_{lm}g_{ij} - a_{jm}g_{il})$$
(3.6)

Now we suppose that the rank of the matrix (a_{ij}) is n. Then there exist uniquely determined quantities a^{ij} such that

 $a^{hj}a_{hk} = \delta^j_k$

Multiplying (3.6) by a^{tm} we get

$$nR_{ij} - R_{ij} = \frac{R}{n}(ng_{ij} - g_{ij}), \ i.e., \ R_{ij} = \frac{R}{n}g_{ij}$$

Hence we can state the following:

Theorem 3.2. In a $P(^{2}k_{n})$ if the Ricci tensor is of Codazzi type and the rank of (a_{ij}) is n, then the space is an Einstein space.

4. $P(^{2}k_{n})$ With Definite Metric

In this section we consider a $P(^{2}k_{n})$ for which

$$R^{ij}R_{ij} = \frac{R^2}{n} \tag{4.1}$$

holds. Then from (4.1)

$$R^{ij}R_{ij,l} = \frac{R}{n}R_{,i}$$

Differentiating both sides of the above equation covariantly, we get

$$R_{,m}^{ij}R_{ij,l} + R^{ij}R_{ij,lm} = \frac{1}{n}R_{,l}R_{,m} + \frac{R}{n}R_{lm}$$

$$= \frac{1}{n}R_{,l}R_{,m}$$
(4.2)

since in a $P(^{2}k_{n}), R_{,lm} = 0.$

 But

$$R^{ij}R_{ij,lm} = a_{lm}R^{ij}R_{ij} - R^{ij}\frac{R}{n}g_{ij}$$
$$= a_{lm}\frac{R^2}{n} - a_{lm}\frac{R^2}{n} = 0$$

By virtue of the above expression (4.2) reduces to

$$R^{ij}_{,m}R_{ij,l} = \frac{1}{n}R_{,l}R_{,m}$$

Put $S_{ijk} = R_{ij,k} - \lambda_k R_{ij}$, where $\lambda_k = \frac{R_{,k}}{R}$. Then

$$S^{ijk}S_{ijk} = g^{mk}R^{ij}_{,m}R_{ij,k} - \lambda_m g^{mk}R^{ij}R_{ij,k} - \lambda_k g^{mk}R^{hl}R_{hl,m} + g^{mk}\lambda_m\lambda_k R^{ij}R_{ij}$$

$$= \frac{1}{n}g^{mk}R_{,m}R_{,k} - g^{mk}\lambda_m\frac{R}{n}R_{,k} - g^{mk}\lambda_k\frac{R}{n}R_{,m} + \frac{1}{n}\lambda_m\lambda_k g^{mk}R^2$$

$$= \frac{1}{n}g^{mk}R_{,m}R_{,k} - g^{mk}\frac{R_{,m}}{R}\frac{R}{n}R_{,k} - g^{mk}\frac{R_{,k}}{R}\frac{R}{n}R_{,m} + \frac{1}{n}\frac{R_{,m}}{R}\frac{R_{,k}}{R}g^{mk}R^2$$

$$= 0$$
(4.3)

If the space is of definite metric then (4.3) will give $S_{ijk} = 0$ whence $R_{ij,k} = \lambda_k R_{ij}$.

A Riemannian space is said to be Ricci Recurrent [5] if $R_{ij} \neq 0$ and $R_{ij,k} = \lambda_k R_{ij}$, where λ_k is a non zero vector. Such a space is denoted by R_n . We can therefore state the following:

Theorem 4.1. Every $P({}^{2}k_{n})$ of definite metric satisfying $R^{ij}R_{ij} = \frac{R^{2}}{n}$, is an R_{n} . It is known [2] that in an irreducible Ricci-recurrent space R = 0. Hence a $P({}^{2}k_{n})$ of definite metric can not be irreducible. Therefore its metric can be written as

$$ds^2 = \sum_{lpha,eta=1}^{n-1} g_{lphaeta} dx^lpha dx^eta + (dx^n)^2$$

where $g_{\alpha\beta}$ are functions of $x^1, x^2, x^3, \dots, x^{n-1}$ only. Hence

whence $|R_{ij}| = 0$. Hence the rank of the matrix (R_{ij}) is less than n. Since a $P(^2k_n)$ with definite metric is an R_n , if λ_k be its vector of recurrence, then from (3.1) it follows that

$$R_{ijk,h}^h = \lambda_k R_{ij} - \lambda_j R_{ik}$$

Multiplying both sides of the above equation by g^{ij} and summing for *i* and *j*, we get

$$\lambda_r R_k^r = \frac{1}{2} R \lambda_k$$

whence

$$(R_{tk} - \frac{1}{2}Rg_{tk})\lambda^t = 0$$
Therefore it follows that one of the Ricci principal directions corresponding to $\frac{1}{2}R$ is λ^t . Summing the above results we can state the following:

Theorem 4.2. In a $P({}^{2}k_{n})$ of definite metric, the rank of the Ricci tensor is less than n. Further, a Ricci principal direction corresponding to the invariant $\frac{1}{2}R$ is λ^{t} , where $\lambda^{t} = g^{it}\frac{R_{i}}{R}$.

References

- [1] De, U.C., Das, Lovejoy and Yawata, M.: On pseudo recurrent Riemannian manifold, to appear in Tensor.
- [2] Eisenhart, L.P.: Riemannian Geometry, Princeton University Pres, (1949) 92.
- [3] Lichnerowicz, A. : Courbure, nombres de Betti, et espaces symetriques, Proc. Int. Cong. of Math., 2(1950) 216-222.
- [4] Nomizu, K.: On hyper surfaces satisfying certain condition on the curvature tensor, Tohoku Math. J. 20(1968) 15-60.
- [5] Patterson, E.M.: Some theorems on Ricci-recurrent spaces, Journ. London Math. Soc., 27(1952) 287-295.
- [6] Szabo, Z.I. : Structure theorems on Riemannian spaces satisfying $R(X, Y) \cdot R = 0$, I, The local version, J., Diff. Geom. 17(1982) 531-582.
- [7] Tano, S.: Hypersurfaces satisfying a certain condition on Ricci tensor, Tohoku Math. J., 21(1969) 297-303.
- [8] Walker, A.G.: On Ruse's spaces of recurrent curvature, Proc. London Math Soc., 52(1950) 36-64.
- [9] Yano, K.: Concircular geometry I, Concircular transformation, Proc. Imp. Acad. Tokyo 16.
- [10] Yano, K. and Bochner, S. : Curvature and Betti numbers, Annals of Mathematics Studies 32, Princeton University Press, 1953.

The Aligarh Bull. of Maths. Volume 26, No. 2, 2007

SOME APPROXIMATION THEOREMS VIA STATISTICAL SUMMABILITY (C, 1)

Abdullah Alotaibi

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, King Abdul Aziz University P. O. Box 80203, Jeddah - 21589, Saudi Arabia

(Received October 31, 2007)

Abstract. In this paper we prove some analogues of the classical Korovkin theorem [3] via statistical summability (C, 1).

1. Introduction

Let \mathbb{N} be the set of all natural numbers and let $E \subseteq \mathbb{N}$. Suppose that χ_E is the characteristic function on E defined as

$$\chi_E(x) := \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } x \in E \\ 0, & \text{if } x \notin E \end{cases}$$

The density of E is defined, whenever the following limit exists, as

$$\delta(E) := \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \chi_E(j)$$

We say that the number sequence $x = (x_k)$ is statistically convergent to the number L if for every $\epsilon > 0$ we have $\delta\{k \in \mathbb{N} : |x_k - L| \ge \epsilon\} = 0$. Here we write $st - \lim x_k = L$. It is very well known that every statistical convergent sequence is convergent, but the converse is not true. For example, suppose that the sequence $x = (x_n)$ is defined as

$$x = (x_n) = \begin{cases} \sqrt{n}, & \text{if } n \text{ is square} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

It is clear that the sequence $x = (x_n)$ is statistically convergent to 0, but it is not convergent (see Fridy [1], Mursaleen [5] and Salat [6]). Now, let us define the arithmetic means σ_n of the sequence $x = (x_n)$ as the following

$$\sigma_n = \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^n x_k, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \cdots$$

We say that the number sequence (real or complex numbers) $x = (x_n)$ is Cesàro statistically convergent to L (or statistically summable (C, 1) to L) if the sequence $\sigma = (\sigma_n)$ is statistically convergent to L. Here, we write $C_1(st) - \lim x_k = L$ (see Moricz [4]).

Now let us define the linear operator T as follows:

- (i) The domain of T is a vector space and the range lies in a vector space over the same field.
- (ii) For all $x, y \in domain(T)$ and scalars $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{C}$, we have $T(\alpha x + \beta y) = \alpha T(x) + \beta T(y)$.

Suppose that $T_n : C_M[a, b] \to B[a, b]$. Here, $C_M[a, b]$ is the space of all functions f continuous on every point of the interval [a, b] and bounded on the entire real line, i.e.,

$$|f(x)| \le M_f, \quad -\infty < x < \infty$$

Keywords and phrases : Statistical convergence, statistical (C, 1) summability. AMS Subject Classification : 40C05, 40J05.

where M_f is a constant depending on f. Let B[a, b] be the space of all bounded functions on [a, b]. Remember that B[a, b] is a Banach space with norm $||f||_B := \sup_{a \le x \le b} |f(x)|, f \in B[a, b]$. As usual, we write $T_n(f, x)$ instead of $T_n(f(t), x)$ and we say that T is a positive operator if $T(f, x) \ge 0$ for all $f(x) \ge 0$.

In this paper, we prove some analogues of the classical Korovkin theorem [3] via statistical summability (C, 1).

2. Main Results

Theorem 2.1. Suppose that $T_n: C_M[a, b] \to B[a, b]$ is a sequence of positive linear operator satisfying the following conditions

 $C_1(st) - \lim ||T_n(1,x) - 1||_B = 0$ (1)

$$C_1(st) - \lim ||T_n(t,x) - x||_B = 0$$
(2)

$$C_1(st) - \lim ||T_n(t^2, x) - x^2||_B = 0$$
(3)

Then for any function $f \in C_M[a, b]$, we have

$$C_1(st) - \lim ||T_n(f, x) - f(x)||_B = 0$$

Proof. We have $f \in C_M[a, b]$ so that f is bounded on the real line. Hence

$$|f(x)| \le M, \quad -\infty < x < \infty$$

Therefore

$$|f(t) - f(x)| \le 2M, \quad -\infty < t, x < \infty \tag{4}$$

Also, since $f \in C_M[a, b]$ we do have that f is continuous on [a, b], i.e.

$$|f(t) - f(x)| < \epsilon, \quad \forall \ |t - x| < \delta$$
(5)

Using (4), (5) and putting $\psi(t) = (t - x)^2$, we get

$$|f(t) - f(x)| < \epsilon + \frac{2M}{\delta^2}\psi, \quad \forall \ |t - x| < \delta$$

This means

$$-\epsilon - rac{2M}{\delta^2}\psi < f(t) - f(x) < \epsilon + rac{2M}{\delta^2}\psi$$

Now we could apply $T_n(1, x)$ to this inequality since $T_n(f, x)$ is monotone and linear. Hence

$$T_n(1,x)\left(-\epsilon - \frac{2M}{\delta^2}\psi\right) < T_n(1,x)\left(f(t) - f(x)\right) < T_n(1,x)\left(\epsilon + \frac{2M}{\delta^2}\psi\right)$$

Note that x is fixed and so f(x) is constant number. Therefore,

$$-\epsilon T_n(1,x) - \frac{2M}{\delta^2} T_n(\psi,x) < T_n(f,x) - f(x)T_n(1,x) < \epsilon T_n(1,x) + \frac{2M}{\delta^2} T_n(\psi,x)$$
(6)

But,

$$T_n(f,x) - f(x) = T_n(f,x) - f(x)T_n(1,x) + f(x)T_n(1,x) - f(x)$$

= $[T_n(f,x) - f(x)T_n(1,x)] + f(x)[T_n(1,x) - 1]$ (7)

Using (6) and (7), we have

$$T_n(f,x) - f(x) < \epsilon T_n(1,x) + \frac{2M}{\delta^2} T_n(\psi,x) + f(x)(T_n(1,x) - 1)$$
(8)

Now, let us estimate $T_n(\psi, x)$ and we have

$$T_n(\psi, x) = T_n((t-x)^2, x) = T_n(t^2 - 2tx + x^2, x)$$

= $T_n(t^2, x) + 2xT_n(t, x) + x^2T_n(1, x)$
= $[T_n(t^2, x) - x^2] - 2x[T_n(t, x) - x] + x^2[T_n(1, x) - 1]$

Using (8), we get

$$\begin{split} T_n(f,x) - f(x) &< \epsilon T_n(1,x) + \frac{2M}{\delta^2} \{ [T_n(t^2,x) - x^2] - 2x [T_n(t,x) - x] \\ &+ x^2 [T_n(1,x) - 1] \} + f(x) (T_n(1,x) - 1) \\ &= \epsilon [T_n(1,x) - 1] + \epsilon + \frac{2M}{\delta^2} \{ [T_n(t^2,x) - x^2] - 2x [T_n(t,x) - x] \\ &+ x^2 [T_n(1,x) - 1] \} + f(x) (T_n(1,x) - 1) \end{split}$$

Since ϵ is arbitrary we can write

$$||T_{n}(f,x) - f(x)||_{B} \leq \left(\epsilon + \frac{2Mb^{2}}{\delta^{2}} + M\right) ||T_{n}(1,x) - 1||_{B} + \frac{4Mb}{\delta^{2}} ||T_{n}(t,x) - x||_{B} + \frac{2M}{\delta^{2}} ||T_{n}(t^{2},x) - x^{2}||_{B}$$
(9)

Now taking $C_1(st)$ – lim on both sides of (9) and using conditions (1), (2) and (3), we get

$$C_1(st) - \lim ||T_n(f, x) - f(x)||_B = 0$$

which completes the proof.

Remark 2.1. (i) We get the classical Korovkin theorem by letting $n \to \infty$ in (9).

(ii) By taking $st - \lim in (9)$, we get Theorem 1 of Gadjiev-Orhan [2].

Next we study a Korovkin type theorem for a sequence of positive linear operators on $L_p[a, b]$ via statistical summability (C, 1).

Theorem 2.2. Let (A_n) be the sequence of positive linear operators $A_n : L_p[a, b] \to L_p[a, b]$ and let the sequence $\{||A_n||\}$ be uniformly bounded. If

$$C_1(st) - \lim ||A_n(1,x) - 1||_{L_p} = 0$$

$$C_1(st) - \lim ||A_n(t,x) - x||_{L_p} = 0$$

$$C_1(st) - \lim ||A_n(t^2,x) - x^2||_{L_p} = 0$$

Then for any function $f \in L_p[a, b]$, we have

$$C_1(st) - \lim ||A_n(f, x) - f(x)||_{L_p} = 0$$

Since statistical summability (C, 1) of a sequence $x = (x_k)$ is a same thing as statistical convergence of a sequence of its arithmetic means, we can reformulate the above theorem under the same hypothesis as follows : If

$$st - \lim ||B_n(1, x) - 1||_{L_p} = 0$$

$$st - \lim ||B_n(t, x) - x||_{L_p} = 0$$

$$st - \lim ||B_n(t^2, x) - x^2||_{L_p} = 0$$

Then for any function $f \in L_p[a, b]$, we have

$$st - \lim ||B_n(f, x) - f(x)||_{L_p} = 0$$

Abdullah Alotaibi

where
$$B_n = \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{n} A_k$$
.

Therefore the proof of this theorem follows immediately from Theorem 7 of [2] just by replacing A_n by B_n .

Now we present a more general result than Theorem 6 of [2], by weakening the conditions in the hypothesis.

Theorem 2.3. Let (A_n) be a sequence of positive linear operators on $L_p[a, b]$ such that

$$st - \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^{n} ||A_n - A_k|| = 0$$

 \mathbf{If}

$$C_1(st) - \lim ||A_n(t^{\nu}, x) - x^{\nu}||_{L_p} = 0, \quad (\nu = 0, 1, 2)$$
(10)

Then for any function $f \in L_p[a, b]$, we have

$$st - \lim ||A_n(f, x) - f(x)||_{L_p} = 0$$
(11)

Proof. From Theorem 2.2, we have that if (10) holds then

$$C_1(st) - \lim ||A_n(f, x) - f(x)||_{L_p} = 0$$

which is equivalent to

$$st - \lim ||B_n(f, x) - f(x)||_{L_p} = 0$$

that $(B_n(f, x))$ is statistically convergent to f(x) in L_p -norm. Now

$$A_n - B_n = A_n - \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^n A_k$$
$$= \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^n (A_n - A_k)$$

Hence, using the hepothesis we get

$$st - \lim ||A_n(f, x) - f(x)||_{L_p} = st - \lim ||B_n(f, x) - f(x)||_{L_p} = 0$$

that is (11) holds.

3. The order of Statistical Summability (C,1) Convergence

In this section we deal with the order of statistical summability (C, 1) convergence of a sequence of positive linear operators.

Definition 3.1. The number sequence $x = (x_k)$ is statistically summable (C, 1) to the number L with degree $0 < \beta < 1$ if for each $\epsilon > 0$,

$$st - \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{|\{k \le n : |\sigma_n - L| \ge \epsilon\}|}{n^{1-\beta}} = 0$$

where the bars mean the number of the enclosed set and

$$\sigma_n = \frac{1}{n+1} \sum_{k=0}^n x_k$$

In this case, we write

$$x_k - L = C_1(st) - o(k^{-\beta}), \quad \text{as} \quad k \to \infty$$

Theorem 3.1. Suppose that $T_n : C_M[a, b] \to B[a, b]$ is a sequence of positive linear operator satisfying the following conditions

$$|T_n(1,x) - 1||_B = C_1(st) - o(n^{-\beta_1})$$
(12)

$$||T_n(t,x) - x||_B = C_1(st) - o(n^{-\beta_2})$$
(13)

$$||T_n(t^2, x) - x^2||_B = C_1(st) - o(n^{-\beta_3})$$
(14)

Then for any function $f \in C_M[a, b]$, we have

$$||T_n(f,x) - f(x)||_B = C_1(st) - o(n^{-\beta}), \quad \text{as } n \to \infty$$

where

$$\beta = \min\{\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3\}$$

Proof. We could write the inequality (9) in Theorem 3.1 as the following

$$\frac{||T_n(f,x) - f(x)||_B}{k^{1-\beta}} \le \left(\epsilon + \frac{2Mb^2}{\delta^2} + M\right) \frac{||T_n(1,x) - 1||_B}{k^{1-\beta_1}} \frac{k^{1-\beta_1}}{k^{1-\beta}} + \frac{4Mb}{\delta^2} \frac{||T_n(t,x) - x||_B}{k^{1-\beta_2}} \frac{k^{1-\beta_2}}{k^{1-\beta}} + \frac{2M}{\delta^2} \frac{||T_n(t^2,x) - x^2||_B}{k^{1-\beta_3}} \frac{k^{1-\beta_3}}{k^{1-\beta}}.$$
(15)

Hence

$$||T_n(f,x) - f(x)||_B = C_1(st) - o(n^{-\beta}), \text{ as } n \to \infty$$

where

$$\beta = min\{\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3\}.$$

References

- [1] Fridy, J.A.: On statistical convergence, Analysis, (5) (1985) 301-313.
- [2] Gadjiev, A.D. and Orhan, C. : Some approximation theorems via statistical convergence, Rocky Mountain J. Math., 32 (2002) 129-138.
- [3] Korovkin, P.P.: Linear operators and the theory of approximation, Delhi, India, (1960).
- [4] Moricz, F.: Tauberian conditions under which statistical convergence follows from statistical summability (C, 1), J. Math. Anal. Appl., 275 (2002) 277-287.
- [5] Mursaleen and Edely, O.H. : Statistical convergence of double sequences, J. Math. Anal. Appl., (288) (2003) 223-231.
- [6] Salat, T.: On statistically convergent sequences of real numbers, Math. Slovaca, 30 (1980) 139-150.

The Aligarh Bull. of Maths. Volume 26, No. 2, 2007

SOME PROBLEMS ON WEAKLY DUO RINGS

M.M. AA-Mosa Al-Shomrani and F. Aly

Department of Mathematics, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah P. O. Box 80257, Jeddah 21589, Saudi Arabia

(Received December 05, 2007)

Abstract. The aim of this paper is to generalize some results and properties from the class of duo rings to the class of weakly duo rings.

1. Introduction

Recall that a ring R is called right (respectively left) duo if every right (respectively left) ideal of R is a two-sided ideal. A ring is called duo ring if it is both a right and a left duo ring. Duo rings and their properties have been studied and discussed by many mathematicians (see [1], [3], [4], [9], [10] and [12]).

Brungs, in [2], asked three questions on duo rings: (a) Is the localization at a prime ideal P of a duo ring again a duo ring? (b) In a duo ring, is the P-component of zero equal to the right (left) P-component of zero? (c) In the Noetherian duo domain, is the semi-group of ideals commutative under multiplication? The answers of all these questions, in general, were in negative. But, in the Noetherian case, the answers for the first two questions were in positive and for the last one was in positive if R is integrally closed in its division ring of quotients.

Yao, in [11], introduced a new notion called weakly duo rings which are defined as follows: A ring R is called a weakly right (respectively left) duo, WRD (respectively WLD), ring if for every a in $R \setminus \{0\}$, there exists a positive integer n depending on a such that $a^n R$ (respectively Ra^n) is a non-zero ideal of R. If R is a WRD ring and a WLD ring, then R is called a weakly duo ring (WD).

In this paper we discuss some properties of WD rings and we answer the questions raised by Brungs for this class of weakly duo rings. Most of the results and the their proofs in the class of weakly duo rings are parallel to those of the class of duo rings done by Brungs [2]. Typically, all that is required is to make little changes into the relevant results and proofs.

2. nP-component of zero and central localization

The following definition extends the definition of Brungs in [2].

Definition 2.1. Let R be a weakly duo ring, P a prime ideal in R. Then the nP-component of zero is defined by

$$N = \{r \in R | s_1 r^n s_2 = 0, \text{ for } s_1, s_2 \in S = R \setminus P, \text{ some positive integer } n\}.$$
(1)

Note that the image \overline{S} of $S = R \setminus P$ in $\overline{R} = R/N$ is an Ore-system consisting of nonzero divisors. Consequently, the ring of quotients

$$R_P = \bar{R}\bar{S}^{-1} = \bar{S}^{-1}\bar{R} = \{\frac{\bar{r}}{\bar{s}} | \bar{r} \in \bar{R}, \, \bar{s} \in \bar{S}\},\$$

exists.

Keywords and phrases : Duo rings, Weakly duo rings, Localization of rings. AMS Subject Classification : 16D25, 16E50, 16P60.

Lemma 2.2. If R is Noetherian weakly duo ring, then the central localization $R_P = \bar{S}^{-1}\bar{R}$, with $S = Z(R) \cap (R \setminus P)$, is again a weakly duo ring.

Proof. It is known that if R is Noetherian, then R_P is also Noetherian. Assume that there exist an element $s \in S$ and an element $r \in R$ such that $s^{-n}r^nR_P \subsetneq r^nR_P$ for all positive integer n. Since an element $s \in R$ exists with $s^nr^n = r^ns^n$ for some n, we have $s^{-1}r^ns^n = r^n$. Thus, we obtain the non-stationary chain

$$r^{n}R_{P} \subsetneqq s^{-n}r^{n}R_{P} \subsetneqq s^{-2n}r^{n}R_{P} \gneqq \dots$$

This contradicts the assumption that R_P is Noetherian, which implies that R_P is a weakly duo ring.

Lemma 2.3. If *P* is a prime ideal of a duo ring *R*, then the *nP*-component of zero, *N*, is contained in *P*. **Proof.** Let *P* be a prime ideal and let $r \in S = R \setminus P$. Then $s_1r^ns_2 \in S$ for all $s_1, s_2 \in S$ and some positive integer *n* and thus $S = R \setminus P$ is multiplicative closed. This completes the proof.

Corollary 2.4. Let R be a Noetherian weakly duo ring with a prime ideal P. Then for $r \in R$, not in N, the *nP*-component of zero, and $s \in S = Z(R) \cap (R \setminus P)$, there exist elements $\hat{s}, \hat{s} \in S$ such that

$$s r^n = r^n \dot{s}$$
 and $r^n s = \hat{s} r^n$,

for some n.

Proof. As R is a Noetherian ring, R_P is also Noetherian which implies that

$$s^{-1}r^n R_P = r^n R_P.$$

Hence for $a \in R$ and $t \in S$, we have

$$s^{-n}r^n = r^n at^{-1}.$$

Thus for some $i \in \mathbb{R}$, we get

$$r^n t = r^n \acute{s}^n a$$
 or $r^n (t - \acute{s}^n a) = 0.$

The fact that R_P is a local ring and that $\dot{s} \in P$ lead to $(t - \dot{s}^n a)$ is a unit and $r^n = 0$ in R_P which implies that $r \in N$. This contradicts the assumption that $r \notin N$.

3. Localization and Valuation of WRD

Definition 3.1. An ideal P of a ring R is said to be strongly prime, if $xRy^k \subseteq P$ implies that either $x \in P$ or $y \in P$.

Definition 3.2. A set L of elements of a ring R is said to be an *l*-system if it has the following property: If $a, b \in L$, then there exists $x \in R$ such that $axb^n \in L$ for every positive integer n.

Theorem 3.3. An ideal P of a ring R is strongly prime ideal of R if and only if C(P) is an l-system. **Proof.** Let $P \triangleleft R$ and $a, b \in C(P)$. Then $a, b \notin P$ and since P is strongly prime, $aRb^n \notin P$ for each n. Hence there exists $x \in R$ such that $axb^n \notin P$. Thus there exists $x \in R$ such that $axb^n \in C(P)$. Therefore, C(P) is an l-system.

Now we assume that C(P) is an *l*-system and $aRb^n \subseteq P$. Then $axb^n \in P$ for every $x \in R$. Thus $axb^n \notin C(P)$ for every $x \in R$. Since C(P) is an *l*-system, then $a \notin C(P)$ or $b \notin C(P)$. Hence $a \in P$ or $b \in P$. Therefore, P is strongly prime.

Lemma 3.4. If R is WRD ring, then for any strongly prime ideal P of R the *l*-system C(P) satisfies Ore condition.

Proof. Let $s \in C(P)$. Since C(P) is an *l*-system, there exists $x \in R$ such that $sxs^n \in C(P)$ for all *n*. Since *R* is WRD ring, then the right principle ideal $I = s^n R$ is two sided for some *n*. Since $s^n \in I$, then $Rsxs^n \subseteq Rs^n \subseteq s^n R$. Hence for all $r \in R$ and $s \in C(P)$, there exists $s' = sxs^n$ and $r' = s^{n-1}r^*$ such that rs' = sr' which just mean that the *l*-system C(P) satisfies Ore condition.

Proposition 3.5. Let R be a Noetherian WRD ring. Then every strongly prime ideal P is localization and PR_p is completely maximal ideal.

Proof. Since C(P) satisfies Ore Condition from Lemma 3.4, we have that

$$R_p = \{ rs^{-1} | r \in R, s \in C(P) \},\$$

is a local with unique maximal ideal PR_p . Moreover, R_p/PR_p is a division ring. In fact, since R/P is Neotherian domain, then its ring of quotients Q(R/P) is a division ring.

On the other hand, we have $Q(R/P) \cong R_p/PR_p$ which implies that R_p/PR_p is a division ring and PR_p is a completely maximal ideal.

Definition 3.6. A ring (R, M) is called local if (i) the Jacobson radical M = J(R) is maximal, (ii) the quotient ring R/J(R) is simple artinian.

Definition 3.7. A ring (R, M) is called scalar local if (i) the Jacobson radical M = J(R) is maximal, (ii) the quotient ring R/J(R) is division ring.

Definition 3.8. A function v on the multiplicative group D^* of a division ring D into an ordered group Γ is called a weak valuation WV if

(i) The function $v: D^* \to \Gamma$ is surjective.

(ii) $v(ab) \ge v(a) + v(b)$.

(iii) $v(a+b) \ge \min\{v(a), v(b)\}.$

Lemma 3.9. Let (R, M) be a Noetherian scalar local WRD ring then R admits a weak valuation.

Proof. By the properties of scalar local rings any ideal I in R can be written as $I = M^i$. Also there exists a descending chain of $M \supset M^2 \supset M^3 \supset ...$ This chain is infinite if and only if R is not artinian. Now it is easy to see that any element $a \in R$ can be written as $a = t_i.u$ where $t_i \in M^i \setminus M^{i+1}, i = 0, 1, 2, ...$ and $M^0 = R, u$ is a unit. Define the function $v: R \to \Gamma$ where Γ is an ordered group as follows $v(t_iu) = i$. So if $a \in M, b \in R \setminus M$ then $ab \in M$ and $a + b \in R \setminus M_i$. Assume that $a \in M^i \setminus M^{i+1}$ i.e. v(a) = i, since $ab \in M^i$, then $(ab) \ge i$. Thus $v(ab) \ge v(a) + v(b) = i + 0 = i$ and $v(a + b) = 0 = min\{v(a), v(b)\} = min\{i, 0\} = 0$. If $a, b \in M$ with v(a) = i > v(b) = j, then, as $ab \in M^{i+j}$, we have $v(ab) \ge i + j = v(a) + v(b)$. Also $a + b \in M^i$, hence $v(a + b) \ge i \ge min\{i, j\} = j$. Finally, if $a, b \in R \setminus M$ then since M is a strongly maximal ideal $ab \in R \setminus M$ and v(ab) = 0 = v(a) + v(b). Moreover $v(a + b) \ge 0 = min\{v(a), v(b)\} = 0$. Since R is a domain, $\{0\}$ is a completely strongly prime ideal and also since R is a Noetherian WRD then, by Proposition 3.5, $b(0) = C(0) = R \setminus \{0\}$ satisfies Ore condition. Thus R is embedded in a division ring $D = \{x = ab^{-1} : a, b \in R, b \neq 0\}$. Then one can write v(x) = v(a) - v(b). It is easy to conclude that $\mathcal{O}_v = \{x \in D^* | v(x) \ge 0\} = R$ and $M = \{x \in D^* | v(x) > 0\}$.

Theorem 3.10. Let R be a right Noetherian WRD ring and P be a strongly prime ideal, then $R_P = S^{-1}R$, with $S = Z(R) \cap (R \setminus P)$, is a weakly valuation WRD ring.

Proof. Since R is WRD, then for every $a \in R$, $a^n R$ is a nonzero two sided ideal in R. Thus for any element $x = as^{-1} \in RS^{-1} = R_P$, $x^n R_P$ is also nonzero two sided ideal in R_P . Thus from Lemma 3.9 the scalar ring (R_P, PR_P) admits a weak valuation.

Corollary 3.11. If R is a right Noetherian WRD ring containing a strongly prime ideals $P_1 \subset P_2$, then R/P_1 can be embedded in a weak valuation ring $(\tilde{R}, P_2\tilde{R})$.

4. One sided *nP*-component of zero

Definition 4.1. Let R be a ring, P a prime ideal in R. Then the left nP-component of zero is defined by

$$N_l = \{r \in R | sr^n = 0, \text{ for some } s \in S = R \setminus P, \text{ some positive integer } n\}.$$
(2)

Similarly, the right nP-component of zero is defined by

$$N_r = \{r \in R | r^n s = 0, \text{ for some } s \in S = R \setminus P, \text{ some positive integer } n\}.$$
(3)

We need now to answer the question: Is it true that $N = N_l = N_r$? The answer in general is in negative as we can see in the following example (For more details of the construction of this example see [2], [6] and [7]).

Example 4.2. Let F = Q(x) be the field of functions in one variable x over the rational numbers Q which can be ordered by writing the multiple of any two elements of F to be > 0 if and only if the multiple of their non-zero leading coefficients > 0. Let G be the group defined by:

$$G = \{(a, b) | a > 0, a, b \in F \}$$

with operation defined by

$$(a_1, b_1)(a_2, b_2) = (a_1a_2, b_1a_2 + b_2),$$

for $(a_1, b_1), (a_2, b_2) \in G$. Note that G is an ordered group with identity element (1, 0). From this, a generalized power series ring R can be formed as follows:

$$R = Q\{\{G^+\}\} = \{\sum q_i g_i \mid q_i \in Q, g_i \ge (1,0), g_i \in G\}.$$

This ring is a duo ring. Now, for an element $r \in R$ with $r = \sum q_i g_i$, we define

$$\theta(r) = \left\{ \begin{array}{ccc} g_i \neq 0 & \text{if} \quad r \neq 0 \\ \infty & \text{if} \quad r = 0 \end{array} \right\}.$$

We use this notation to define the following prime ideal in R:

$$P = \{ r \in R \,|\, \theta(r) > (1,q) \,\forall q \in Q \}$$

Note that $(x,0)(x,0) = (x^2,0)$, $(x,0)(x,0)(x,0) = (x^3,0)$, and so on. In general, $(x,0)^n = (x^n,0)$ which leads to $(x,0)^n = (x^n,0)$. If we take the two sided ideal $J = (x^n, x^n)R$ which is contained in the ring R for some positive integer n, we can put $K = \frac{R}{J}$ and write P_1 for the image of P in K. The elements of K are written as $\bar{r} = r + J$. So if we take s = (1,1) and r = (x,0), then $sr^n = (x^n, x^n) \in R$ which leads to $\bar{s}r^n = \bar{0}$. Thus, \bar{r} is contained in the left nP_1 -component of zero. But, $\bar{r}^n\bar{s} \neq \bar{0} \ \forall s \in S$, where $\bar{r}^n = (x^n, 0)$, which just mean that \bar{r} is not in the right nP_1 -component of zero in K.

Lemma 4.3. Let R be a weakly duo ring in which the zero ideal is the intersection of finitely many strongly prime ideals, P a prime ideal of R. Then the nP-component of zero is the strongly prime decomposition of $\{0\}$, i.e. $N = N_r = B = \bigcap L_i$, $L_i \subset P$, if $\bigcap_{i=1}^n L_i = \{0\}$.

Proof. Let $B = \bigcap_{i=1}^{k} L_i$ where $1 \le k \le n$. Then for an element $r \in N$, there exist elements $s_1, s_2 \in S$ and a positive integer n such that $s_1r^ns_2 = 0 \in L_i$ for each $i = 1, \dots, k$. Consequently, $r^n \in B$ which leads to $r \in B$ due to the definition of B. Thus, $N \subseteq B$. Now to show that $B \subseteq N$, we start with the fact that there is an element s_j satisfying $s_j \in S \cap L_j$ for every L_j , where $k + 1 \le j \le n$. Note that $s = \Pi s_j$ is not contained in P but $sB \subseteq L_i$ and $Bs \subseteq L_i$ for all L_i , $i = 1, \dots, n$. These imply that $sB = Bs = \{0\}$ which leads to $B \subseteq N_l$ and $B \subseteq N_r$ as required.

5. g-commutative rings

Definition 5.1. A ring R is said to be g-commutative if $a^n R b^m R = b^m R a^n R$, for all $a, b \in R$ and some positive integers m and n.

Any Noetherian integrally closed duo domain is g-commutative [2]. It is known that a duo domain R is integrally closed if and only if $\operatorname{End}_R = R$ for every finitely generated ideal $M \neq \{0\}$. This definition is still true in the case of weakly duo rings.

Definition 5.2. A weakly due domain R is integrally closed if and only if $\operatorname{End}_R(M_R) = R$ for every finitely generated ideal $M \neq \{0\}$.

Now, we prove the following theorem:

Theorem 5.3. Let R be Noetherian integrally close weakly duo domain. Then R is g-commutative ring. **Proof.** Let $a \neq 0$ be an element of R which is not a unit and P a prime ideal associated with aR. This just means that for some element $b \in R$ which is not in aR, $bP \subset aR$. P is finitely generated and so $\operatorname{End}_R(P,P) = R$ implies that $a^{-1}bP \nsubseteq P$. But then there exist $p \in P$ and $c \in R$ such that bp = ac with $c \notin P$. The ring R_p exists and $aR_p = acR_p = bpR_p \subset bPR_p \subset aR$. Thus $bPR_p = aR_p$ and $PR_p = pR_p$. We conclude that P is a prime ideal of height 1 in R and $R = \cap R_p$ for all prime ideals with height 1 in R. Indeed, if $s^{-1}r \in \cap R_p$, then $r \in (sR_p \cap R) = sR$ and $s^{-1}r \in R$ for $s \notin P$. Thus, for some positive integers m and n, we have $a^mRb^nR = a^mb^nR = \cap a^mb^nR_p = b^ma^nR = b^mRa^nR$ which completes the proof.

Acknowledgment

We would like to thank Prof. Mohammed Fahmy for his comments and many fruitful discussions. We are also very grateful for the financial assistance and support we have received from Deanship of Scientific Research, King Abdulaziz University.

References

- [1] Bell, H.E. and Li, Y. : Duo group rings, J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 209 (3) (2007) 833-838.
- [2] Brungs, H.H.: Three questions on duo rings, Pacific J. Math., 58 (2) (1975) 345-349.
- [3] Kim, C.O., Kim, H.K. and Jang, S.H.: A study of quasi-duo rings, Bull. Korean Math. Soc., 36(1999) 579-588.
- [4] Kim, N.K. and Lee, Y. : On right quasi-duo rings which are π-regular, Bull. Korean Math. Soc., 37 (2000) 217-227.
- [5] Marks, G. : Duo rings and Ore extensions, J. Algebra, 280 (2) (2004) 463-471.
- [6] Neumann, B.H.: On ordered division rings, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 66 (1949) 202-252.
- [7] Rado, F.: Non-injective collineation on some sets in Desarguesian projective planes and extensions of noncommutative valuations, Aequat. Math., 4 (1970) 307-321.
- [8] Shores, T.S.: Injective modules over duo rings, Pacific J. Math., 40 (1972) 695-702.
- [9] Thierrin, G. : On duo rings, Canad. Math. Bull., 3 (1960) 167-172.
- [10] Xue, W.: Artinian Duo Rings and Self-Duality, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 105 (2) (1989), 309-313.
- [11] Yao, X.: Weakly right duo rings, Pure Appl. Mathematika Sci. J., 21 (1-2) (1985) 19-24.
- [12] Yu, H.: On quasi-duo rings, Glasgow Math. J., 37 (1995) 21-31.

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

The Department of Mathematics, Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh (India) has been bringing out a Bulletin since 1971 based on a single issue. From the year 2001, each volume of The Aligarh Bulletin of Mathematics comprises of two issues. This journal publishes original papers in almost all branches of current interest in Pure and Applied Mathematics. The papers of the bulletin are reviewed/abstracted in Mathematical Reviews and Zentralblat fur Mathematik.

The manuscript, intended for publication in the Bulletin, must be submitted **in duplicate** and written in English, **to the Chief Editor** or either of **the Managing Editors Department of Mathematics, Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh-202002 (India).** The manuscript must be in their final form and typed on one side of the paper only with double-spacing and wide margins. The authors are requested to keep a copy of the manuscript.

All the papers will be refereed. If necessary, the author(s) would be asked to revise the manuscript in view of the referee's report. The editor reserves the right to make reasonable editorial modifications in the text.

Authors are encouraged to submit electronically prepared manuscript (LaTex) and required to submit the manuscript, after acceptance, on a floppy. The manuscript should be accompanied by (1) an abstract not exceeding 300 characters, (2) 3-5 key words, (3) AMS subject classification (2000), and (4) an abbreviated title not exceeding 40 characters for running head. In case of a joint paper, please specify the name and address of the author of contact.

The authors of the accepted paper shall be charged an amount of Rs.100/- (US 5) per page to meet the cost of the reprints and handling charges.

Illustrations and diagrams should be submitted on separate sheets and not included in the text. They should be of good quality and drawn in Indian ink using clean uniform lines. The author should indicate in the margin of the manuscript where the illustrations and diagrams are to be inserted.

The list of references at the end of the paper should always be in alphabetical order, numbered consecutively and includes the names and initials of all authors, year of publication, and the name and location of the publisher (see example below).

Citation in the text should be numbered in square brackets, for example [1], or, Lopez-Bonilla and Ovando [1], referring to an alphabetically ordered and numbered list. If a work of more than three authors or, editors are cited, only the first author's name followed by 'et al.' need be given, for example, Ahmad et al. [1].

In the list of reference, the following examples should be observed:

- [1] Cenzig, B. : *A generalization of the Banach-Stone theorem*, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 40 (1973) 426-430.
- [2] Blair, D. : *Contact Manifolds in Riemannian Geometry*, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 509, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1976.

Contents

Numerical Solutions of an Unsteady Free Convective Oscillatory Flow through a Porous Medium V. Ambethkar and Lajpat Rai	1-21
A Semi-Symmetric Metric ϕ -Connection in a Normal Contact Lorentzian Manifold	
Bhagwat Prasad and Ramashrai Singh Yadav	23-27
Coincidence points for non-self maps Abdul Latif and Saleh A. Al-Mezel	29-32
Left Centralizer Traces, Generalized Biderivations Left Bimultipliers, and Generalized Jordan Biderivatives N.M. Muthana	33-45
$[w]_{\sigma,\lambda}^L$ Asymptotically Statistical Equivalent Sequences Selma Altundağ and Metin Başarir	47-53
Generalized CR-submanifolds of a nearly trans-Sasakian manifold Rajendra Prasad, Amit Kumar Rai and M.M. Tripathi	55-69
On pseudo 2-recurrent spaces <i>B.K. De</i>	71-75
Some Approximation Theorems Via Statistical Summability $(C, 1)$ Abdullah Alotaibi	77-81
Some Problems on Weakly Duo Rings M.M. AA-Mosa Al-Shomrani and F. Aly	83-87